# FINANCIAL INVESTORS TRUST (the "Trust")

# Seafarer Overseas Growth and Income Fund Seafarer Overseas Value Fund

# SUPPLEMENT DATED JANUARY 23, 2025 TO THE STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL INFORMATION DATED AUGUST 31, 2024, AS SUPPLEMENTED

The Board of Trustees of the Trust has learned of Jerry Rutledge's passing on January 9, 2025. Therefore, all references to Mr. Rutledge serving in his capacity as Trustee contained in the Statement of Additional Information are hereby deleted as of that date.

Additionally, Jennell Panella has resigned as Treasurer of the Trust effective January 17, 2025. Therefore, all references to Ms. Panella serving in her capacity as Treasurer contained in the Statement of Additional Information are hereby deleted as of that date.

\*\*\*\*

# PLEASE RETAIN THIS SUPPLEMENT FOR FUTURE REFERENCE



P.O. Box 219623 Kansas City, MO 64121-9623 (855) 732-9220 seafarerfunds.com

Seafarer Funds distributed by ALPS Distributors, Inc. (Investment Company Act File no. 811-8194)

# August 31, 2024

# STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

		Ticker		
Name of Fund	Retail Class	Investor Class	Institutional Class	
Seafarer Overseas Growth and Income Fund	SFGRX	SFGIX	SIGIX	
Seafarer Overseas Value Fund	SFVRX	SFVLX	SIVLX	

Seafarer Funds P.O. Box 219623 Kansas City, MO 64121-9623

This Statement of Additional Information ("SAI") expands upon and supplements the information contained in the current Prospectus for Retail Class Shares, Investor Class Shares, and Institutional Class Shares (collectively, the "Shares") of the funds listed above (each a "Fund," and together, the "Funds"), each of which is a separate series of Financial Investors Trust, a Delaware statutory trust (the "Trust"). Each of these series of the Trust represents shares of beneficial interest in a separate portfolio of securities and other assets with its own investment objective and policies. Seafarer Capital Partners, LLC (the "Adviser") is the investment adviser of the Funds.

This SAI is not a prospectus and is only authorized for distribution when preceded or accompanied by each Fund's current prospectus dated August 31, 2024, as supplemented from time to time (the "Prospectus"). This SAI supplements and should be read in conjunction with the Prospectus, a copy of each of which may be obtained without charge by writing the Funds at the address listed above, or by calling the Funds' transfer agent at 1-855-732-9220. The Funds' most recent Annual Report, if any, is incorporated by reference into this SAI and can be obtained free of charge, by calling the toll-free number listed above.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

CLASSIFICATION, INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES	1
ADDITIONAL INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES AND RISKS	2
INVESTMENT LIMITATIONS	50
PORTFOLIO TURNOVER	52
DISCLOSURE OF PORTFOLIO HOLDINGS	53
PORTFOLIO TRANSACTIONS AND BROKERAGE	56
PURCHASE, EXCHANGE & REDEMPTION OF SHARES	60
TRUSTEES AND OFFICERS	67
INVESTMENT ADVISER	74
DISTRIBUTOR	76
CODE OF ETHICS	76
ADMINISTRATOR	76
PROXY VOTING POLICIES AND PROCEDURES	76
CONTROL PERSONS, PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS AND MANAGEMENT OWNERSHIP	77
EXPENSES	77
PORTFOLIO MANAGERS	78
NET ASSET VALUE	80
FEDERAL INCOME TAXES	81
DESCRIPTION OF THE TRUST	92
OTHER INFORMATION ABOUT THE FUNDS	93
PERFORMANCE INFORMATION	94
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	94
APPENDIX A	A-1
APPENDIX B	B-1

# CLASSIFICATION, INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

# **Financial Investors Trust**

This SAI includes information about two series of the Trust, the Seafarer Overseas Growth and Income Fund and the Seafarer Overseas Value Fund, "collectively, the "Funds"). Each Fund is a series of the Trust, an open-end, management investment company organized as a Delaware statutory trust on November 30, 1993.

Each Fund is advised by Seafarer Capital Partners, LLC ("Seafarer" or the "Adviser").

# Classification

The Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the "1940 Act"), classifies mutual funds as either diversified or non-diversified. Each Fund is classified as diversified.

# What are the Funds' Investment Objectives?

- The Seafarer Overseas Growth and Income Fund seeks to provide long-term capital appreciation along with some current income, and seeks to mitigate adverse volatility in returns as a secondary objective.
- The Seafarer Overseas Value Fund seeks to provide long-term capital appreciation.

While there is no assurance that a Fund will achieve its investment objective, it endeavors to do so by following the strategies and policies described in the Prospectus.

The Trust's Board of Trustees (the "Board") may change this objective without a shareholder vote. If there is a material change to a Fund's objective or principal investment strategies, you should consider whether the Fund remains an appropriate investment for you.

# **Investment Strategies and Risks**

Each of the Funds' principal investment strategies and the principal risks associated with those strategies are described in the Prospectus.

# ADDITIONAL INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES AND RISKS

The principal risks associated with each Fund's principal investment strategies are described in the Prospectus. The following section describes in greater detail than the Prospectus certain of the Funds' investment strategies and the associated risks.

	Seafarer Overseas Growth and Income Fund	Seafarer Overseas Value Fund
Bank Obligations	NP	NP
Borrowing	NP	NP
Cash Flows	NP	NP
Cash Position	NP	P
Combined Transactions	NP	NP
Common Stock	P	P
Convertible Securities	P	NP
Credit Default Swaps	NP	NP
Credit Ratings	NP	NP
Currency Transactions	NP	NP
Cybersecurity Risk	NP	NP
Depositary Receipts	P	P
Derivatives	NP	NP
Emerging and Frontier Market Risks	NP	NP

Equity Investments	P	P
Exchange Traded Fund and Other Similar Instruments	NP	NP
Firm Commitments and When-Issued Securities	NP	NP
Fixed Income Securities	P	P
Floating and Variable Rate Instruments	NP	NP
Foreign Currency Risks	NP	NP
Foreign Exchange Transactions	NP	NP
Foreign Securities	P	P
Foreign Sub-custodians	NP	NP
Futures Contracts	NP	NP
Hedging	NP	NP
High Yield Securities	P	P
Illiquid Investments	NP	NP
Inflation-Indexed Bonds	NP	NP
Initial Public Offerings Risk	NP	NP
Interest-Only Securities	NP	NP
Interest Rate and Equity Swaps and Related Transactions	NP	NP
Interest Rate Futures Contracts	NP	NP
Investment Risk Management	NP	NP
Loans of Portfolio Securities	NP	NP
Market Risk	P	P
Money Market Instruments/Securities	NP	NP
Mortgage-Related and Other Asset Backed Securities	NP	NP
Options	NP	NP
Options on Currencies	NP	NP
Options on Futures Contracts	NP	NP
Options on Stocks and Stock Indices	NP	NP
Portfolio Turnover	NP	NP
Preferred Stock	P	P
Public Health Emergencies Risk	NP	NP
Regional and Country Risks	P	P
Repurchase Agreements	NP	NP
Restricted Securities and Securities with Limited Trading Markets (Rule 144A)	NP	NP
Reverse Repurchase Agreements	NP	NP
Risk Related to Expenses	NP	NP
Securities Related Activities	NP	NP
Short Sales	NP	NP
Short-Term Trading Risk	NP	NP
Temporary Defensive Positions	NP	NP
U.S. Government Securities	NP	NP
Variable Interest Entities	NP	NP
Warrants and Rights	NP	NP
Zero Coupon Securities, Pay-In-Kind Bonds and Deferred Payment Securities	NP	NP

# **Bank Obligations**

Bank obligations that may be purchased by the Fund include certificates of deposit, banker's acceptances and fixed time deposits. A certificate of deposit is a short-term negotiable certificate issued by a commercial bank against funds deposited in the bank and is either interest-bearing or purchased on a discount basis. A banker's acceptance is a short-term draft drawn on a commercial bank by a borrower, usually in connection with an international commercial transaction. The borrower is liable for payment, as is the bank, which unconditionally guarantees to pay the draft at its face amount on the maturity date. Fixed time deposits are obligations of branches of U.S. or non-U.S. banks which are payable at a stated maturity date and bear a fixed rate of interest. Although fixed time deposits do not have a market, there are no contractual restrictions on the right to transfer a beneficial interest in the deposit to a third party. Bank obligations may be general obligations of the parent bank or may be limited to the issuing branch by the terms of the specific obligations or by government regulation. Securities issued or guaranteed by non-U.S. banks and non-U.S. branches of U.S. banks are subject to many of the risks of investing in non-U.S. securities generally.

Banks are subject to extensive governmental regulations which may limit both the amounts and types of loans and other financial commitments which may be made and interest rates and fees which may be charged. The profitability of this industry is to a significant extent dependent upon the availability and cost of capital of funding used by the bank to finance its lending operations. Also, general economic conditions play an important part in the operations of this industry and exposure to credit losses arising from possible financial difficulties of borrowers might affect a bank's ability to meet its obligations.

# **Borrowing**

Borrowing creates an opportunity for increased return, but, at the same time, creates special risks. Furthermore, if the Fund were to engage in borrowing, an increase in interest rates could reduce the value of the Fund's shares by increasing the Fund's interest expense.

Subject to the limitations described under "Investment Limitations" below, the Fund may be permitted to borrow from any bank for temporary purposes and/or for investment purposes. Such a practice will result in leveraging of the Fund's assets and may cause the Fund to liquidate portfolio positions when it would not be advantageous to do so. This borrowing may be secured or unsecured. Provisions of the 1940 Act require the Fund to maintain continuous asset coverage (that is, total assets including borrowings, less liabilities exclusive of borrowings) of 300% of the amount borrowed, with an exception for borrowings not in excess of 5% of the Fund's total assets made for temporary purposes. A loan shall be presumed to be for temporary purposes if it is repaid within sixty days and is not extended or renewed. Any borrowings for temporary purposes in excess of 5% of the Fund's total assets will count against this asset coverage requirement. In the event that such asset coverage shall at any time fall below 300%, the Fund shall, within three days thereafter (not including Sundays and holidays), reduce the reduce the amount of its borrowings to an extent that the asset coverage of such borrowings shall be at least 300%. Borrowing will tend to exaggerate the effect on net asset value of any increase or decrease in the market value of the Fund's portfolio. Money borrowed will be subject to interest costs that may or may not be recovered by appreciation of the securities purchased, if any. The Fund also may be required to maintain minimum average balances in connection with such borrowings or to pay a commitment or other fee to maintain a line of credit; either of these requirements would increase the cost of borrowing over the stated interest rate.

# **Cash Flows**

The ability of a Fund to satisfy its investment objective depends to some extent on the portfolio manager's ability to manage cash flow (primarily from purchases and redemptions and distributions from the Fund's investments). The manager will make investment changes to the Fund's portfolio to accommodate cash flow while continuing to seek its investment objective.

# **Cash Position**

The Fund may not always stay fully invested in stocks or bonds. For example, when the portfolio manager believes that market conditions are unfavorable for profitable investing, or when the portfolio manager is otherwise unable to locate attractive investment opportunities, the Fund's cash or similar investments may increase. In other words, cash or similar investments generally are a residual – they represent the assets that remain after the Fund has committed available assets to desirable investment opportunities. When the Fund's investments in cash or similar investments increase, it may not participate in market advance or declines to the same extent that it would if the Fund remained more fully invested in stocks or bonds.

# **Combined Transactions**

The Fund may enter into multiple transactions, including multiple options transactions, multiple futures transactions, multiple currency transactions (including forward currency contracts), multiple interest rate transactions and any combination of futures, options, currency and interest rate transactions, instead of a single derivative, as part of a single or combined strategy when, in the judgment of the Adviser, it is in the best interests of the Fund to do so. A combined transaction will usually contain elements of risk that are present in each of its component transactions. Although combined transactions will normally be entered into by the Fund based on the Adviser's judgment that the combined strategies will reduce risk or otherwise more effectively achieve the desired portfolio management goal, it is possible that the combination will instead increase the risks or hinder achievement of the Fund's investment objective.

#### Common Stock

Common stocks are shares of a corporation or other entity that entitle the holder to a pro rata share of the profits of the corporation, if any, without preference over any other shareholder or class of shareholders, including holders of the entity's preferred stock and other senior equity. Common stock usually carries with it the right to vote and frequently an exclusive right to do so.

Common stocks of companies that the Adviser believes have earnings that will grow faster than the economy as a whole are known as growth stocks. Growth stocks typically trade at higher multiples of current earnings than other stocks. As a result, the values of growth stocks may be more sensitive to changes in current or expected earnings than the values of other stocks. If the Adviser's assessment of the prospects for a company's earnings growth is wrong, or if its judgment of how other investors will value the company's earnings growth is wrong, then the price of that company's stock may fall or may not approach the value that the Adviser has placed on it.

Common stocks of companies that are not expected to experience significant earnings growth, but whose stocks the Adviser believes are undervalued compared to their true worth, are known as value stocks. These companies may have experienced adverse business developments or may be subject to special risks that have caused their stocks to be out of favor. If the Adviser's assessment of a company's prospects is wrong, or if other investors do not eventually recognize the value of the company, then the price of the company's stocks may fall or may not approach the value that the Adviser has placed on it.

Many stocks have both "growth" and "value" characteristics, and for some stocks it may be unclear which category, if any, it fits into.

# **Convertible Securities**

The Fund may invest in convertible securities, which are bonds, debentures, notes, preferred stock or other securities, which may be converted into or exchanged for a prescribed amount of common stock of the same or different issuer within a particular period of time at a specified price or formula. A convertible security entitles the holder to receive interest paid or accrued on debt or the dividend paid on preferred stock until the convertible security matures or is redeemed, converted or exchanged. Before conversion, convertible securities ordinarily provide a stream of income, which generate higher yields than those of common stocks of the same or similar issuers but lower than the yield on non-convertible debt. Convertible securities are usually subordinate or are comparable to non-convertible securities but rank senior to common stock or shares in a company's capital structure. The value of a convertible security is a function of (i) its yield in comparison with the yields of other securities of comparable maturity and quality that do not have a conversion privilege and (ii) its worth, at market value, if converted into the underlying common stock. Convertible securities are typically issued by smaller capitalized companies whose stock prices may be volatile. The price of a convertible security often reflects such variations in the price of the underlying common stock in a way that non-convertible debt does not. A convertible security may be subject to redemption at the option of the issuer at a price established in the convertible security's governing instrument.

# **Credit Default Swaps**

The Fund may enter into credit default swap contracts. When used for hedging purposes, the Fund would be the buyer of a credit default swap contract. In that case, the Fund would be entitled to receive the par (or other agreed-upon) value of a referenced debt obligation, index or other investment from the counterparty to the contract in the event of a default by a third party, such as a U.S. or foreign issuer, on the referenced debt obligation. In return, the Fund would pay to the counterparty a periodic stream of payments over the term of the contract provided that no event of default has occurred. If no default occurs, the Fund would have spent the stream of payments and received no benefit from the contract. When the Fund is the seller of a credit default swap contract, it receives the stream of payments but is obligated to pay upon default of the referenced debt obligation. As the seller, the Fund would effectively add leverage to its portfolio because, in addition to its total assets, the Fund would be subject to investment exposure on the notional amount of the swap.

In addition to the risks applicable to derivatives generally, credit default swaps involve special risks because they are difficult to value, are highly susceptible to liquidity and credit risk, and generally pay a return to the party that has paid the premium only in the event of an actual default by the issuer of the underlying obligation, as opposed to a credit downgrade or other indication of financial difficulty.

Credit default swaps may be subject to regulation by the Commodity Futures Trading Commission ("CFTC"), Securities Exchange Commission ("SEC") or both. Both the CFTC and the SEC have issued guidance and relief regarding the implementation of various provisions of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 (the "Dodd-Frank Act") relating to the use of swaps. As they attempt to finalize various rulemakings mandated by the Dodd-Frank Act, either or both of the CFTC and SEC may issue additional guidance or relief to provide additional clarity. Further action by the CFTC or SEC may affect the Fund's ability to use credit default swaps or may require additional disclosure by the Fund.

# **Credit Ratings**

The securities in which either Fund will invest will not be required to meet a minimum rating standard and may not be rated for creditworthiness by any internationally recognized credit rating organization. Such securities, commonly referred to as "junk bonds," involve significantly greater risks, including price volatility and risk of default of payment of interest and principal than higher rated securities. An investment in either Fund should not be considered as a complete investment program for all investors. Moreover, substantial investments in non-U.S. securities may have adverse tax implications as described under "Federal Income Taxes."

The Adviser will take various factors into consideration in evaluating the creditworthiness of an issuer. For corporate debt securities, such factors typically include the issuer's financial resources, its sensitivity to economic conditions and trends, the operating history of the issuer, and the experience and track record of the issuer's management. For sovereign debt instruments, these will typically include the economic and political conditions within the issuer's country, the issuer's overall and external debt levels and debt service ratios, the issuer's access to capital markets and other sources of funding, and the issuer's debt service payment history. The Adviser will also review the ratings, if any, assigned to the security by any recognized rating organizations, although the Adviser's judgment as to the quality of a debt security may differ from that suggested by the rating published by a rating service. In addition to the foregoing credit analysis, the Adviser will evaluate the relative value of an investment compared with its perceived credit risk. The Fund's ability to achieve its investment objective may be more dependent on the Adviser's credit analysis than would be the case if it invested in higher quality debt securities. A description of the ratings used by Moody's and S&P is set forth in Appendix A.

#### **Currency Transactions**

The Fund may engage in currency transactions with counterparties to hedge the value of portfolio securities denominated in particular currencies against fluctuations in relative value, to gain or reduce exposure to certain currencies or to generate income or gains.

Currency transactions include currency forward contracts, exchange-listed currency futures contracts and options thereon, exchange-listed and over-the-counter ("OTC") options on currencies and currency swaps. A forward currency contract involves a privately negotiated obligation to purchase or sell (with delivery generally required) a specific currency at a future date, which may be any fixed number of days from the date of the contract agreed upon by the parties, at a price set at the time of the contract. A currency swap is an agreement to exchange cash flows based on the notional difference among two or more currencies and operates similarly to an interest rate swap, which is described below under "Interest Rate and Equity Swaps and Related Transactions."

The Fund may enter into a forward contract to sell, for a fixed amount of U.S. dollars, the amount of that currency approximating the value of some or all of the Fund's portfolio securities denominated in such currency. For example, the Fund may do this if the Adviser believes that the currency of a particular country may decline in relation to the U.S. dollar. Forward contracts may limit potential gain from a positive change in the relationship between the U.S. dollar and foreign currencies. Transaction hedging includes entering into a currency transaction with respect to specific assets or liabilities of the Fund, which will generally arise in connection with the purchase or sale of portfolio securities or the receipt of income from them. Position hedging is entering into a currency transaction with respect to portfolio securities positions denominated or generally quoted in that currency.

The Fund may cross-hedge currencies by entering into transactions to purchase or sell one or more currencies that are expected to increase or decline in value relative to other currencies to which the Fund has or in which the Fund expects to have exposure. To reduce the effect of currency fluctuations on the value of existing or anticipated holdings of its securities, the Fund may also engage in proxy hedging. Proxy hedging is often used when the currency to which the Fund's holdings is exposed is difficult to hedge generally or difficult to hedge against the dollar. Proxy hedging entails entering into a forward contract to sell a currency, the changes in the value of which are generally considered to be linked to a currency or currencies in which some or all of the Fund's securities are or are expected to be denominated and to buy dollars.

Currency hedging involves some of the same risks and considerations as other derivative transactions. Currency transactions can result in losses to the Fund if the currency being hedged fluctuates in value to a degree or in a direction that is not anticipated. Further, the risk exists that the perceived linkage between various currencies may not be present or may not be present during the particular time that the Fund is engaging in these transactions. Currency transactions are also subject to risks different from those of other portfolio transactions. Because currency control is of great importance to the issuing governments and influences economic planning and policy, purchases and sales of currency and related instruments can be adversely affected by government exchange controls, limitations or restrictions on repatriation of currency and manipulations or exchange restrictions imposed by governments. These forms of governmental actions can result in losses to the Fund if it is unable to deliver or receive currency or monies in settlement of obligations and could also cause hedges it has entered into to be rendered useless, resulting in full currency exposure as well as incurring transaction costs. Buyers and sellers of currency futures contracts are subject to the same risks that apply to the use of futures contracts generally. Further, settlement of a currency futures contract for the purchase of most currencies must occur at a bank based in the issuing nation. Trading options on currency futures contracts is relatively new, and the ability to establish and close out positions on these options is subject to the maintenance of a liquid market that may not always be available. Currency exchange rates may fluctuate based on factors extrinsic to that country's economy.

# Cybersecurity Risk

In connection with the increased use of technologies such as the internet and the dependence on computer systems to perform necessary business functions, the Fund may be susceptible to operational, information security and related risks due to the possibility of cyber-attacks or other incidents. Cyber incidents may result from deliberate attacks or unintentional events. Cyber-attacks include, but are not limited to, infection by computer viruses or other malicious software code and unauthorized access to systems, networks or devices that are used to service the Fund's operations through hacking or other means for the purpose of misappropriating assets or sensitive information, corrupting data or causing operational disruption. Cyber-attacks may also be carried out in a manner that does not require gaining unauthorized access, such as causing denial-of-service attacks (which can make a website unavailable) on the Fund's website. In addition, authorized persons could inadvertently or intentionally release confidential or proprietary information stored on the Fund's systems.

Cybersecurity failures or breaches by the Fund's third-party service providers (including, but not limited to, the adviser, distributor, custodian, transfer agent and financial intermediaries) may cause disruptions and impact the service providers' and the Fund's business operations, potentially resulting in financial losses, inability of Fund shareholders to transact in their Fund accounts, inability of the Fund to process transactions, inability to calculate the Fund's net asset value, violations of applicable privacy and other laws, regulatory fines, penalties, reputational damage, reimbursement or other compensation costs and/or additional compliance costs. The Fund and its shareholders could be negatively impacted as a result of successful cyber-attacks against, or security breakdowns of, the Fund or its third-party service providers.

The Fund may incur substantial costs to prevent or address cyber incidents in the future. In addition, there is a possibility that certain risks have not been adequately identified or prepared for. Furthermore, the Fund cannot directly control any cybersecurity plans and systems put in place by third party service providers. Cybersecurity risks are also present for issuers of securities in which the Fund invests, which could result in material adverse consequences for such issuers, and may cause the Fund's investment in such securities to lose value.

# **Depositary Receipts**

Depositary receipts include sponsored and unsponsored depositary receipts that are or become available, including American Depositary Receipts ("ADRs"), European Depositary Receipts ("EDRs") and Global Depositary Receipts ("GDRs") and other depositary receipts. Depositary receipts are typically issued by a financial institution ("depositary") and evidence ownership interests in a security or a pool of securities ("underlying securities") that have been deposited with the depositary. The depositary for ADRs is typically a U.S. financial institution and the underlying securities are issued by a non-U.S. issuer. ADRs are publicly traded on exchanges or OTC in the United States and are issued through "sponsored" or "unsponsored" arrangements. In a sponsored ADR arrangement, the non-U.S. issuer assumes the obligation to pay some or all of the depositary's transaction fees, whereas under an unsponsored arrangement, the non-U.S. issuer assumes no obligation and the depositary's transaction fees are paid by the ADR holders. In addition, less information is available in the United States about an unsponsored ADR than about a sponsored ADR, and the financial information about a company may not be as reliable for an unsponsored ADR as it is for a sponsored ADR. In the case of GDRs, the depositary can be a non-U.S. or a U.S. financial institution and the underlying securities are issued by a non-U.S. issuer. GDRs allow companies in Europe, Asia, the United States and Latin America to offer shares in many markets around the world, thus allowing them to raise capital in these markets, as opposed to just in their home market. The advantage of GDRs is that shares do not have to be bought through the issuing company's home exchange, which may be difficult and expensive, but can be bought on all major stock exchanges. In addition, the share price and all dividends are converted to the shareholder's home currency. As for other depositary receipts, the depositary may be a non-U.S. or a U.S. entity, and the underlying securities may have a non-U.S. or a U.S. issuer. For purposes of the Fund's investment policies, investments in depositary receipts will be deemed to be investments in the underlying securities. Thus, a depositary receipt representing ownership of common stock will be treated as common stock. Depositary receipts purchased by the Fund may not necessarily be denominated in the same currency as the underlying securities into which they may be converted, in which case the Fund may be exposed to relative currency fluctuations. Depositary receipts may trade at a discount or premium to the value of the underlying security, depending on market liquidity and other factors.

# **Derivatives**

The Fund may engage in a variety of derivative transactions in accordance with the applicable rules of the CFTC, and, to the extent applicable, the rules and regulations of certain national or foreign exchanges; however, no Fund will be obligated to use derivatives and no Fund makes any representation as to the availability of these techniques at this time or at any time in the future. Generally, derivatives are financial contracts whose value depends on, or is derived from, the value of an underlying asset, reference rate or index and may relate to stocks, bonds, interest rates, spreads between interest rates, currencies or currency exchange rates, commodities, related indexes and other assets. The types of derivatives in which the Fund may invest include, but are not limited to, interest rate, currency or stock or bond index futures contracts, currency forward contracts and currency swaps, the purchase and sale (or writing) of exchange listed and OTC put and call options on debt and equity securities, currencies, interest rate, currency or stock index futures and fixed-income and stock indices and other financial instruments, entering into various interest rate transactions such as swaps, caps floors, and collars, entering into equity swaps, caps and floors, the purchase and sale of indexed debt securities or trading in other similar types of instruments. The portfolio manager may decide not to employ any of these strategies and there is no assurance that any derivatives strategy used by the Fund will succeed. The Fund may use derivatives for hedging purposes. The Fund may use any derivative to gain exposure to an asset or class of assets that it would be prohibited by its investment restrictions from purchasing directly.

Derivatives may be used, among other reasons, as part of the Fund's investment strategy, to attempt to protect against possible changes in the market value of securities held or to be purchased for the Fund's portfolio resulting from securities markets or currency exchange rate fluctuations, to protect the Fund's unrealized gains in the value of its securities, to facilitate the sale of those securities for investment purposes, to manage the effective maturity or duration of the Fund's portfolio or to establish a position in the derivatives markets as a temporary substitute for purchasing or selling particular securities or to seek to enhance the Fund's income or gain. The Fund may use any or all types of derivatives which it is authorized to use at any time; no particular strategy will dictate the use of one type of transaction rather than another, as use of any authorized derivative will be a function of numerous variables, including market conditions. The ability of the Fund to utilize derivatives successfully will depend on numerous factors including the Adviser's ability to predict pertinent market movements, which cannot be assured. These skills are different from those needed to select the Fund's portfolio securities

Subject to the constraints described above, the Fund may (if and to the extent so authorized) purchase and sell interest rate, currency or stock or bond index futures contracts and enter into currency forward contracts and currency swaps; purchase and sell (or write) exchange listed and OTC put and call options on securities, loan participations and assignments, currencies, futures contracts, indices and other financial instruments, and the Fund may enter into interest rate transactions, equity swaps and related transactions and other similar transactions which may be developed to the extent the Adviser determines that they are consistent with the Fund's investment objective and policies and applicable regulatory requirements. The Fund's interest rate transactions may take the form of swaps, caps, floors and collars, and the Fund's currency transactions may take the form of currency forward contracts, currency futures contracts, currency swaps and options on currencies or currency futures contracts.

Certain standardized swap transactions are currently subject to mandatory central clearing or may be eligible for voluntary central clearing. Central clearing is expected to decrease counterparty risk and increase liquidity compared to uncleared swaps because central clearing interposes the central clearinghouse as the counterpart to each participant's swap. However, central clearing does not eliminate counterparty risk or illiquidity risk entirely. In addition, depending on the size of a fund and other factors, the margin required under the rules of a clearinghouse and by a clearing member may be in excess of the collateral required to be posted by a fund to support its obligations under a similar uncleared swap.

Derivatives involve special risks, including possible default by the other party to the transaction, illiquidity and, to the extent the Adviser's view as to certain market movements is incorrect, the risk that the use of derivatives could result in significantly greater losses than if it had not been used. Losses resulting from the use of derivatives will reduce the Fund's net asset value, and possibly income, and the losses may be significantly greater than if derivatives had not been used. The degree of the Fund's use of derivatives may be limited by certain provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"). When used, derivatives may increase the amount and affect the timing and character of taxes payable by shareholders. See "FEDERAL INCOME TAXES."

Derivatives trading may also involve other costs and expenses, such as costs of posting collateral, which could reduce or negate the return from a derivative. It is not possible to hedge fully or perfectly against any risk.

Rule 4.5 under the Commodity Exchange Act ("CEA"), as amended, exempts an adviser of a fund that invests in "commodity interests" from registration as a "commodity pool operator" ("CPO") provided that, among other restrictions, the adviser enters into such positions solely for "bona fide hedging purposes" or limits its use of commodity interests for non-bona fide hedging purposes such that (i) the aggregate initial margin and premiums required to establish non-bona fide hedging positions do not exceed 5% of the liquidation value of the fund's portfolio, or (ii) the aggregate "notional value" of the non-bona fide hedging commodity interests do not exceed 100% of the liquidation value of the fund's portfolio.

The Adviser intends complies with the requirements of the CEA by operating the Fund in a manner consistent with the restrictions of Rule 4.5, including filing a notice of eligibility of exemption from registration in accordance with applicable procedures and deadlines.

# Regulation of Derivatives

The legal requirements for derivatives trading are complex and continue to evolve, both in the U.S. and abroad. For example, derivative trading may require public or non-public regulatory reporting in the U.S., Europe, and other jurisdictions, and local law may impose other related obligations (such as valuation and risk mitigation requirements) directly on the Fund. Derivatives must in some cases be "cleared" through a clearinghouse and/or traded on an exchange or similar facility, and even bilateral, "over the counter" positions may be subject to collateralization and other operational arrangements. Each of these trading requirements presents additional operational, legal, and investment issues for the Fund. Increasing derivatives regulation could reduce liquidity, increase costs, or otherwise impact the effectiveness of strategies that make use of derivatives.

Rule 18f-4 under the 1940 Act permits the Fund to enter into Derivatives Transactions (as defined below) and certain other transactions notwithstanding the restrictions on the issuance of "senior securities" under Section 18 of the 1940 Act. Section 18 of the 1940 Act, among other things, prohibits open-end funds, including the Fund, from issuing or selling any "senior security," other than borrowing from a bank (subject to a requirement to maintain 300% "asset coverage").

Under Rule 18f-4, "Derivatives Transactions" include the following: (1) any swap, security-based swap (including a contract for differences), futures contract, forward contract, option (excluding purchased options), any combination of the foregoing, or any similar instrument, under which the Fund is or may be required to make any payment or delivery of cash or other assets during the life of the instrument or at maturity or early termination, whether as margin or settlement payment or otherwise; (2) any short sale borrowing; (3) reverse repurchase agreements and similar financing transactions (e.g., recourse and non-recourse tender option bonds, and borrowed bonds), if the Fund elects to treat these transactions as Derivatives Transactions under Rule 18f-4; and (4) when-issued or forward-settling securities (e.g., firm and standby commitments, including to-be-announced ("TBA") commitments, and dollar rolls) and non-standard settlement cycle securities, unless the Fund intends to physically settle the transaction and the transaction will settle within 35 days of its trade date.

Unless the Fund is relying on the Limited Derivatives User Exception (as defined below), the Fund must comply with Rule 18f-4 with respect to its Derivatives Transactions. Rule 18f-4, among other things, requires the Fund to adopt and implement a comprehensive written derivatives risk management program ("DRMP") and comply with a relative or absolute limit on Fund leverage risk calculated based on value-at-risk ("VaR"). The DRMP is administered by a "derivatives risk manager," who is appointed by the Fund's Board, including a majority of the independent Directors, and periodically reviews the DRMP and reports to the Fund's Board.

Rule 18f-4 provides an exception from the DRMP, VaR limit and certain other requirements if a Fund's "derivatives exposure" is limited to 10% of its net assets (as calculated in accordance with Rule 18f-4) and the Fund adopts and implements written policies and procedures reasonably designed to manage its derivatives risks (the "Limited Derivatives User Exception").

# Risks of Derivatives Outside the United States

When conducted outside the United States, derivatives may not be regulated as rigorously as in the United States, may not involve a clearing mechanism and related guarantees, and will be subject to the risk of governmental actions affecting trading in, or the prices of, foreign securities, currencies and other instruments. In addition, the price of any foreign futures or foreign options contract and, therefore, the potential profit and loss thereon, may be affected by any variance in the foreign exchange rate between the time an order is placed and the time it is liquidated, offset or exercised. The value of positions taken as part of non-U.S. derivatives also could be adversely affected by: (i) other complex foreign political, legal and economic factors; (ii) lesser availability of data on which to make trading decisions than in the United States; (iii) delays in the Fund's ability to act upon economic events occurring in foreign markets during nonbusiness hours in the United States; (iv) the imposition of different exercise and settlement terms and procedures and margin requirements than in the United States; and (v) lower trading volume and liquidity.

# **Emerging and Frontier Market Risks**

Emerging markets are often defined as developing economies. While such markets are not necessarily defined by national borders, they may, to a degree, overlap with, or be referred to interchangeably as, developing countries. The risks of investment in such markets include (i) less social, political and economic stability; (ii) smaller size of the securities markets and lower volume of trading, which may result in a lack of liquidity and in greater price volatility; (iii) certain national policies that may restrict the Fund's investment opportunities, including restrictions on investment in insuers or industries deemed sensitive to national interests, or expropriation or confiscation of assets or property, which could result in the Fund's loss of its entire investment in that market; (iv) less developed legal and regulatory structures governing private or foreign investment or allowing for judicial redress for injury to private property; (v) inaccurate, incomplete or misleading financial information on companies in which the Fund invests; (vi) securities of companies may trade at prices not consistent with traditional valuation measures; and (vii) limitations on foreign ownership, which may impact the price of a security purchased or held by the Fund.

Many developing countries in which the Fund may invest lack the social, political and economic stability characteristic of the United States. Political instability among emerging market countries can be common and may be caused by an uneven distribution of wealth, social unrest, labor strikes, civil wars and religious oppression. Economic instability in emerging market countries may take the form of (i) high interest rates; (ii) high levels of inflation, including hyperinflation; (iii) high levels of unemployment or underemployment; (iv) changes in government economic and tax policies, including confiscatory taxation; (v) imposition of trade and capital account barriers; and (vi) volatile financial markets.

Stock exchanges in emerging markets have in the past experienced substantial fluctuations in the prices of their listed securities. They have also experienced problems such as temporary exchange closures, broker defaults, settlement delays and broker strikes that, if they occur again, could affect the market price and liquidity of the securities in which the Fund invests. In addition, the governing bodies of certain stock exchanges have from time to time imposed restrictions on trading in certain securities, limitations on price movements and margin requirements. Disputes have also occurred from time to time among listed companies, the stock exchanges and other regulatory bodies, and in some cases those disputes have had a negative effect on overall market sentiment. There have been delays and errors in share allotments relating to initial public offerings, which in turn affect overall market sentiment and lead to fluctuations in the market prices of the securities of those companies and others in which the Fund may invest.

In the past, governments within the emerging markets have become overly reliant on the international capital markets and other forms of foreign credit to finance public spending programs that cause large deficits. Often, interest payments have become too burdensome for the government to meet, representing a large percentage of total GDP. These foreign obligations then become the subject of political debate with the opposition parties pressuring the government to use its resources for social programs rather than making payments to foreign creditors. Some foreign governments have been forced to seek a restructuring of their loan and/or bond obligations and have declared a temporary suspension of interest payments or have defaulted. These events have adversely affected the values of securities issued by foreign governments and companies in emerging market countries and have negatively impacted not only their cost of borrowing, but their ability to borrow in the future as well.

In addition, brokerage commissions, custodial fees, withholding taxes, and other costs relating to investment in foreign markets may be higher than in the United States. The operating expense ratio of the Fund may be expected to be higher than that of a fund investing primarily in the securities of U.S. issuers.

Many emerging market countries suffer from uncertainty and corruption in their legal frameworks. Legislation may be difficult to interpret and laws may be too new to provide any precedential value. Laws regarding foreign investment and private property may be weak or non-existent. Sudden changes in governments may result in policies that are less favorable to investors, such as policies designed to expropriate or nationalize "sovereign" assets. Certain emerging market countries in the past have expropriated large amounts of private property, in many cases with little or no compensation, and there can be no assurance that such expropriation will not occur in the future.

Legal principles relating to corporate affairs and the validity of corporate procedures, directors' fiduciary duties and liabilities and shareholders' rights may differ from those that may apply in the United States and other more developed countries. Shareholders' rights may not be as extensive as those that exist under the laws of the United States and other more developed countries. Political parties may exert significant control over corporate decisions within companies, superseding the management and board of directors. The Fund may therefore have more difficulty asserting shareholder rights than it would as a shareholder of a comparable U.S. company.

Disclosure and regulatory standards of emerging market countries are in many respects less stringent than U.S. standards. Issuers are subject to accounting, auditing and financial standards and requirements that differ, in some cases significantly, from those applicable to issuers in the United States or other more developed countries. In particular, the assets and profits appearing on the financial statements of an issuer may not reflect its financial position or results of operations in the way they would be reflected had such financial statements been prepared in accordance with U.S. or European generally accepted accounting principles. There is substantially less publicly available information about emerging market issuers than there is about U.S. issuers.

Emerging market issuers listed on U.S. exchanges may not adhere to the same audit standards as U.S. issuers. The U.S. Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) has designated specific emerging market countries as Non-Cooperating Jurisdictions for audit oversight and inspection. Companies registered in these countries may not meet the U.S. investor protection objectives expected of all U.S.-listed companies. Issuers from Non-Cooperating Jurisdictions may be subject to negative regulatory action, such as mandatory delisting from U.S. exchanges.

Certain of the risks associated with international investments and investing in smaller capital markets are heightened for investments in emerging market countries. For example, some of the currencies of emerging market countries have experienced devaluations relative to the U.S. dollar, and major adjustments have been made periodically in certain of such currencies. Certain of such countries face serious exchange constraints, including the imposition of substantial controls on the movement of capital across borders. Under extreme circumstances, the imposition of such capital controls may impede the Fund's ability to satisfy shareholders' redemption requests in full. In addition, governments of many emerging market countries have exercised and continue to exercise substantial influence over many aspects of the private sector. In certain cases, the government owns or controls many companies, including the largest in the country. Accordingly, government actions in the future could have a significant effect on economic conditions in developing countries, which could affect private sector companies and the Fund, as well as the value of securities in the Fund.

Investment in certain emerging market securities is restricted or controlled to varying degrees which may at times limit or preclude investment in certain emerging market securities and increase the costs and expenses of the Fund's portfolio. Certain emerging market countries require governmental approval prior to investments by foreign persons, limit the amount of investment by foreign persons in a particular issuer, limit the investment by foreign persons to only a specific class of securities of an issuer that may have less advantageous rights than other classes, restrict investment opportunities in issuers in industries deemed important to national interests and/or impose additional taxes on foreign investors. Certain emerging market countries may require governmental approval for (or other restrictions on) the repatriation of investment income, capital or the proceeds of sales of securities by foreign investors, which could adversely affect the Fund. In addition, if deterioration occurs in an emerging market country's balance of payments, it could impose temporary restrictions on foreign capital remittances. Investing in local markets in emerging market countries may require a portfolio to adopt special procedures, seek local government approvals or take other actions, each of which may involve additional costs to the Fund.

Frontier market countries generally have smaller economies or less developed capital markets than traditional emerging markets, and, as a result, the risks of investing in emerging market countries are magnified in frontier countries. In addition to the risks of investing in foreign securities and emerging markets, frontier market securities involve unique risks, such as exposure to economies less diverse and mature than those of the U.S. or more established foreign markets. The economies of frontier countries are less correlated to global economic cycles than those of their more developed counterparts, and their markets have low trading volumes and the potential for extreme price volatility and illiquidity. These factors make investing in frontier countries significantly riskier than investing in other countries.

# Australia

The Australian economy is dependent, in particular, on the price and demand for agricultural products and natural resources. The United States and China have generally been Australia's largest trade and investment partners, which may make the Australian markets sensitive to economic and financial events in those two countries. Australian markets may also be susceptible to sustained increases in oil prices as well as weakness in commodity and labor markets. The Australian dollar has at times exhibited pronounced volatility in line with the demand for agricultural and natural resources.

# Brazil

The Brazilian real is a volatile emerging market currency and its volatility may induce losses to the Fund's portfolio. Central bank capital controls and intervention in the foreign exchange market may pose additional challenges to investors.

Brazil's economy suffers from certain structural challenges, including a deficit of physical infrastructure (roads, bridges, ports, public transportation, etc.); a shortage of educational opportunities; and the system of business regulation is notoriously complex and costly (e.g., enforcing commercial contracts requires excessive procedural steps, costs and time). Attempts at reforms have been hampered by budget rigidities and pension liabilities.

Brazil has experienced organized protests, strikes and civil unrest; it seems that most protesters are expressing grievances associated with the country's extreme socioeconomic divide, the paucity of public infrastructure and medical systems, and public and private sector corruption. Such protests may lead to an increase in social and political instability. The country has experienced significant leadership turnover in recent years and several former presidents are alleged to have been involved in high-level corruption.

In rural areas, concentrated land ownership may lead to periodic violence especially in the Amazon. Land invasions are common and mostly affect agriculture, although the scope of the land targeted is broadening. The border regions close to Paraguay, Argentina and Venezuela are notorious for drug trafficking and gun running. Similar to Mexico, border security is an ongoing problem as Brazil's government tries to curb drug trafficking and smuggling across its lengthy borders.

# Chile

Chile's government is democratically elected. However, from 1973 to 1990, Chile was governed by a military dictatorship that violently repressed dissidents, leading to a substantial but unknown number of casualties. The legacy of that government remains extremely divisive within Chile. In addition, there are many legal, political, financial, economic and business structures that were formed under the dictatorship. The provenance of some of those structures could be challenged in Chile's courts, and possibly overturned, begetting potential shocks to the country's economy and financial markets. The country has also historically struggled with hyperinflation and currency volatility, while economic growth and budget health remain heavily influenced by copper prices.

Chile has been subjected to several powerful earthquakes that have sometimes disrupted economic activity in various sectors. Resurgent tremors may cause substantial human, economic and financial losses.

# China

The Chinese government typically exercises significant control over China's economy through its industrial policies (e.g., allocation of resources and other preferential treatment), monetary policy, management of currency exchange rates, and management of the payment of foreign currency-denominated obligations. China's economy may be adversely affected by the fact that substantial, and possibly increasing, portions of the economy are subject to state influence. China continues to impose limitations on foreign ownership of Chinese companies. The Chinese Communist Party (CCP) seeks to play an active role in shaping the operational and personnel decisions of many Chinese companies.

Military conflicts, either in response to internal social unrest or conflicts with other countries, could disrupt economic development. China claims sovereignty over the selfgoverning island of Taiwan, and territorial border disputes persist with several neighboring countries. China has strained political relationships with many countries in Asia. Foreign companies operating in China have faced boycotts and protests when the relationship between their home country and China has deteriorated. There is also risk involved in currency fluctuations, currency convertibility, interest rate fluctuations and higher rates of inflation.

China's domestic financial markets are narrowly concentrated, with domestic banks typically playing a very substantial role as conduits of finance; this may exacerbate volatility and systemic risks within the country's financial markets. Many of China's domestic banks operate under the control and ownership of various government agencies, and thus some of these banks' business activities may be undertaken for political rather than commercial ends. China has experienced rapid credit growth in the recent past and there are now some indications that such lending has been problematic, and that there may be widespread impairment of bank assets. If this situation worsens appreciably, it may create systemic liquidity or solvency risks within the domestic banking system, which could in turn threaten the stability of Chinese or other global financial markets.

China's property market is beset by speculation and high levels of leverage. A downturn in the property market could have significant consequence for the Chinese economy.

China's regulatory system is opaque and new rules and policies are released with little advanced notice. The value of Chinese companies can be significantly influenced by new regulatory developments.

China's economy, particularly its export-oriented industries, may be adversely impacted by trade or political disputes with the U.S. and other major trading partners. Certain strategic and emerging industries in China, including but not limited to semiconductors, biotechnology, clean energy, and artificial intelligence, are subject to export and technology transfer restrictions from the U.S. and other advanced economies. Tensions between the U.S. and China have grown in recent years, leading to financial market volatility and damaging economic confidence. A growing number of Chinese companies have been subject to sanctions or other restrictions by foreign governments. These actions may have a negative impact on the Chinese company's value and ability to conduct business. The U.S. government has banned investment in certain Chinese companies linked to the defense and surveillance industries. This list of prohibited companies may be expanded in the future. Exports from certain regions in China, such as Xinjiang, are subject to restrictions by the U.S. and other advanced economies due to human rights concerns. The U.S. government has also sanctioned Chinese firms that have supported Russia's war effort in Ukraine. Many global manufacturers are seeking to reduce their exposure to Chinese supply chains due to geopolitical concerns.

As its consumer class emerges, China's domestically oriented industries may be especially sensitive to changes in government policy and investment cycles. China's currency, which historically was managed in a tight range relative to the U.S. dollar, will likely be subject to greater uncertainty as Chinese authorities change the policies that determine the exchange rate mechanism.

Social cohesion in China is being tested by growing income inequality and larger scale environmental degradation. Social instability could threaten China's political system and economic growth, which could decrease the value of the Fund's investments. China periodically experiences violent social protests, strikes, and acts of terrorism.

# Colombia

The Colombian economy depends heavily on oil, coal, and other commodity exports, making it vulnerable to such commodity price swings. The country's development has historically been held back by poor infrastructure, graft, drug trafficking, and violence. The Colombian government signed a landmark peace deal with the militarized guerilla group FARC in 2016 after decades of conflict. The durability of this agreement is critical to the country's prospects for sustained economic development.

# Czech Republic

As in other post-communist emerging market economies, structural economic risk in the Czech Republic may represent significant headwinds to investors. The Czech post-communist economic recovery developed a private sector, particularly in the trade and services areas. Restructuring increased exports to industrialized nations, however the republic's strong export orientation leaves the economy vulnerable to external shocks, as does its historical heavy dependence on automotive production. Foreign direct investment cannot be depended upon to drive growth in the Czech Republic as it has in the past, and rising wage pressure may move productive investment to other neighboring nations.

The government periodically struggles with full implementation of its post-communist restructuring efforts, primarily: industrial restructuring; transformation of the housing sector; reform of the pension and healthcare systems; and a solution to environmental problems. Additional challenges include: creating a more diversified knowledge-based economy, reforming public procurement, and increasing economic and political transparency. Bribery and corruption present significant challenges for legal and business transactions.

Sovereign debt risk appears to be stable in the Czech Republic as public debt levels rise gradually, but there is no certainty this will continue. Sizeable foreign exchange reserves may mitigate future currency volatility; however, the currency remains vulnerable to shifts in global risk appetite.

The country's primary export destinations are the European Union and the U.S., making it vulnerable to downturns in those economies.

#### Georgia

Following the collapse of the Soviet Union in 1991, Georgia's economy contracted and stagnated under its post-Soviet leadership in a period marked by widespread corruption and ineffective government policies. Mass protests in 2003 ousted the post-Soviet leadership and led to a series of democratic and economic reforms. Georgia has had success in fighting petty corruption, reducing government bureaucracy, and maintaining rule of law in the country. Despite this early success in implementing reforms, Georgian political institutions remain young. Any deterioration in the rule of law or back-tracking on economic reforms could have adverse impacts on investments in the country.

Since 2003, Georgia has received strong foreign direct investment flows and economic growth has been robust, driven by the private sector. The country does not have large hydrocarbon or mineral resources. However, some of its trading partners in the region are more commodity dependent. Therefore, commodity price volatility may still impact the Georgian economy. The economy is partly dollarized, but the Georgian lari may face volatility due to imbalances with trading partners including Turkey, the European Union, Russia, and other former Soviet Union countries.

Geopolitical risks remain heightened for Georgia. The country had a brief military conflict with Russia in 2008, which has led to a continued Russian occupation of two breakaway regions. Political relations between the two countries remain poor. Georgian leaders have sought closer ties and admission to the European Union and the North Atlantic Treaty Organization, which may stoke tensions with Russia. Tourism has grown into an important sector of the Georgian economy, which may be vulnerable to fears of a potential deterioration in safety and stability.

# Greece

Greece's economy is heavily dependent on the services sector and has a large public sector. The country's key trading partners are Germany, Spain, Italy, and the United Kingdom. Decreasing demand for Greek products and services or changes in governmental regulations on trade may have a significantly adverse effect on Greece's economy. Greece has high levels of sovereign debt and its ability to service its debts are uncertain. Greece has been required to impose harsh austerity measures on its population in order to receive financial aid from the International Monetary Fund and EU member countries. The success of political parties in Greece opposed to austerity measures may increase the possibility that Greece would rescind these austerity measures and consequently fail to receive further financial aid from these institutions. The persistence of these factors may seriously reduce the economic performance of Greece and pose serious risks for the country's economy in the future. There is the possibility that Greece may exit the European Monetary Union, which would result in immediate devaluation of the Greek currency and potential for default. If this were to occur, Greece would face significant risks related to the process of full currency redenomination as well as the resulting instability of the Eurozone in general, which would have a severe adverse effect on the value of the securities held by the Fund.

# Hong Kong

In recent years, China has imposed tighter controls over Hong Kong's economic, political and legal structures. These actions may damage investor and business confidence in Hong Kong, which in turn could negatively affect markets and business performance and have an adverse effect on the Fund's investments. Foreign governments, including the U.S. and the United Kingdom, have imposed sanctions and other restrictions against Hong Kong in response to the Chinese government's actions.

Hong Kong's Basic Law, which previously guaranteed a high degree of autonomy from China in certain matters until 2047, may no longer provide robust protections to investors or companies operating in Hong Kong. The passage of the National Security Law has created new and unpredictable risks for both Hong Kong companies and overseas firms with operations in the territory. Companies operating in Hong Kong may be subject to control and influence by the Chinese government. The evolving relationship between Hong Kong and China's central government in Beijing has been a source of political unrest that has periodically resulted in large-scale protests. These protests have created disruptions for businesses operating in Hong Kong and have negatively impacted the overall economy.

The Hong Kong dollar trades within a fixed trading band rate to (or is "pegged" to) the U.S. dollar. This fixed exchange rate has contributed to the growth and stability of the Hong Kong economy. However, some market participants have questioned the continued viability of the currency peg. It is uncertain what affect any discontinuance of the currency peg and the establishment of an alternative exchange rate system would have on capital markets generally and the Hong Kong economy.

# Hungary

After the fall of communism in 1990, Hungary shifted from a centrally planned to a market-driven economy. The country undertook significant economic reforms, including the privatization of state-owned enterprises and a reduction in social spending programs. Hungary's trade and investment links with Western Europe increased significantly. These reforms were successful in catalyzing economic growth, increasing foreign direct investment, and lowering the country's debt burden. Hungary joined the European Union in 2004, a reflection of the success of its reforms.

In recent years the government has become more populist and the pace of economic reform has slowed and even regressed in some areas. The Hungarian government has become more interventionist, using legislation, regulation, and public procurements to favor national industries and government-linked businesses. The United States and the European Union have criticized Hungary's backsliding from democratic reforms and undermining of judicial independence. Widespread corruption, labor shortages, severe poverty in rural areas, a volatile currency, and a heavy reliance on foreign energy imports all present challenges to economic growth.

# India

In India, the government exercises significant influence over many aspects of the economy. Bureaucratic obstacles and inconsistent economic reforms have had a significant effect on the economy and could adversely affect market conditions and deter economic growth and the profitability of private enterprises.

Slow judicial proceedings have delayed the foreclosure of insolvent companies and led to an accumulation of bad debt that burden the ledgers of state-owned banks. Global factors and foreign actions may inhibit the flow of capital on which India is dependent to sustain its growth.

Many public companies in India remain tightly controlled by their founders and their families. Corporate governance standards of family-controlled companies may be weaker and less transparent, which increases the potential for loss and unequal treatment of investors. India exhibits many of the risks associated with developing capital markets, including relatively low levels of liquidity and substantial volatility in the prices of Indian securities. India also has an unreliable infrastructure system and power grid. India faces significant public health challenges.

Corruption is a longstanding issue in India, and it is particularly prevalent in the public sector.

Religious, cultural and military disputes persist in India. Long-standing border disputes exist with Pakistan and China. These conflicts have frequently led to violence and have a negative impact on the economy. If the Indian government is unable to control tensions over these disputes, the result may be military conflict, which could destabilize the country's economy. India-China relations have deteriorated in recent years leading to an increase in retaliatory economic and regulatory restrictions.

#### Indonesia

Indonesia's political institutions and democracy have a relatively short history, increasing the risk of political instability. In the past, Indonesia has experienced political and militant unrest within several of its regions, and further unrest could present a risk to the local economy and stock market. The country has also experienced acts of terrorism, including attacks targeting foreigners, which has had a negative impact on tourism. Historical corruption and the perceived lack of a rule of law in dealings with international companies may have discouraged much needed foreign direct investment. Should this issue persist, it could negatively impact the long-term growth of the economy. Other barriers to economic development include high unemployment, inadequate infrastructure, a poor investment climate, and unequal resource distribution among regions. The local currency, the rupiah, has exhibited pronounced volatility in international markets for foreign exchange. The economy's dependence on raw commodity exports also exposes the country to the risk of commodity price volatility.

# Japan

The Japanese yen has shown volatility in recent decades. Depreciation of the yen, and any other currencies in which the Fund's securities are denominated, will decrease the value of the Fund's holdings. The Japanese yen may also be affected by currency volatility elsewhere in Asia.

Japan's economy could be negatively impacted by many factors, including rising interest rates, tax increases and budget deficits. Japan has among the highest levels of government debt in the world. Domestic investors have been willing to finance this debt at very low interest rates, but this could change at any time.

In the longer term, Japan faces the challenges of an aging population, such as a shrinking workforce and higher welfare costs. To date, Japan has had restrictive immigration policies that, combined with other demographic concerns, appear to be having a negative impact on the economy.

Japan is especially prone to natural disasters given its island geography and location on natural fault lines. The nation is also highly dependent on nuclear energy that provides cheap sources of energy but provides significant risk in the event of an earthquake.

Japan has strained relations with two of its closest trading partners, South Korea and China. Breakdowns in relations have periodically impacted trade and investment flows with these countries. A conflict involving Taiwan would have significant negative repercussions for Japan given its strong economic ties with both China and the U.S.

#### Kazakhstan

Kazakhstan is an ethnically diverse republic with authoritarian presidential rule located in a strategic position between Asia and Europe. Kazakhstan has a resource-based economy heavily dependent on the export of natural resources, and accordingly, fluctuations in certain commodity markets or sustained low prices for Kazakh exports could adversely affect Kazakhstan's economy. Additionally, rising commodities prices create inflationary pressures from strong currency inflows. Kazakhstan has pursued economic reform and liberalization of many economic areas, but there is no guarantee that the government will not become directly involved in aspects of the economy in the future. Historically, the country's banking system has been negatively impacted by a high proportion of non-performing loans.

# Malaysia

Malaysia has previously imposed currency controls and a 10% "exit levy" on profits repatriated by foreign entities such as the Fund and has limited foreign ownership of Malaysian companies (which may artificially support the market price of such companies). Malaysian capital controls have been changed in significant ways since they were first adopted without prior warning on September 1, 1998. While Malaysia has also abolished the exit levy and relaxed capital controls, it is possible that these measures will be re-established with little or no advance warning.

Allegations of pervasive government corruption have been a major source of political unrest. Former government leaders have engaged with a global investment bank to undertake large scale fraud (the "1MDB" scandal) that has materially undermined the country's financial strength. Malaysia may be susceptible to political instability that could have an adverse impact on the country's economy. The Malaysian government has periodically seized assets and forced the renegotiation of contracts of some foreign companies operating within the country.

# Mexico

Mexico's economy has historically benefitted from close trade relationships with the U.S. and Canada. Despite the U.S.-Mexico-Canada Agreement (USMCA) trade agreement, the potential for new trade disputes between the U.S. and Mexico remains high, which could negatively affect Mexico's export-focused industries, the stability of the Mexican peso, and overall confidence in the country's economy.

The Mexican government has sought to attract overseas investments, but reliable electricity and water supplies and the persistence of drug-related violence remain significant risks to investing in Mexico. Other risks for exporters and investors include volatile business cycles, currency risks, and a high degree of difficulty enforcing contracts.

Mexico traditionally has a reputation as a difficult place to do business. Contributing factors include the lack of a strong legal framework, a politicized business environment, and domination by a few large local corporations. The Mexican government has periodically nationalized assets and forced the renegotiation of contracts in a manner that has damaged the interests of investors.

A certain percentage of the population has been highly dependent on remittances from the U.S. Changes in U.S. immigration policy may potentially reduce remittances and fuel social unrest.

# Nigeria

The economic development of Nigeria, Africa's largest economy, has historically been hindered by economic mismanagement, corruption, and ethnic conflict. While Nigeria has transitioned from military rule to democracy, the country has continued to struggle with these same issues.

A member of OPEC (Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries), Nigeria is heavily dependent on the production of hydrocarbons, with oil historically accounting for the vast majority of its exports and government revenues. Attacks on the country's oil pipeline infrastructure in the Niger Delta region have hampered oil production in the past and could occur in the future, straining the country's fiscal and current account balances. Ethnic, religious, and regional divisions in the country create the potential for social conflict, violence, and terrorism.

Nigeria suffers from pervasive corruption, which makes it difficult for citizens and companies to do business and hinders economic growth. The country's poor health and sanitation infrastructure make it vulnerable to outbreaks of communicable diseases. Nigeria has imposed capital controls to varying degrees in the past, which may make it difficult to invest in companies in Nigeria or repatriate capital. As a frontier market, the Nigerian stock market has lower levels of liquidity relative to larger emerging markets, which may result in heightened volatility in the prices of Nigerian securities.

# Pakistan

Pakistan has had a turbulent political history, and the political instability risks facing the country remain high. The country has had three military coups since independence in 1947, and the military remains a dominant force in the country's political arena. Pakistan has been engaged in a decades-long armed conflict with militant groups that target government institutions and civilians. Future social and political instability may result in increased levels of terrorism and prolonged economic disruption and may discourage foreign investment.

Ongoing border disputes with India may result in armed conflict between the two nations, both of which possess nuclear capabilities. Even in the absence of armed conflict, the lingering threat of war with India may depress economic growth and investment in Pakistan. Additionally, Pakistan's geographic location and its shared borders with Afghanistan and Iran increase the risk that it will be involved in, or otherwise affected by, international conflict. Pakistan's economic growth is in part attributable to high levels of foreign aid, loans and debt forgiveness. Such international support, however, may be significantly reduced or terminated in response to changes in the political leadership of Pakistan.

Pakistan faces a wide range of economic problems and risks. A challenging security environment, electricity shortages, and an uncertain investment climate have traditionally deterred foreign investors. There is substantial uncertainty over whether privatization efforts and other economic reform efforts will continue. Pakistan is subject to substantial natural resource constraints, which both hamper development and make Pakistan's economy vulnerable to price fluctuations in imported commodities. Pakistan has historically faced persistent and large budgetary and current account deficits. The resulting high levels of national debt may not be sustainable.

Pakistan also maintains a trade deficit, which could be worsened if relations with the United States, the largest market for Pakistani exports, deteriorate. Textiles and apparel account for a large share of Pakistani's export earnings, which leaves the country vulnerable to shifts in world demand. The country has low levels of international reserves, which may elevate currency risks for the Pakistani rupee. The rights of investors and other property owners in Pakistan are subject to protection by a developing judicial system that is widely perceived as lacking transparency. Inflation threatens long-term economic growth and may deter foreign investment in the country.

# Peru

The Peruvian economy is dependent on its extractive natural resources and the economies of its trading partners in Central and South America, Europe, Asia and the United States. Metals and mineral exports account for a significant portion of the country's exports and make the country vulnerable to swings in commodity prices. Inflation and exchange rate volatility have been historical concerns for the country. Like other Latin American countries, Peru suffers from high economic inequality with the informal economy employing a large part of its workforce. The country's weak infrastructure and health systems may magnify the negative impact of pandemics and natural disasters. Regional economic disparities have fostered drug trafficking, violence, and crime in parts of the country, which may deter foreign direct investment. Several presidents in Peru have faced corruption allegations or impeachment in the past two decades, leading to frequent turnover in the executive branch of government. Political uncertainty and concern over corruption may deter foreign investment in the country.

# Philippines

The Philippines has been one of Asia's fastest growing economies in recent years. However, poverty and inequality remain high with wide income and growth disparities between regions and economic classes. The government has embarked on a large infrastructure spending program to upgrade the country's underdeveloped infrastructure system. Uncertainty regarding the successful and efficient implementation of these plans remains a risk to the country's growth expectations. The country's political system has experienced frequent periods of instability and the government has been accused of undertaking actions to suppress political opposition. The Philippine peso may come under pressure from tighter global financial conditions, higher oil prices, and a widening current account deficit. The country has ongoing territorial disputes with one of its major economic partners, China. Increasing tension over these territorial disputes could lead to a reduction in Chinese investment and other negative economic consequences.

The Philippines has a history of political and religious violence and terrorism, which may continue in the future. In addition, the country's geographic location is prone to natural disasters, such as tsunamis, earthquakes, volcanic eruptions, and typhoons. Any such in event in the future could negatively impact the economy and capital markets.

# Poland

Poland has undergone a significant economic and political transformation since the late 1980s. Once an insular, communist-led command economy, it is transitioning to a democratic and market-oriented European Union (EU) and NATO (North Atlantic Treaty Organization) member. In recent years, Poland's government has been accused of undermining some of these democratic reforms and has faced criticism and sanction from the EU. A rupture in relations with the EU could have a significant negative impact on the country's economy.

Poland has tense political relationships with two of its neighboring countries, Russia and Belarus. Poland has experienced an influx of refugees and it may be negatively impacted from the conflict between Ukraine and Russia.

The legacy of communist rule may still represent risks for investors, primarily systemic banking risk, currency risk, and difficulty enforcing business contracts. High public debt levels historically presented a significant drag to economic growth and may reoccur in the future. Eurozone economic trends may significantly affect Poland's future growth rates as Poland has strong economic and financial links with the euro area. The country's integration with the EU and NATO may make it more vulnerable to international financial crises, whether regional or global. Poland's economy can be very sensitive to reduced foreign currency flows, which may cause liquidity problems, stock market volatility, and reduced economic activity.

The Polish government plays a sizable role in the economy, which has the potential to squeeze out new business enterprises and may impede job creation over the long term.

# Qatar

The economy of Qatar is dominated by petroleum exports. Sustained decreases in the prices of commodities such as oil and natural gas could have a negative impact on all aspects of the economy. The non-oil economy is concentrated in the service sector, notably in tourism, real estate, banking, and re-export trade. Although the political situation in Qatar is largely stable, there remains the possibility that instability in the larger Middle East region could adversely impact the economy of Qatar. The country has had tense relationships with many countries in the region and was previously the subject a targeted embargo. The Qatari government's policies and practices in securing rights to host international events have been the subject of scrutiny.

#### Russia

The securities markets of Russia are relatively new (the country created its central registration system for securities in 2013) and underdeveloped. As a result, securities markets in Russia are subject to greater risks associated with market volatility, lower market capitalization, lower trading volume, inflation, greater price fluctuations, uncertainty regarding the existence of trading markets, governmental control and heavy regulation of labor and industry. Additionally, certain investments in Russia may become less liquid in response to market developments or adverse investor perceptions, or become illiquid after purchase by the Fund, particularly during periods of market turmoil. When the Fund holds illiquid investments, its portfolio may be harder to value, especially in changing markets. Moreover, trading on securities markets in Russia may be suspended altogether.

The government in Russia may restrict or control to varying degrees the ability of foreign investors to invest in securities of issuers located or operating in Russia. These restrictions and/or controls may at times limit or prevent foreign investment in securities of issuers located or operating in Russia. Moreover, governmental approval or special licenses may be required prior to investments by foreign investors and may limit the amount of investments by foreign investors in a particular industry and/or issuer and may limit such foreign investment to a certain class of securities of an issuer that may have less advantageous rights than the classes available for purchase by domiciliaries of Russia and/or impose additional taxes on foreign investors. Less information may be available about companies in which the Fund invests because many companies that are tied economically to Russia are not subject to accounting, auditing and financial reporting standards or to other regulatory practices required by U.S. companies. These factors, among others, make investing in issuers located or operating in Russia significantly riskier than investing in issuers located or operating in more developed countries, and any one of them could cause a decline in the value of the Fund's shares.

As a result of the conflict between Ukraine and the Russian Federation, the United States and the European Union have imposed unprecedented sanctions on certain Russian individuals, the economy, and capital markets. The United States and other nations or international organizations may impose additional economic sanctions or take other actions that may adversely affect Russian-related issuers, including companies in various sectors of the Russian economy, including, but not limited to, the financial services, energy, metals and mining, engineering, and defense and defense-related materials sectors. These sanctions, any future sanctions or other actions, or even the threat of further sanctions or other actions, may negatively affect the value and liquidity of the Fund's portfolio and may impair the Fund's ability to achieve its investment objective. For example, the Fund may be prohibited from investing in securities issued by companies subject to such sanctions. In addition, the sanctions may require the Fund to freeze its existing investments in Russian companies, prohibiting the Fund from buying, selling or otherwise transacting in these investments. Russia has undertaken and may undertake additional countermeasures or retaliatory actions which may further impair the value and liquidity of the Fund's portfolio and potentially disrupt its operations.

Russia's economy has been disrupted as many international companies exit the Russian market. Restriction on the export of technology and key components may severely impact the ability of many Russian companies to operate. Russia may experience social unrest and other forms of disruption as the conflict continues.

The Russian stock market is subject to restrictions that limit the ability of foreign investors to freely transact. The securities of many Russian companies listed outside of Russia have been suspended or forced to delist. The Russian government has seized the assets of the subsidiaries of several foreign companies operating in Russia.

Despite recent reform and privatization, the Russian government continues to control a large share of economic activity in the region. The Russian government owns shares in corporations in a range of sectors including banking, energy production and distribution, automotive, transportation and telecommunications. Additionally, because Russia produces and exports large volumes of oil and gas, the Russian economy is particularly sensitive to the price of oil and gas on the world market, and a decline in the price of oil and gas could have a significant negative impact on the Russian economy.

The value of the Russian ruble may be subject to a high degree of fluctuation. The Fund's assets will be invested primarily in equity securities of Russian issuers and the income received by the Fund will be principally in Russian rubles. The Fund's exposure to the Russian ruble and changes in value of the Russian ruble versus the U.S. dollar may result in reduced returns to the Fund. Moreover, the Fund may incur costs in connection with conversions between U.S. dollars and the Russian ruble. In addition, political and economic events in Russia may have significant adverse effects on the Russian ruble and on the value and liquidity of the Fund's investments.

# Singapore

As a small open economy, Singapore is particularly vulnerable to external economic influences, such as the Asian economic crisis of the late 1990s. Singapore relies upon neighboring countries for critical resources such as fresh water, and disruptions in the supply of these resources could negatively impact the economy.

# South Africa

South Africa is a multi-racial country that has one of Africa's largest middle-class populations. Although South Africa's leaders have sought to deliver socio-economic development, popular impatience and political in-fighting may make this a challenge. Relative to its regional neighbors, South Africa has a strong legal and institutional framework that supports foreign investment. However, growth rates are restrained by its highly dualistic economy: a well-developed formal sector in mining, manufacturing and agriculture alongside a large informal economy.

In recent years, South Africa has experienced widespread and violent protests and looting. The country's leadership has been accused of high-level corruption. Notwithstanding a strong legal framework, crime is a major obstacle to investment and productive business activity. Income and service inequalities, foreign immigrants pursuing local employment, and close proximity to unstable neighboring countries may continue to present high risk to the economy.

South Africa's apartheid legacy and historical international isolation adversely affect the country, and it suffers from lack of competition in the domestic economy. Government policies to address the historical injustices of apartheid may impact the operating environment of companies. Many industries are dominated by large incumbent firms. Years of underinvestment in infrastructure, in particular power production, present risk to its dominant mining and smelting operations and may present risk to other sectors of the economy. The economy is highly dependent on foreign capital for productive investment, which can result in severe liquidity crises if capital inflows suddenly stop. In addition, a large proportion of companies operate in resource-intensive industries that leave growth vulnerable to commodity cycles.

#### South Korea

Investing in South Korean securities presents special risks, including political, economic and social instability, and the potential for increasing tensions and conflict with North Korea (see Regional and Country Risks). The market capitalization and trading volume in South Korean securities markets are concentrated in a small number of issuers, which results in potentially fewer investment opportunities for the Fund. South Korea's financial sector has shown certain signs of systemic weakness and illiquidity, which, if exacerbated, could prove to be a material risk for any investments in South Korea.

While China is South Korea's largest trading partner, relations between the two countries have frequently been tense. South Korean firms have been subject to boycotts in China and other restrictions. Given its close alliance with the U.S., South Korea may be drawn into a conflict involving China and the U.S.

There are also a number of risks to the Fund associated with the South Korean government. The South Korean government has historically exercised and continues to exercise substantial influence over many aspects of the private sector. The South Korean government from time to time has informally influenced the prices of certain products, encouraged companies to invest or to concentrate in particular industries and induced mergers between companies in industries experiencing excess capacity. Alleged corrupt ties between local corporate elites and the country's leadership are an ongoing problem.

The South Korean government has sought to minimize excessive price volatility on the South Korean Stock Exchange through various steps, including the imposition of limitations on daily price movements of securities, although there is no assurance that this would prevent the value of an investment from declining over time. Also, the government has at times sought to exert influence over the value of the Korean won, variously seeking to strengthen or weaken its exchange rate against other major global currencies. Individual "day traders" tend to dominate daily trading activity for most shares, often leading in the short term to erratic price behavior for stocks.

# Sri Lanka

Civil war and terrorism have disrupted the economic, social and political stability of Sri Lanka for decades. While the country's 26-year civil war came to an end in 2009, ethnic tensions remain and impact its politics. Sri Lanka faces severe income inequality, high inflation, a bloated public sector and a sizable government debt load. Sri Lanka relies heavily on foreign assistance in the form of grants, investments, and loans from international organizations such as the International Monetary Fund, the World Bank, and the Asian Development Bank as well as bilaterally from countries such as China. Changes in international political sentiment may have significant adverse effects on the Sri Lankan economy. The textiles sector represents an important part of the economy and is the largest contributor to exports. Changes to Sri Lanka's tariff regimes with the European Union and the United States could adversely impact the country's trade competitiveness. The Sri Lankan rupee has faced depreciation pressures over the past several years. Should this trend continue, it may adversely impact U.S. dollar returns on investments made in the country. As a frontier market, Sri Lanka has lower levels of liquidity relative to larger emerging markets, which may result in heightened volatility in the prices of Sri Lankan securities.

#### Taiwan

The potential political reunification of China and Taiwan, over which China continues to claim sovereignty, is a highly complex and ongoing issue. Continuing hostility between China and Taiwan may have an adverse impact on the values of the Fund's investments in both China and Taiwan, or make investment in China and Taiwan impracticable or impossible. Any escalation of tensions between China and Taiwan would likely have a negative impact on Taiwan's financial stability, as well as a significant adverse impact on the value of the Fund's investments in both countries, and in other countries in the region. Armed conflict involving Taiwan would have a major negative impact on global equity prices and might lead to partial or complete losses in the Fund's investments in both China and Taiwan.

Taiwan has in the past shown an ability to prosper in a competitive environment on the strength of product quality, efficiency and responsiveness to market demand. This ability may be tested in the future as, in addition to certain protectionist threats, Taiwan's export economy faces competition from producers in other countries with lower wage levels than those generally prevailing in Taiwan. Skilled workers and technical personnel are still relatively inexpensive in Taiwan, but unskilled labor is increasingly in short supply. Recognizing the imperatives of the more competitive Asian economy, the Taiwanese government has sought to develop Taiwan into a regional hub for high-end manufacturing, sea and air transportation, finance, telecommunications and media. Taiwan has sought to develop further as a service-oriented economy rather than a labor-intensive, manufacturing-oriented one. Some Taiwanese companies are facing pressure to relocate production facilities outside of Taiwan due to geopolitical concerns.

Some Taiwanese companies and financial institutions have large amounts of foreign currency exposure. Movements in the New Taiwan dollar exchange rate could generate losses for these entities if these exposures are not sufficiently hedged.

#### Thailand

In recent years Thailand has experienced political, social and militant unrest, negatively impacting tourism and the broader economy. Thailand's political institutions may be unseasoned, increasing the risk of political instability. The Thai government has historically imposed investment controls apparently designed to control volatility in the Thai baht and to support certain export-oriented Thai industries. These controls have been revised and updated since their initial imposition, and more recently have largely been suspended (although there is no guarantee that such controls will not be re-imposed). However, partially in response to these controls, an offshore market for the exchange of Thai baht has developed.

# Turkey

The Turkish lira is a volatile emerging market currency and its volatility may induce losses to the Fund's portfolio. The country is highly reliant on foreign funding to sustain a large and growing trade deficit; this dependence, combined with the central bank's unorthodox policies to manage the financial exposures that stem from this dependence, may exacerbate already substantial volatility inherent to the currency. The country has recently experimented with capital controls to support the currency.

Turkey has recently experienced widespread riots and civil unrest in its urban centers, ostensibly linked to disappointment with the governance of the current administration. In addition, Turkey has experienced increased unrest and possible terrorist attacks associated with instability on its borders. Turkey's relationship with its neighbors, both in Europe and Asia, is often strained and may negatively impact its economy.

The United States and the European Union have criticized the erosion of the rule of law and an independent judiciary in Turkey over the past decade. Turkey's current administration has used draconian methods to silence critics, resorting to jailing members of the media and pursuing aggressive litigation against businesses that are deemed to support opposing interests.

# United Arab Emirates

The economy of the United Arab Emirates (UAE) is dominated by petroleum exports. Sustained decreases in the prices of commodities such as oil and natural gas could have a negative impact on all aspects of the UAE economy. The non-oil economy, which is concentrated in the service sector, could be affected by declines in tourism, real estate, banking, and re-export trade. The country's currency, the UAE dirham, is pegged to the US dollar, but the sustainability of the currency regime may be impacted by commodity prices, the strength of the economy, and other factors.

The UAE and the governments of the individual emirates are non-democratic and exercise substantial influence over many aspects of the economy. The regulatory environment for companies operating in the UAE is relatively new and undergoing significant change. This may create regulatory uncertainty for various industries as well as the potential for corporate governance risks. The country lacks a free press and an independent judiciary.

The UAE is located in a region that frequently experiences wars and political instability. Current and future military conflicts could impact the UAE economy and security situation. The UAE's foreign policy may have adverse impacts on its economy and investments in the country. The large role of the tourism and real estate industries in its economy may create greater economic risks from regional instability, pandemics, and terrorism.

The UAE's capital markets are under-developed and many stocks are thinly traded, which may heighten volatility and liquidity risks.

#### Vietnam

In 1992, Vietnam initiated the process of privatization of state-owned enterprises, and expanded that process in 1996. The one-party Vietnamese government exercises significant influence over many aspects of the economy. Accordingly, government and bureaucratic actions have a significant effect on the economy and could adversely affect market conditions and deter economic growth and the profitability of private enterprises. Some Vietnamese industries, including commercial banking, remain dominated by state-owned enterprises. Economic, political and legal reform has historically proceeded at a slow pace. Employees and management boards have held a majority of the equity of most privatized enterprises. In addition, the government of Vietnam has generally maintained equity stakes in such firms. Vietnam continues to impose limitations on foreign ownership of Vietnamese companies, although certain sectors have seen such restrictions reduced in recent years. Vietnamese authorities have in the past imposed arbitrary repatriation taxes on foreign owners, and the government may levy withholding and other taxes on dividends, interest and gains. There can be no guarantee that Vietnam's privatization process, or its efforts to reform its economic, political or legal systems will continue.

Inflation and rising public debt threaten long-term sustained economic growth and may deter foreign investment in the country. In addition, foreign currency reserves in Vietnam may not be sufficient to support conversion into the U.S. dollar (or other more liquid currencies), which may delay or impede the Fund from repatriating proceeds from the sales of Vietnamese holdings. As a frontier market, Vietnam has lower levels of liquidity relative to larger emerging markets, which may result in heightened volatility in the prices of Vietnamese securities.

Vietnam's relationship with China, one of its largest trading partners, is often strained and may negatively impact its economy.

# **Equity Investments**

The Fund may invest in equity securities. Equity securities (which generally include common stocks, preferred stocks, warrants, securities convertible into common or preferred stocks and similar securities) are generally more volatile and riskier than some other forms of investment. In certain instances, equity securities may decline precipitously or become worthless. Equity securities of companies with relatively small market capitalizations may be more volatile than the securities of larger, more established companies than the broad equity market indices generally. Common stock and other equity securities may take the form of stock in corporations, partnership interests, interests in limited liability companies and other direct or indirect interests in business organizations.

# **Exchange Traded Fund and Other Similar Instruments**

Shares of exchange traded funds ("ETFs") and other similar instruments may be purchased by the Fund. Generally, an ETF is an investment company that is registered under the 1940 Act that holds a portfolio of securities designed to track the performance of a particular index or index segment. Similar instruments, used by pools that are not investment companies, offer similar characteristics and may be designed to track the performance of an index or basket of securities of companies engaged in a particular market or sector. ETFs sell and redeem their shares at net asset value in large blocks (typically 50,000 of its shares) called "creation units." Shares representing fractional interests in these creation units are listed for trading on national securities exchanges and can be purchased and sold in the secondary market in lots of any size at any time during the trading day.

Investments in ETFs and other similar instruments involve certain inherent risks generally associated with investments in a broadly-based portfolio of stocks including: (i) risks that the general level of stock prices may decline, thereby adversely affecting the value of each unit of the ETF or other instrument; (ii) an ETF may not fully replicate the performance of its benchmark index because of temporary unavailability of certain index securities in the secondary market or discrepancies between the ETF and the index with respect to the weightings of securities or number of stocks held; (iii) an ETF may also be adversely affected by the performance of the specific index, market sector or group of industries on which it is based; and (iv) an ETF may not track an index as well as a traditional index mutual fund because ETFs are valued by the market and, therefore, there may be a difference between the market value and the ETF's net asset value. The Fund may both purchase and effect short sales of shares of ETFs and may also purchase and sell options on shares of ETFs. These investments may be used for hedging purposes or to seek to increase total return (which is considered a speculative activity).

Because ETFs and pools that issue similar instruments incur various fees and expenses, the Fund's investment in these instruments will involve certain indirect costs, as well as transaction costs, such as brokerage commissions. The Adviser will consider expenses associated with an investment in determining whether to invest in an ETF or other instrument. In the case of ETFs that are investment companies, they invest substantially all of their assets in securities of various securities indices or a particular segment of a securities index. Most ETFs are listed and traded on the NYSE Arca, Inc. ("Arca"). The market price of ETFs is expected to fluctuate in accordance with both changes in the asset values of their underlying indices and supply and demand of an ETF's shares on the Arca. ETFs may trade at relatively modest discounts or premiums to net asset value. In general, most ETFs have a limited operating history and information may be lacking regarding the actual performance and trading liquidity of such shares for extended periods or over complete market cycles. In addition, there is no assurance that the requirements of the Arca necessary to maintain the listing of ETFs in which the Fund invests will continue to be met or will remain unchanged. In the event substantial market or other disruptions affecting the shares of ETFs held by the Fund should occur in the future, the liquidity and value of that Fund's shares could also be adversely affected. If such disruptions were to occur, that Fund could be required to reconsider the use of ETFs as part of its investment strategy.

Limitations of the 1940 Act, which prohibit any Fund from acquiring more than 3% of the outstanding shares of another investment company, may restrict the Fund's ability to purchase shares of certain ETFs.

# Firm Commitments and When-Issued Securities

The Fund may purchase securities on a firm commitment basis, including when-issued securities. Each Fund may buy, sell, or receive by corporate action, securities on a when-issued or delayed delivery basis, paying for or taking delivery of the securities at a later date, normally within 15 to 45 days of the trade. The Fund may also be entitled to receive when-issued securities in relation to its holdings in common stock of companies that undertake certain corporate actions and reorganizations. Securities purchased on a firm commitment basis are purchased for delivery beyond the normal settlement date at a stated price and yield. No income accrues to the purchaser of a security on a firm commitment basis prior to delivery. Such securities are recorded as an asset and are subject to changes in value based upon changes in the general level of interest rates. Purchasing a security on a firm commitment basis can involve a risk that the market price at the time of delivery may be lower than the agreed upon purchase price, in which case there could be an unrealized loss at the time of delivery. The Fund will only make commitments to purchase securities on a firm commitment basis with the intention of actually acquiring the securities, but may sell them before the settlement date if it is deemed advisable. As when-issued securities are subject to delayed or deferred settlement, such securities may be either illiquid, or suffer from severe constraints in liquidity.

# **Fixed Income Securities**

The Fund may invest in fixed income securities. Fixed income securities generally pay a specified rate of interest or dividends, or a rate that is adjusted periodically by reference to some specified index or market rate or other factor. Fixed income securities may include securities issued by U.S. federal, state, local, and non-U.S. governments and other agencies and instrumentalities, and by a wide range of private or corporate issuers. Fixed income securities include, among others, bonds, notes, bills, debentures, convertible securities, bank obligations, mortgage and other asset-backed securities, loan participations and assignments and commercial paper.

Because interest rates vary, it is impossible to predict the income of the Fund for any particular period. Except to the extent that values are affected independently by other factors such as developments relating to a specific issuer or group of issuers, when interest rates decline, the value of a fixed income portfolio can generally be expected to rise. Conversely, when interest rates rise, the value of a fixed income portfolio can generally be expected to decline. In certain instances, fixed income securities may decline precipitously or become worthless. Prices of longer-term securities generally increase or decrease more sharply than those of shorter-term securities in response to interest rate changes, particularly if such securities were purchased at a discount. It should be noted that the market values of securities rated below investment grade and comparable unrated securities tend to react less to fluctuations in interest rate levels than do those of higher-rated securities.

# Call or Buy-Back Features

In addition, many fixed-income securities contain call or buy-back features that permit their issuers to call or repurchase the securities from their holders. Such securities may present risks based on payment expectations. Although the Fund may typically receive a premium if an issuer were to redeem a security, if an issuer exercises such a "call option" and redeems the security during a time of declining interest rates, the Fund may realize a capital loss on its investment if the security was purchased at a premium and the Fund may have to replace the called security with a lower yielding security, resulting in a decreased rate of return to the Fund.

# Floating and Variable Rate Instruments

The Fund may invest in floating and variable rate obligations. Floating or variable rate obligations bear interest at rates that are not fixed, but vary with changes in specified market rates or indices, such as the prime rate, and at specified intervals. The variable rate obligations in which the Fund may invest include variable rate master demand notes, which are unsecured instruments issued pursuant to an agreement between the issuer and the holder that permit the indebtedness thereunder to vary and provide for periodic adjustments in the interest rate.

Certain of the floating or variable rate obligations that may be purchased by the Fund may carry a demand feature that would permit the holder to tender them back to the issuer of the instrument or to a third party at par value prior to maturity. Some of the demand instruments purchased by the Fund is not traded in a secondary market and derive their liquidity solely from the ability of the holder to demand repayment from the issuer or third party providing credit support. If a demand instrument is not traded in a secondary market, the Fund will nonetheless treat the instrument as liquid for the purposes of its investment restriction limiting investments in illiquid securities unless the demand feature has a notice period of more than seven days; if the notice period is greater than seven days, such a demand instrument will be characterized as illiquid for such purpose. The Fund's right to obtain payment at par on a demand instrument could be affected by events occurring between the date the Fund elects to demand payment and the date payment is due that may affect the ability of the issuer of the instrument or a third party providing credit support to make payment when due. To facilitate settlement, some demand instruments may be held in book entry form at a bank other than the Fund's custodian subject to a sub-custodian agreement approved by the Fund between that bank and the Fund's custodian.

# Foreign Currency Risks

Currencies of emerging market countries may be subject to significantly greater risks than currencies of developed countries. Many emerging market countries have experienced steady declines or sudden devaluations of their currencies relative to the U.S. dollar. Some currencies in developing countries may not be internationally traded, or the currencies may be subject to a variety of controls imposed by local governments. Such restrictions and controls might result in undervalued or overvalued currencies; pronounced volatility in exchange rates; limited trading liquidity, or partial or total restrictions on exchange and repatriation. Any of the aforementioned currency risks may result in any or all of the following: such risks might induce material volatility to the Fund's net asset value; such risks might alter the fair value of the Fund's assets; or such risks might compromise the Fund's liquidity in a material manner, including compromising the Fund's ability to honor redemption requests from its shareholders.

Future restrictive exchange controls could prevent or restrict the ability of an issuer in such market to make dividend or interest payments in the original currency of the obligation. In addition, even though the currencies of some emerging market countries may be convertible into U.S. dollars, the conversion rates may not reflect their market values.

The U.S. dollar value of the Fund's investments and of dividends and interest earned by the Fund may be significantly affected by changes in currency exchange rates. The value of the Fund's assets denominated in foreign currencies will increase or decrease in response to fluctuations in the value of those foreign currencies relative to the U.S. dollar. Although the Fund may engage in currency transactions, Seafarer does not currently intend to utilize active hedging techniques to manage ongoing currency risks. Should Seafarer do so, there is no assurance that it will do so at an appropriate time or that it will be able to accurately predict exchange rate movements. For example, if the Fund increases its exposure to a currency and that currency's price subsequently falls, such currency management may result in increased losses to the Fund. Similarly, if the Fund decreases its exposure to a currency and the currency's price rises, the Fund will lose the opportunity to participate in the currency's appreciation. Some currency prices may be volatile, and there is the possibility of government controls on currency exchange or government intervention in currency markets, which could adversely affect the Fund. Foreign investments, which are not U.S. dollar-denominated, may require the Fund to convert assets into foreign currencies or to convert assets and income from foreign currencies to U.S. dollars. Normally, exchange transactions will be conducted on a spot, cash or forward basis at the prevailing rate in the foreign exchange market.

Dividends and interest income, denominated in foreign currencies and received by the Fund, may give rise to withholding and other taxes imposed by foreign countries. Tax treaties between certain countries and the U.S. may reduce or eliminate such taxes. In addition, many foreign countries do not impose taxes on capital gains with respect to investments by non-resident investors.

The Fund may invest in convertible debt securities, which may be denominated in either U.S. dollars or foreign currencies. The value of convertible securities varies with a number of factors including the value and volatility of the underlying stock, the level and volatility of interest rates, the passage of time, dividend policy and other variables. Investing in a convertible security denominated in a currency different from that of the security into which it is convertible may expose the Fund to currency risk as well as risks associated with the level and volatility of the foreign exchange rate between the security's currency and the underlying stock's currency.

# **Foreign Exchange Transactions**

Each Fund may engage in spot and forward foreign exchange transactions and currency swaps, purchase and sell options on currencies and purchase and sell currency futures and related options thereon (collectively, "Currency Instruments") for the purpose of settling transactions for securities denominated in foreign currencies. The Fund intends to conduct any foreign currency exchange transactions either on a spot (i.e., cash) basis at the spot rate prevailing in the foreign currency exchange market, or through forward contracts to purchase or sell foreign currencies.

A forward foreign currency exchange contract involves an obligation to purchase or sell a specific amount of currency at a future date, at a price and on a date set at the time of the contract. The cost to the Fund of engaging in forward currency contracts varies with factors such as the currency involved, the length of the contract period and the market conditions prevailing as the contract is struck.

Secondary markets generally do not exist for forward currency contracts, with the result that closing transactions generally can be made for forward currency contracts only by negotiating directly with the counterparty. Thus, there can be no assurance that the Fund will in fact be able to close out a forward currency contract at a favorable price prior to maturity.

The Fund may enter into forward currency contracts or maintain a net exposure to such contracts only if the consummation of the contracts would not obligate the Fund to deliver an amount of foreign currency in excess of the value of its portfolio securities or other assets denominated in that currency.

Each Fund may also (but is not required to) use the Currency Instruments described above to hedge against movements in a security the Fund owns or intends to acquire. Under normal market conditions, the Fund does not anticipate using such currency instruments to actively hedge exposures within the portfolio.

Because foreign currency transactions occurring in the inter-bank market might involve substantially larger amounts than those involved in the use of such hedging instruments, the Fund could be disadvantaged by having to deal in the odd lot market (generally consisting of transactions of less than \$1 million) for the underlying foreign currencies at prices that are less favorable than for round lots.

# **Foreign Securities**

Investors should recognize that investing in the securities of non-U.S. or foreign issuers generally, and particularly in emerging market issuers, involves special considerations that are not typically associated with investing in securities of U.S. issuers. Investments in securities of foreign issuers may involve risks arising from differences between U.S. and foreign securities markets, including less volume, much greater price volatility in and relative illiquidity of no foreign securities markets, different trading and settlement practices, and less governmental supervision and regulation, from changes in currency exchange rates, from high and volatile rates of inflation, from economic, social and political conditions and, as with domestic multinational corporations, from fluctuating interest rates.

Since most foreign securities are denominated in foreign currencies or traded primarily in securities markets in which settlements are made in foreign currencies, the value of these investments and the net investment income available for distribution to shareholders of the Fund may be affected favorably or unfavorably by changes in currency exchange rates or exchange control regulations. Because the Fund may purchase securities denominated in foreign currencies, a change in the value of any such currency against the U.S. dollar will result in a change in the U.S. dollar value of the Fund's assets and the Fund's income available for distribution. The Fund's foreign currency transactions may give rise to ordinary income or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes, to the extent such income or loss results from fluctuations in the value of the foreign currency.

In addition, although the Fund's income may be received or realized in foreign currencies, the Fund will be required to compute and distribute its income in U.S. dollars. Therefore, if the value of a currency relative to the U.S. dollar declines after the Fund's income has been earned in that currency, translated into U.S. dollars and declared as a dividend, but before payment of such dividend, the Fund could be required to liquidate portfolio securities to pay such dividend. Similarly, if the value of a currency relative to the U.S. dollar declines between the time the Fund incurs expenses or other obligations in U.S. dollars and the time the Fund makes those payments, the amount of local currency that must be converted in order to pay such expenses in U.S. dollars will be greater than the corresponding amount of such currency required to be converted at the time the obligations were incurred.

Certain markets are in only the earliest stages of development. There is also a high concentration of market capitalization and trading volume in a small number of issuers representing a limited number of industries, as well as a high concentration of investors and financial intermediaries. Many of such markets also may be affected by developments with respect to more established markets in the region. Brokers in foreign and emerging market countries typically are fewer in number and less capitalized than brokers in the United States. These factors, combined with the U.S. regulatory requirements for open-end investment companies and the restrictions on foreign investment, result in potentially fewer investment opportunities for the Fund and may have an adverse impact on the investment performance of the Fund. There generally is less governmental supervision and regulation of exchanges, brokers and issuers in foreign countries than there is in the United States. For example, there may be no comparable provisions under certain foreign laws to insider trading and similar investor protection securities laws that apply with respect to securities transactions consummated in the United States. Further, brokerage commissions and other transaction costs on foreign securities exchanges generally are higher than in the United States. With respect to investments in certain emerging market countries, less comprehensive legal systems may have an adverse impact on the Fund. For example, while the potential liability of a shareholder in a U.S. corporation with respect to acts of the corporation is generally limited to the amount of the shareholder's investment, the notion of limited liability is less clear in emerging market countries. Similarly, the rights of investors in emerging market companies may be more limited than those of shareholders of U.S. corporations.

Other investment risks include the possible imposition of foreign withholding taxes on certain amounts of the Fund's income which may reduce the net return on foreign investments as compared to income received from a U.S. issuer, the possible seizure or nationalization of foreign assets and the possible establishment of exchange controls, expropriation, confiscatory taxation, other foreign governmental laws or restrictions which might affect adversely payments due on securities held by the Fund, the lack of extensive operating experience of eligible foreign sub-custodians, and legal limitations on the ability of the Fund to recover assets held in custody by a foreign sub-custodian in the event of the sub-custodian's bankruptcy.

In addition, there may be less publicly available information about a foreign issuer than about a U.S. issuer, and foreign issuers may not be subject to the same accounting, auditing and financial record-keeping standards and requirements as U.S. issuers. In particular, the assets and profits appearing on the financial statements of an emerging market country issuer may not reflect its financial position or results of operations in the way they would be reflected had the financial statements been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. In addition, for an issuer that keeps accounting records in local currency, inflation accounting rules may require, for both tax and accounting purposes, that certain assets and liabilities be restated on the issuer's balance sheet in order to express items in terms of currency of constant purchasing power. Inflation accounting may indirectly generate losses or profits. Consequently, financial data may be materially affected by restatements for inflation and may not accurately reflect the real condition of those issuers and securities markets. Finally, in the event of a default of any such foreign obligations, it may be more difficult for the Fund to obtain or enforce a judgment against the issuers of such obligations. The manner in which foreign investors may invest in companies in certain emerging market countries, as well as limitations on such investments, also may have an adverse impact on the operations of the Fund. For example, the Fund may be required in certain of such countries to invest initially through a local broker or other entity and then have the shares purchased re-registered in the name of the Fund. Re-registration may in some instances not be able to occur on a timely basis, resulting in a delay during which the Fund may be denied certain of its rights as an investor.

Some foreign issuers listed on U.S. exchanges may not fully comply with U.S. audit requirements, and may be delisted as a result.

Foreign markets have different clearance and settlement procedures, and in certain markets there have been times when settlements have failed to keep pace with the volume of securities transactions, making it difficult to conduct such transactions. Further, satisfactory custodial services for investment securities may not be available in some countries having smaller emerging markets, which may result in the Fund incurring additional costs and delays in transporting and custodying such securities outside such countries. Delays in settlement or other problems could result in periods when assets of the Fund are uninvested and no return is earned thereon. The inability of the Fund to make intended security purchases due to settlement problems or the risk of intermediary counterparty failures could cause the Fund to miss attractive investment opportunities. The inability to dispose of a portfolio security due to settlement problems could result either in losses to the Fund due to subsequent declines in the value of such portfolio security or, if the Fund has entered into a contract to sell the security, could result in possible liability to the purchaser.

In addition, delivery versus payment settlement may not be possible in certain foreign markets, meaning that the Fund may at times be required to make payment for securities purchased before the Fund's custodian has actually received delivery of the securities or deliver securities prior to the receipt of payment. For example, if the Fund trades Chinese A-shares on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, the Fund may not receive cash payment for the sale of A-shares until the day following its delivery of the securities for settlement. While the Fund and its custodian (or its foreign sub-custodian) will take reasonable precautions with respect to delayed delivery transactions, there still exists the risk that the securities may not be delivered to the Fund or that payment will not be received.

# Foreign Sub-custodians

Rules adopted under the 1940 Act permit the Fund to maintain its foreign securities and cash in the custody of certain eligible foreign banks and securities depositories.

Certain banks in foreign countries may not be eligible sub-custodians for either Fund, in which event the Fund may be precluded from purchasing securities in certain foreign countries in which it otherwise would invest or which may result in the Fund's incurring additional costs and delays in providing transportation and custody services for such securities outside of such countries. The Fund may encounter difficulties in effecting on a timely basis portfolio transactions with respect to any securities of issuers held outside their countries. Other banks that are eligible foreign sub-custodians may be recently organized or otherwise lack extensive operating experience. In addition, in certain countries there may be legal restrictions or limitations on the ability of the Fund to recover assets held in custody by foreign sub-custodians in the event of the bankruptcy of the sub-custodian.

# **Futures Contracts**

Generally, a futures contract provides for the future sale by one party and purchase by another party of a specified quantity of a financial instrument, foreign currency or the cash value of an index at a specified price and time. The Fund may enter into futures contracts and related options as permitted under CFTC Rules. The Adviser expects that the Fund's futures transactions will generally include transactions: (i) on domestic and foreign exchanges on currencies, interest rates and bond indices; and (ii) on domestic and, to the extent permitted by the CFTC, foreign exchanges on stock indices. The Adviser intends to either: (i) comply with the requirements of the CEA by operating the Fund in a manner consistent with the restrictions of Rule 4.5, including filing a notice of eligibility of exemption from registration in accordance with applicable procedures and deadlines; (ii) comply with the requirements of the CEA by registering as a CPO with the CFTC and the National Futures Association; or (iii) operate the Fund in a manner such that the Fund will not be a "commodity pool" under the CEA. CFTC regulations governing the use of commodity interests, including certain futures contracts, by investment companies such as the Fund may be subject to amendment. Amendments to such regulations by the CFTC may affect the ability of the Fund to use futures and commodity interests, and could affect the Fund's ability to achieve its investment objective.

Futures contracts are generally bought and sold on the commodities exchanges on which they are listed with payment of initial and variation margin as described below. The sale of a futures contract creates a firm obligation by the Fund, as seller, to deliver to the buyer the specific type of financial instrument called for in the contract at a specific future time for a specified price (or, with respect to certain instruments, the net cash amount). The Fund may use futures contracts and related options for hedging purposes and for investment purposes. The Fund's use of financial futures contracts and options thereon will in all cases be consistent with applicable regulatory requirements and in particular the rules and regulations of the CFTC. Maintaining a futures contract or selling an option on a futures contract will typically require the Fund to deposit with a financial intermediary, as security for its obligations, an amount of cash or other specified assets ("initial margin") that initially is from 1% to 10% of the face amount of the contract (but may be higher in some circumstances). Additional cash or assets ("variation margin") may be required to be deposited thereafter daily as the mark-to-market value of the futures contract fluctuates. The value of all futures contracts sold by the Fund (adjusted for the historical volatility relationship between the Fund and the contracts) will not exceed the total market value of the Fund's securities.

# Hedging

Although each Fund is permitted to actively hedge currencies or assets, the Funds do not anticipate, under normal market conditions, actively hedging currencies or assets to any material extent. Hedging is a strategy in which a derivative is used to offset the risks associated with other Fund holdings. Losses on the other investment may be substantially reduced by gains on a derivative that reacts in an opposite manner to market movements. While hedging can reduce losses, it can also reduce or eliminate gains or cause losses if the market moves in a manner different from that anticipated by the Funds or if the cost of the derivative outweighs the benefit of the hedge. Hedging also involves correlation risk, i.e. the risk that changes in the value of the derivative will not match those of the holdings being hedged as expected by the Funds, in which case any losses on the holdings being hedged may not be reduced or may be increased.

The inability to close options and futures positions also could have an adverse impact on a Fund's ability to effectively hedge its portfolio. There is also a risk of loss by the Fund of margin deposits or collateral in the event of bankruptcy of a broker with whom the Fund has an open position in an option, a futures contract or a related option. There can be no assurance that the Fund's hedging strategies will be effective. The Fund is not required to engage in hedging transactions and the Fund may choose not to do so

# **High Yield Securities**

The Fund may invest in high yield securities. High yield securities are considered speculative with respect to the issuer's capacity to pay interest and repay principal in accordance with the terms of the obligations. Under rating agency guidelines, any quality and protective characteristics of high yield securities will likely be outweighed by large uncertainties or major risk exposures to adverse conditions. In certain instances, high yield securities may decline precipitously or become worthless. Medium and lower rated securities may have poor prospects of ever attaining any real investment standing, may have a current identifiable vulnerability to default, may be unlikely to have the capacity to pay interest and repay principal when due in the event of adverse business, financial or economic conditions, and/or may be in default or not current in the payment of interest or principal. The Fund's achievement of its objective may be more dependent on the Adviser's own credit analysis than would be the case if the Fund invested in higher rated fixed income securities.

The credit ratings of S&P, Fitch, Moody's or other agencies are evaluations of the safety of principal and interest payments, not market value risk, of lower-rated securities. Credit rating agencies may fail to change timely the credit ratings to reflect subsequent events. Many debt securities in international markets, especially in emerging markets, bear no rating whatsoever. Ratings organizations have declined to determine ratings for such securities for a host of reasons, including but not limited to the issuer's lack of scale, insufficient or inadequate disclosure by the issuer, or insufficient operating history on the part of the issuer.

Neither the Fund nor the Adviser can conclude that ratings issued by recognized agencies reflect the true financial position of the underlying issuer; nor can the Fund or the Adviser be certain an issuer will maintain its current credit rating in the future. When available, the Adviser may refer to selected ratings from recognized agencies. The Adviser may also choose to augment such ratings with its own analyses of issuers, which may include, among other things, review of historic and current financial conditions and anticipated future cash flows.

Changes in Credit Ratings. Changes by recognized rating services in their ratings of a high yield security and in the ability of an issuer to make payments of interest and principal may also affect the value of these investments. A description of the ratings used by Moody's and S&P is set forth in Appendix A to this SAI. The ratings of Moody's and S&P generally represent the opinions of those organizations as to the quality of the securities that they rate. Such ratings, however, are relative and subjective, are not absolute standards of quality, are subject to change and do not evaluate the market risk or liquidity of the securities. Ratings of a non-U.S. debt instrument, to the extent that those ratings are undertaken, are related to evaluations of the country in which the issuer of the instrument is located, which may cause a rating to be lower than would otherwise by suggested by the intrinsic creditworthiness of the issuer.

Liquidity. The secondary markets for high yield securities are not as liquid as the secondary markets for higher rated securities. The secondary markets for high yield securities are concentrated in relatively few market makers and participants in the market are mostly institutional investors, including insurance companies, banks, other financial institutions and mutual Fund. In addition, the trading volume for high yield securities is generally lower than that for higher-rated securities and the secondary markets could contract under adverse market or economic conditions independent of any specific adverse changes in the condition of a particular issuer, decreasing the liquidity of the high yield securities held in the Fund's portfolio. These factors may have an adverse effect on the ability of the Fund holding such securities to dispose of particular portfolio investments at the price it would wish, may adversely affect the Fund's net asset value per share and may limit the ability of the Fund to obtain accurate market quotations for purposes of valuing securities and calculating net asset value.

Legislative and Regulatory Developments. Prices for high yield securities may be affected by legislative and regulatory developments. These laws could adversely affect the Fund's net asset value and investment practices, the secondary market for high yield securities, the financial condition of issuers of these securities and the value of outstanding high yield securities. For example, federal legislation requiring the divestiture by federally insured savings and loan associations of their investments in high yield bonds and limiting the deductibility of interest by certain corporate issuers of high yield bonds adversely affected the market in prior years.

High Yield Corporate Securities. While the market values of securities rated below investment grade and comparable unrated securities tend to react less to fluctuations in interest rate levels than do those of higher-rated securities, the values of certain of these securities also tend to be more sensitive to individual corporate developments and changes in economic conditions than higher-rated securities. In addition, such securities present a higher degree of credit risk. Issuers of these securities are often highly leveraged and may not have more traditional methods of financing available to them, so that their ability to service their debt obligations during an economic downturn or during sustained periods of rising interest rates may be impaired. The risk of loss due to default by such issuers is significantly greater than with investment grade securities because such securities generally are unsecured and subordinated to the prior payment of senior indebtedness. The Fund also may incur additional expenses to the extent that it is required to seek recovery upon a default in the payment of principal or interest on its portfolio holdings. These risks may be greater for non-U.S. high yield securities especially those of issuers located in emerging markets.

The development of markets for high yield corporate securities has been a relatively recent phenomenon, especially outside the United States. In addition, these markets have undergone significant changes in the past and may undergo significant changes in the future.

Most of the high yield securities in which the Fund invests will bear interest at fixed rates but the Fund may also invest in securities with variable rates of interest or which involve equity features, such as contingent interest or participations based on revenues, sales or profits (i.e., interest or other payments, often in addition to a fixed rate of return, that are based on the borrower's attainment of specified levels of revenues, sales or profits and thus enable the holder of the security to share in the potential success of the venture).

High Yield Non-U.S. Debt Securities. Investing in fixed and floating rate high yield non-U.S. debt securities, especially those of issuers located in emerging market countries, will expose the Fund to the direct or indirect consequences of political, social or economic changes in the countries that issue the securities or in which the issuers are located, in addition to the risks of investing in high yield securities generally. For example, the ability and willingness of sovereign obligors in emerging market countries or the governmental authorities that control repayment of their external debt to pay principal and interest on such debt when due may depend on general economic and political conditions within the relevant country. Certain countries in which the Fund may invest, especially emerging market countries, have historically experienced, and may continue to experience, high rates of inflation, high interest rates, exchange rate trade difficulties and extreme poverty and unemployment. Many of these countries are also characterized by political uncertainty or instability. Additional factors which may influence the ability or willingness to service debt include, but are not limited to, an issuer's (including sovereign issuers) cash flow situation, the availability of sufficient foreign exchange on the date a payment is due, and the relative size of its debt service burden. Non-U.S. issuers, including government issuers, may also have debt (such as commercial bank debt) that is senior to its high yield securities.

The ability of a non-U.S. sovereign obligor, especially an obligor in an emerging market country, to make timely payments on its external debt obligations will also be strongly influenced by the obligor's balance of payments, including export performance, its access to international credit and investments, fluctuations in interest rates and the extent of its foreign reserves, and the issuing government's policy toward the International Monetary Fund, the World Bank and other international agencies. A country whose exports are concentrated in a few commodities or whose economy depends on certain strategic imports could be vulnerable to fluctuations in international prices of these commodities or imports. To the extent that a country receives payment for its exports in currencies other than dollars, its ability to make debt payments denominated in dollars could be adversely affected. If a non-U.S. sovereign obligor cannot generate sufficient earnings from foreign trade to service its external debt, it may need to depend on continuing loans and aid from foreign governments, commercial banks and multilateral organizations, and inflows of foreign investment. The commitment on the part of these foreign governments, multilateral organizations and others to make such disbursements may be conditioned on the government's implementation of economic reforms and/or economic performance and the timely service of its obligations. Failure to implement such reforms, achieve such levels of economic performance or repay principal or interest when due may result in the cancellation of such third parties' commitments to lend funds, which may further impair the obligor's ability or willingness to timely service its debts. The cost of servicing external debt will also generally be adversely affected by rising international interest rates, because many external debt obligations bear interest at rates which are adjusted based upon international interest rates. The ability to service external debt will also depend on the level of the re

As a result of the foregoing or other factors, a governmental obligor, especially an obligor in an emerging market country, may default on its obligations. If such an event occurs, the Fund may have limited legal recourse against the issuer and/or guarantor. Remedies must, in some cases, be pursued in the courts of the defaulting party itself, and the ability of the holder of non-U.S. sovereign debt securities to obtain recourse may be subject to the political climate in the relevant country.

### **Illiquid Investments**

The Fund may invest up to 15% of its net assets in illiquid investments. An illiquid investment is a security or other position that a fund reasonably expects cannot be sold or disposed of in current market conditions in seven calendar days or less without the sale or disposition significantly changing the market value of the investment.

To the extent that instruments that the Fund holds become illiquid due to the lack of sufficient buyers or markets or other conditions, the percentage of the Fund's assets invested in illiquid investments would increase. The Adviser, under the supervision of the Board, monitors Fund ownership of illiquid investments and will, in such a case, consider appropriate measures to enable the Fund to maintain sufficient liquidity for operating purposes and to meet redemption requests.

### **Inflation-Indexed Bonds**

Inflation-indexed bonds are fixed income securities whose principal value is periodically adjusted according to the rate of inflation. Two structures are common. The U.S. Treasury and some other issuers use a structure that accrues inflation into the principal value of the bond. Most other issuers pay out the CPI accruals as part of a semiannual coupon.

Inflation-indexed securities issued by the U.S. Treasury have maturities of five, ten or twenty years, although it is possible that securities with other maturities will be issued in the future. The U.S. Treasury securities pay interest on a semiannual basis, equal to a fixed percentage of the inflation-adjusted principal amount. For example, if the Fund purchased an inflation-indexed bond with a par value of \$1,000 and a 3% real rate of return coupon (payable 1.5% semi-annually), and inflation over the first six months were 1%, the mid-year par value of the bond would be \$1,010 and the first semi-annual interest payment would be \$15.15 (\$1,010 times 1.5%). If inflation during the second half of the year resulted in the whole year's inflation equaling 3%, the end-of-year par value of the bond would be \$1,030 and the second semi-annual interest payment would be \$15.45 (\$1.030 times 1.5%).

If the periodic adjustment rate measuring inflation falls, the principal value of inflation-indexed bonds will be adjusted downward, and consequently the interest payable on these securities (calculated with respect to a smaller principal amount) will be reduced. Repayment of the original bond principal upon maturity (as adjusted for inflation) is guaranteed in the case of U.S. Treasury inflation-indexed bonds, even during a period of deflation. However, the current market value of the bonds is not guaranteed, and will fluctuate. The Fund may also invest in other inflation related bonds that may or may not provide a similar guarantee. If a guarantee of principal is not provided, the adjusted principal value of the bond repaid at maturity may be less than the original principal. The value of inflation-indexed bonds is expected to change in response to changes in real interest rates. Real interest rates in turn are tied to the relationship between nominal interest rates and the rate of inflation.

### Initial Public Offerings (IPOs) Risk

IPOs of securities issued by unseasoned companies with little or no operating history are risky and their prices are highly volatile, but they can result in very large gains in their initial trading. Attractive IPOs are often oversubscribed and may not be available to the Fund, or only in very limited quantities. Thus, when the Fund's size is smaller, any gains or losses from IPOs may have an exaggerated impact on the Fund's performance than when the Fund is larger. Although IPO investments have had a positive impact on the performance of some funds, there can be no assurance that the Fund will have favorable IPO investment opportunities in the future, or that the Fund's investments in IPOs will have a positive impact on the Fund's performance.

### **Interest-Only Securities**

Interest only securities ("IOs") are a form of stripped mortgage security. Stripped mortgage securities may be issued by agencies or instrumentalities of the U.S. government, or by private originators of, or investors in, mortgage loans, including savings and loan associations, mortgage banks and special purpose subsidiaries of the foregoing. The risk of early prepayment is the primary risk associated with IOs.

Stripped mortgage securities are structured with two or more classes of securities that receive different proportions of the interest and principal distributions on a pool of mortgage assets. IOs are one class of a stripped mortgage security that receives all of the interest (while another class will receive all of the principal ("POs" or "principal only class")).

## **Interest Rate and Equity Swaps and Related Transactions**

The Fund may enter into interest rate and equity swaps and may purchase or sell (i.e., write) interest rate and equity caps, floors and collars. The Fund expects to enter into these transactions in order to hedge against either a decline in the value of the securities included in the Fund's portfolio, or against an increase in the price of the securities which it plans to purchase, in order to preserve or maintain a return or spread on a particular investment or portion of its portfolio or to achieve a particular return on cash balances, or in order to increase income or gain. Interest rate and equity swaps involve the exchange by the Fund with another party of their respective commitments to make or receive payments based on a notional principal amount. The purchase of an interest rate or equity cap entitles the purchaser, to the extent that a specified index exceeds a predetermined level, to receive payments on a contractually-based principal amount from the party selling the interest rate or equity cap. The purchase of an interest rate or equity floor entitles the purchaser, to the extent that a specified index falls below a predetermined rate, to receive payments on a contractually-based principal amount from the party selling the interest rate or equity floor. A collar is a combination of a cap and a floor that preserves a certain return within a predetermined range of values.

The Fund will usually enter into interest rate and equity swaps on a net basis (i.e., the two payment streams are netted out), with the Fund receiving or paying, as the case may be, only the net amount of the two payments.

The use of interest rate and equity swaps is a highly specialized activity that involves investment techniques and risks different from those associated with ordinary portfolio securities transactions. If the Adviser is incorrect in its forecasts of market values, interest rates and other applicable factors, the investment performance of the Fund would diminish compared with what it would have been if these investment techniques were not utilized. Moreover, even if the Adviser is correct in its forecasts, there is a risk that the swap position may correlate imperfectly with the price of the asset or liability being hedged.

As is the case with futures and options strategies, the effective use of swaps and related transactions by the Fund may depend, among other things, on the Fund's ability to terminate the transactions at times when the Adviser deems it desirable to do so. To the extent the Fund does not, or cannot, terminate such a transaction in a timely manner, the Fund may suffer a loss in excess of any amounts that it may have received, or expected to receive, as a result of entering into the transaction.

The liquidity of swap agreements will be determined by the Adviser based on various factors, including (i) the frequency of trades and quotations, (ii) the number of dealers and prospective purchasers in the marketplace, (iii) dealer undertakings to make a market, (iv) the nature of the security (including any demand or tender features), and (v) the nature of the marketplace for trades (including the ability to assign or offset the Fund's rights and obligations relating to the investment).

There is no limit on the amount of interest rate and equity swap transactions that may be entered into by the Fund. The effective use of swaps and related transactions by the Fund may depend, among other things, on the Fund's ability to terminate the transactions at times when the Adviser deems it desirable to do so. Because swaps and related transactions are bilateral contractual arrangements between the Fund and counterparties to the transactions, the Fund's ability to terminate such an arrangement may be considerably more limited than in the case of an exchange traded instrument. To the extent the Fund does not, or cannot, terminate such a transaction in a timely manner, the Fund may suffer a loss in excess of any amounts that it may have received, or expected to receive, as a result of entering into the transaction. If the other party to a swap defaults, the Fund's risk of loss is the net amount of payments that the Fund contractually is entitled to receive, if any. The Fund may purchase and sell caps, floors and collars without limitation.

### **Interest Rate Futures Contracts**

The Fund may enter into interest rate futures contracts, for example, in order to protect it from fluctuations in interest rates without necessarily buying or selling fixed income securities. An interest rate futures contract is an agreement to take or make delivery of either: (i) an amount of cash equal to the difference between the value of a particular debt security or index of debt securities at the beginning and at the end of the contract period; or (ii) a specified amount of a particular debt security at a future date at a price set at time of the contract. For example, if the Fund owns bonds, and interest rates are expected to increase, the Fund might sell futures contracts on debt securities having characteristics similar to those held in the portfolio. Such a sale would have much the same effect as selling an equivalent value of the bonds owned by the Fund. If interest rates did increase, the value of the debt securities in the portfolio would decline, but the value of the futures contracts to the Fund would increase at approximately the same rate, thereby keeping the net asset value of the Fund from declining as much as it otherwise would have. The Fund could accomplish similar results by selling bonds with longer maturities and investing in bonds with shorter maturities when interest rates are expected to increase. However, because the futures make the guitar be market may be more liquid than the cash market, the use of futures contracts as a risk management technique allows the Fund to take a position without having to sell its portfolio securities. Similarly, when the Adviser expects that interest rates may decline, the Fund may purchase interest rate futures contracts in an attempt to hedge against having to make subsequently anticipated purchases of bonds at the higher prices subsequently expected to prevail. Since the fluctuations in the value of appropriately selected futures contracts should be similar to that of the bonds without actually buying them until the market had stabilized.

The use of options and futures transactions entails risks. In particular, the variable degree of correlation between price movements of futures contracts and price movements in the related portfolio position of the Fund could create the possibility that losses on the derivative will be greater than gains in the value of the Fund's position. In addition, futures and options markets could be illiquid in some circumstances and certain OTC options could have no markets. The Fund might not be able to close out certain positions without incurring substantial losses. To the extent the Fund utilizes futures and options transactions for hedging, such transactions should tend to decrease the risk of loss due to a decline in the value of the hedged position and, at the same time, limit any potential gain to the Fund that might result from an increase in value of the position. There is also the risk of loss by the Fund of margin deposits in the event of bankruptcy of a broker with whom the Fund has an open position in a futures contract or option thereon. Finally, the daily variation margin requirements for futures contracts create a greater ongoing potential financial risk than would purchases of options, in which case the exposure is limited to the cost of the initial premium and transaction costs.

### **Investment Risk Management**

The Fund's Adviser, Seafarer Capital Partners, LLC, utilizes various techniques to manage risks arising from the investment and portfolio construction processes. Those techniques include researching risks within the portfolio's holdings, understanding the risks that those holdings present, and monitoring such risks within the portfolio on an ongoing basis.

Seafarer's investment team meets regularly to review portfolio holdings, evaluate the associated risks, assess the portfolio managers' conviction levels on such holdings, and determine decision points for the purchase and sale of holdings. Seafarer will typically cause the Fund to sell positions in individual securities when it no longer believes those positions present attractive long-term growth opportunities relative to other possible investments.

All investments involve risk and there can be no guarantee against loss resulting from an investment in the Fund, nor can there be any assurance that the Fund's investment objective will be attained. This SAI contains supplemental information about risks of investing in the Fund. Further information about the principal risks of investing in the Fund can be found in the Fund's Prospectus.

### **Loans of Portfolio Securities**

The Fund may lend portfolio securities to brokers or dealers or other financial institutions in accordance with policies and procedures of the Trust, as may be adopted from time to time. The procedure for the lending of securities will typically include the following features and conditions. The collateral will consist either of U.S. Government Securities or the borrower of the securities will deposit cash with the Fund in an amount equal to a minimum of 100% of the market value of the securities lent. The Fund will seek to invest the collateral in short-term debt securities, cash equivalents (or pooled investment vehicle interests in cash, cash equivalents and short-term debt instruments) and earn the income thereon. The Fund, and ultimately the Fund's shareholders, bears the risk of such investments, including the risk of loss of the entire cash collateral received for loaned securities. A negotiated portion of the income so earned may be paid to the borrower or the broker who arranged the loan. The collateral will be marked to market daily, and if the value of the collateral drops below the required minimum at any time, the borrower may typically be called upon to post additional collateral. These will be "demand" loans and may be terminated by the Fund at any time. The Fund will receive an amount equivalent to the dividends and interest paid on the securities lent, although the U.S. federal income tax characteristics of such payment may change. The Fund's performance will continue to reflect changes in the value of the securities loaned.

These transactions must be fully collateralized at all times, but involve some credit risk to the Fund if the borrower or the party (if any) guaranteeing the loan should default on its obligations. In the event of the default or bankruptcy of the other party to a securities loan, the Fund could experience delays in recovering the securities it lent. To the extent that, in the meantime, the value of the securities the Fund lent has increased or the value of the collateral decreased, the Fund could experience a loss. In the event of a default by the borrower, the Fund will, if permitted by law, dispose of such collateral except that the Fund may retain any such part thereof that is a security in which the Fund is permitted to invest.

Title to a loaned security, and thus the ability to cast proxy votes, passes to the borrower, unless recalled sufficiently in advance of the proxy record date. The Adviser generally does not recall loaned securities for the purpose of proxy voting; however, the Adviser reserves the right to do so if it is deemed in the interest of the Fund, under the sole discretion of the Fund's appointed portfolio manager(s). Nonetheless, the Adviser may not be able to recall the securities in time for the Fund to be the owner on the record date for determining shareholders entitled to vote on the matter. Additionally, the Board has a fiduciary obligation to recall securities on loan in time to vote proxies if the Fund has knowledge of a material event with respect to such securities.

### **Market Risk**

The market price of securities owned by any Fund may go up or down, sometimes rapidly or unpredictably.

Securities may decline in value due to factors affecting securities markets generally or particular industries represented in the securities markets. The value of a security may decline due to general market conditions which are not specifically related to a particular company, such as real or perceived adverse economic conditions, changes in the general outlook for corporate earnings, changes in interest or currency rates, political events, natural disasters, the spread of infectious diseases or other public health issues, or adverse investor sentiment generally. They may also decline due to factors which affect a particular industry or industries, such as labor shortages or increased production costs and competitive conditions within an industry. During a general downturn in the securities markets, multiple asset classes may decline in value simultaneously.

Equity securities generally have greater price volatility than fixed-income securities.

#### **Money Market Instruments/Securities**

The Fund may hold money market instruments, including commercial paper, bankers acceptances, certificates of deposit and other short term debt securities as ancillary liquid assets.

## Mortgage-Related and Other Asset Backed Securities

Mortgage-related securities are interests in pools of residential or commercial mortgage loans, including mortgage loans made by savings and loan institutions, mortgage bankers, commercial banks and others. Pools of mortgage loans are assembled as securities for sale to investors by various governmental, government-related and private organizations. The Fund may also invest in debt securities that are secured with collateral consisting of mortgage-related securities.

Under the direction of the Federal Housing Finance Agency, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac have entered into a joint initiative to develop a common securitization platform for the issuance of a uniform mortgage-backed security (the "Single Security Initiative"), which would generally align the characteristics of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac certificates. The Single Security Initiative was launched in June 2019, and as of this time, the long-term effects it may have on the market for mortgage-backed securities remains uncertain.

### **Options**

A put option gives the purchaser of the option, upon payment of a premium, the right to sell, and the writer of the option the obligation to buy (if the option is exercised), the underlying security, index, currency or other instrument at the exercise price. The Fund's purchase of a put option on a security, for example, might be designed to protect its holdings in the underlying instrument (or, in some cases, a similar instrument) against a substantial decline in the market value of such instrument by giving the Fund the right to sell the instrument at the option exercise price. A call option, upon payment of a premium, gives the purchaser of the option the right to buy (if the option is exercised), and the seller the obligation to sell, the underlying instrument at the exercise price. The Fund's purchase of a call option on a security, financial futures contract, index, currency or other instrument might be intended to protect the Fund against an increase in the price of the underlying instrument that it intends to purchase in the future by fixing the price at which it may purchase the instrument. An "American" style put or call option may be exercised only upon expiration or during a fixed period prior to expiration. Exchange-listed options are issued by a regulated intermediary such as the Options Clearing Corporation ("OCC"), which guarantees the performance of the obligations of the parties to the options.

In order to hedge against adverse market shifts or to potentially increase income or gain, the Fund may purchase put and call options or write "covered" put and call options on futures contracts on stocks, stock indices, interest rates and currencies. In addition, the Fund may utilize options on currencies in order to hedge against currency exchange rate risks or to gain exposure to one or more currencies. A call option written by the Fund is "covered" so long as the Fund owns: (i) the underlying investment subject to the option; (ii) securities convertible or exchangeable without the payment of any consideration into the securities subject to the option; or (iii) a call option on the relevant security or currency with an exercise price no higher than the exercise price on the call option written. A put option written by the Fund is "covered" if the Fund has certain offsetting puts. Parties to options transactions must make certain payments and/or set aside certain amounts of assets in connection with each transaction.

By writing a call, the Fund will generally limit its opportunity to profit from an increase in the market value of the underlying investment above the exercise price of the option for as long as the Fund's obligation as writer of the option continues. By writing a put, the Fund will generally limit its opportunity to profit from a decrease in the market value of the underlying investment below the exercise price of the option for as long as the Fund's obligation as writer of the option continues. Upon the exercise of a put option written by the Fund, the Fund may suffer an economic loss equal to the difference between the price at which the Fund is required to purchase the underlying investment and its market value at the time of the option exercise, less the premium received for writing the option. Upon the exercise of a call option written by the Fund, the Fund may suffer an economic loss equal to an amount not less than the Fund's acquisition cost of the investment underlying the option, less the sum of the premium received for writing the option and the exercise price paid to the Fund.

The Fund may choose to exercise the options it holds, permit them to expire or terminate them prior to their expiration by entering into closing transactions. The Fund may enter into a closing purchase transaction in which the Fund purchases an option having the same terms as the option it had written or a closing sale transaction in which the Fund sells an option having the same terms as the option it had purchased.

Exchange-listed options on securities and currencies, with certain exceptions, generally settle by physical delivery of the underlying security or currency, although in the future, cash settlement may become available. Frequently, rather than taking or making delivery of the underlying instrument through the process of exercising the option, listed options are closed by entering into offsetting purchase or sale transactions that do not result in ownership of the new option. Index options are cash settled for the net amount, if any, by which the option is "in-the-money" (that is, the amount by which the value of the underlying instrument exceeds, in the case of a call option, or is less than, in the case of a put option, the exercise price of the option) at the time the option is exercised.

OTC options are purchased from or sold to securities dealers, financial institutions or other parties (collectively referred to as "counterparties" and individually referred to as a "counterparty") through a direct bilateral agreement with the counterparty. In contrast to exchange-listed options, which generally have standardized terms and performance mechanics, the terms of an OTC option, including such terms as method of settlement, term, exercise price, premium, guaranties and security, are determined by negotiation of the parties.

Unless the parties provide for it, no central clearing or guaranty function is involved in an OTC option. As a result, if a counterparty fails to make or take delivery of the security, currency or other instrument underlying an OTC option it has entered into with the Fund or fails to make a cash settlement payment due in accordance with the terms of that option, the Fund will lose any premium it paid for the option as well as any anticipated benefit of the transaction. Thus, the Adviser must assess the creditworthiness of each such counterparty or any guarantor or credit enhancement of the counterparty's credit to determine the likelihood that the terms of the OTC option will be met.

If the Fund sells a call option, the premium that it receives may serve as a partial hedge, to the extent of the option premium, against a decrease in the value of the underlying securities or instruments held by the Fund or will increase the Fund's income. Similarly, the sale of put options can also provide gains for the Fund. The Fund may purchase and sell call options on securities that are traded on U.S. and foreign securities exchanges and in the OTC markets, and on securities indices, currencies and futures contracts. Even though the Fund will receive the option premium to help protect it against loss, use of options could result in losses to the Fund, force the purchase or sale of portfolio securities at inopportune times or for prices higher or lower than current market values, or cause the Fund to hold a security it might otherwise sell or sell a security it might otherwise hold.

The Fund's ability to close out its position as a purchaser or seller of an OCC-issued or exchange-listed put or call option is dependent, in part, upon the liquidity of the particular option market. Among the possible reasons for the absence of a liquid option market on an exchange are: (i) insufficient trading interest in certain options; (ii) restrictions on transactions imposed by an exchange; (iii) trading halts, suspensions or other restrictions imposed with respect to particular classes or series of options or underlying securities, including reaching daily price limits; (iv) interruption of the normal operations of the OCC or an exchange; (v) inadequacy of the facilities of an exchange or the OCC to handle current trading volume; or (vi) a decision by one or more exchanges to discontinue the trading of options (or a particular class or series of options), in which event the relevant market for that option on that exchange would cease to exist, although any such outstanding options on that exchange would continue to be exercisable in accordance with their terms.

The hours of trading for listed options may not coincide with the hours during which the underlying financial instruments are traded. To the extent that the option markets close before the markets for the underlying financial instruments, significant price and rate movements can take place in the underlying markets that would not be reflected in the corresponding option markets.

The Fund reserves the right to purchase or sell options on instruments and indices other than those described here and which may be developed in the future to the extent consistent with applicable law, the Fund's investment objective and the restrictions set forth herein.

### **Options on Currencies**

The Fund may invest in options on currencies traded on domestic and foreign securities exchanges in order to hedge against currency exchange rate risks or to increase income or gain, as described above in "Currency Transactions."

### **Options on Futures Contracts**

The Fund may purchase put and call options and write covered put and call options on futures contracts on stock indices, interest rates and currencies traded on domestic and, to the extent permitted by the CFTC, foreign exchanges, in order to hedge all or a portion of its investments or to increase income or gain and may enter into closing transactions in order to terminate existing positions. There is no guarantee that such closing transactions can be affected. An option on a stock index futures contract, interest rate futures contract or currency futures contract, as contrasted with the direct investment in such a contract, gives the purchaser the right, in return for the premium paid, to assume a position in the underlying contract at a specified exercise price at any time on or before the expiration date of the option. Upon exercise of an option, the delivery of the futures position by the writer of the option to the holder of the option will be accompanied by delivery of the accumulated balance in the writer's futures margin account. The potential loss related to the purchase of an option on a futures contract is limited to the premium paid for the option (plus transaction costs). While the price of the option is fixed at the point of sale, the value of the option does change daily and the change would be reflected in the net asset value of the Fund.

The purchase of an option on a financial futures contract involves payment of a premium for the option without any further obligation on the part of the Fund. If the Fund exercises an option on a futures contract it will be obligated to post initial margin (and potentially variation margin) for the resulting futures position just as it would for any futures position. Futures contracts and options thereon are generally settled by entering into an offsetting transaction, but no assurance can be given that a position can be offset prior to settlement or that delivery will occur.

### **Options on Stocks and Stock Indices**

The Fund may purchase put and call options and write covered put and call options on stocks and stock indices in order to hedge against movements in the equity markets or to potentially increase income or gain to the Fund. In addition, the Fund may purchase options on stocks that are traded over-the-counter. Options on stock indices are similar to options on specific securities. However, because options on stock indices do not involve the delivery of an underlying security, the option represents the holder's right to obtain from the writer cash in an amount equal to a fixed multiple of the amount by which the exercise price exceeds (in the case of a put) or is less than (in the case of a call) the closing value of the underlying stock index on the exercise date. Options are also traded in certain industry or market segment indices such as the Oil Index, the Computer Technology Index, and the Transportation Index. Stock index options are subject to position and exercise limits and other regulations imposed by the exchange on which they are traded.

If the Adviser expects general stock market prices to rise, the Fund might purchase a call option on a stock index or a futures contract on that index as a hedge against an increase in prices of particular equity securities it wants ultimately to buy. If the stock index does rise, the price of the particular equity securities intended to be purchased may also increase, but that increase should be offset in part by the increase in the value of the Fund's index option or futures contract resulting from the increase in the index. If, on the other hand, the Adviser expects general stock market prices to decline, it might purchase a put option or sell a futures contract on the index. If that index does decline, the value of some or all of the equity securities in the Fund's portfolio may also be expected to decline, but that decrease would be offset in part by the increase in the value of the Fund's position in such put option or futures contract.

### Portfolio Turnover

The Fund is intended as a long-term investment vehicle. As such, it does not intend to engage in short-term trading; however, it may do so from time to time. This means that the Fund may buy a security and sell that security a short period of time after its purchase to realize gains if the portfolio manager believes that the sale is in the best interest of the Fund (for example, if the portfolio manager believes an alternative investment has greater growth potential). The Fund will effect portfolio transactions without regard to any holding period if, in Fund management's judgment, such transactions are advisable in light of a change in circumstances of a particular company or within a particular industry or in general market, economic or financial conditions. Such activity will increase the Fund's portfolio turnover rate and generate higher transaction costs due to commissions or dealer mark-ups and other expenses that would reduce the Fund's investment performance. In addition, a high level of short-term trading may increase the amount of taxable distributions to shareholders that would reduce the after-tax returns of the Fund, and in particular may generate short-term capital gains that when distributed to shareholders are taxed as ordinary income. Please note that shareholder activity (redemptions or subscriptions to the Fund) may influence the Fund's portfolio turnover rate.

Portfolio turnover may vary greatly from year to year as well as within a particular year, and may be affected by cash requirements for redemption of shares. The Fund is not restricted by policy with regard to portfolio turnover and will make changes in investment portfolios from time to time as business and economic conditions as well as market prices may dictate.

### **Preferred Stock**

Preferred stocks, like debt obligations, are generally fixed-income securities. Shareholders of preferred stocks normally have the right to receive dividends at a fixed rate when and as declared by the issuer's board of directors, but do not participate in other amounts available for distribution by the issuing corporation. Dividends on the preferred stock may be cumulative, and generally all cumulative dividends must be paid prior to common shareholders receiving any dividends. Because as a general matter preferred stock dividends must be paid before common stock dividends, preferred stocks generally entail less risk than common stocks. Upon liquidation, preferred stocks are generally entitled to a specified liquidation preference, which is generally the same as the par or stated value, and are senior in right of payment to common stock. Preferred stocks are, however, equity securities in the sense that they do not represent a liability of the issuer and, therefore, do not offer as great a degree of protection of capital or assurance of continued income as investments in corporate debt securities. In addition, preferred stocks are subordinated in right of payment to all debt obligations and creditors of the issuer, and convertible preferred stocks may be subordinated to other preferred stock of the same issuer.

### **Public Health Emergencies Risk**

The impact of pandemics and other national and international public health emergencies may result in market volatility and severe economic disruptions. Public health emergencies may exacerbate pre- existing political, social, financial, and economic risks in certain countries. The operations of individual companies and the value of their securities (including equity and debt) may be severely affected by public health restrictions, supply chain shortages, and other disruptions. The effects of public health emergencies may last for an extended period of time, and the impact on developing or emerging market countries may be greater due to less established health care systems. The public health emergency caused by Covid-19 is still ongoing and may impact economic activity and financial markets in ways that cannot necessarily be foreseen at present.

### Regional and Country Risks

Social, political and economic conditions and changes in regulatory, tax or economic policy in a country or region could significantly affect the market in that country or region. In addition, global economies and financial markets are becoming increasingly interconnected, which increases the possibility that conditions in one country or region might adversely impact the issuers of securities in a different country or region. From time to time, a small number of companies and industries may represent a large portion of the market in a particular country or region, and these companies and industries can be sensitive to adverse social, political, economic or regulatory developments.

In addition to the risks discussed above, there are specific risks associated with investing in the emerging market regions, including the risk of severe economic, political or military disruption. Emerging markets comprise countries in all stages of economic development. Regional risks include, but are not limited to: energy dependence, political unrest, regime change, religious revolution, natural disaster, nuclear accidents, famine, and civil war. Regional risks build over time and may become fundamental risks to investing in a particular region. The histories of Apartheid in South Africa or Communist rule in Vietnam are examples of regional risks that may continue to affect performance of economies in those respective regions.

Many emerging market economies may experience overextension of credit, currency devaluations and restrictions, rising unemployment, high inflation, underdeveloped financial services sectors, heavy reliance on international trade, and prolonged economic recessions. Many emerging market economies are dependent on foreign supplies of energy. A significant increase in energy prices could have an adverse impact on these economies. Many nations in the emerging market regions continue to maintain high levels of debt and will be adversely affected by future credit restrictions or currency devaluations.

The economies of many Asia Pacific countries (especially those whose development has been export-driven) are dependent on the economies of the United States, Europe and other Asian countries, and, as seen in the recent developments in global credit and equity markets, events in any of these economies could negatively impact the economies of Asia Pacific countries.

Currency fluctuations, devaluations and trading restrictions in any one country can sometimes be extreme, and may cause financial losses within the Fund's portfolio. In addition, such currency fluctuations in one country can sometimes beget significant and widespread effects on other countries and regions (sometimes known as "contagion"). Also, increased political and social instability in any one country could cause further economic and market uncertainty in the region, or result in significant downturns and volatility in the economies of surrounding nations. As an example, in the late 1990s, the economies in the Asian region suffered significant downturns and increased volatility in their financial markets. A financial crisis of the magnitude witnessed in 2008 cannot be predicted with certainty; nor can major economic downturns, political instability, or military conflicts.

The development of Asia Pacific economies, and particularly those of China, Japan and South Korea, may also be affected by political, military, economic and other factors related to North Korea. Negotiations to ease tensions and resolve the political division of the Korean peninsula have been carried on from time to time producing sporadic and inconsistent results. There have also been efforts to increase economic, cultural and humanitarian contacts among North Korea, South Korea, Japan and other nations. There can be no assurance that such negotiations or efforts will continue or will ease tensions in the region. Any military action or other instability could adversely impact the ability of the Fund to achieve its investment objective. Lack of available information regarding North Korea is also a significant risk factor.

Some companies in the region may have less established shareholder governance and disclosure standards than those in the U.S. Some companies are controlled either by families or by financial institutions whose investment decisions may be hard to predict based on standard U.S.-based equity analysis. Consequently, investments may be vulnerable to unfavorable decisions by the management or shareholders. Corporate protectionism (e.g., adoption of poison pills and restrictions on shareholders seeking to influence management) could adversely impact the value of affected companies. Governments of certain countries (typically those classified as emerging markets) may be more unstable and more likely to impose capital controls, nationalize a company or industry, place restrictions on foreign ownership and on withdrawing sale proceeds of securities from the country, and/or impose punitive taxes that could adversely affect the prices of securities. Additionally, because these markets may not be as mature, there may be increased settlement risks for transactions in local securities.

Foreign countries may be subject to sanctions or other restrictions from the U.S. and other developed markets, leading to a severe drop in the value of securities from that country. These sanctions may significantly reduce the liquidity of securities held by the Fund or prevent them from being traded at all. As a result of sanctions, securities may be suspended for extended periods of time or delisted altogether. Fund counterparties may be unwilling to transact in securities from a specific jurisdiction even if the issuer itself is not subject to sanctions. If markets for these securities cease to operate or become inaccessible to foreign investors, the Fund may be forced to fair value these securities at low levels or write them off entirely. The Fund may hold the securities of non-sanctioned companies with significant assets in a sanctioned country or that derive significant income from the sanctioned country. These companies may face pressure or be compelled by law to divest from their operations in the sanctioned country at a significant loss.

Foreign countries, particularly developing countries, may also be more susceptible to natural disasters, or adverse changes in climate or weather. Agrarian economies, or those with limited natural resources (such as oil and natural gas), may be especially vulnerable to natural disasters and climatic changes.

Country-specific events cannot easily be contained to that singular country and should be understood as a regional issue. As an example, the prevalence of drug trafficking in Mexico and Colombia is a risk to the economic and political stability of the region as a whole. As country-specific events bleed into regional risks, so can regional risks destabilize a continent or economic trading bloc.

Regional conflict in the Middle East continues to pose significant risk to investing in the economies of Egypt and Israel, among others. Actions driven by religious belief and aspirations for regional dominance cannot be fully predicted. Traditional conflict between Iran and Israel, Syria and Israel and the growth of militant factions throughout the Middle East may pose significant difficulties to investors.

In North Africa, there have been instances of civil unrest in Libya that spread to Egypt, Tunisia, and Bahrain. This civil discontent was driven by high food prices, and enabled by social networking technologies that allowed previously unconnected populations to share discontent and further drive unrest.

Europe has, in certain instances, been susceptible to serious financial hardship, high debt levels and high levels of unemployment. The European Union itself has experienced difficulties in connection with the debt loads of its member states, Greece and Italy in particular. Although Western Europe is developed, economic hardship will pose investment risk in neighboring emerging nations, including the Czech Republic, Poland and Turkey.

### Repurchase Agreements

The Fund may enter into repurchase agreements. A repurchase agreement is a transaction in which the seller of a security commits itself at the time of sale to repurchase that security from the buyer at a mutually agreed upon time and price. The resale price is in excess of the purchase price and reflects an agreed-upon market interest rate unrelated to the coupon rate on the purchased security. Such transactions afford the Fund the opportunity to earn a return on temporarily available cash at relatively low market risk. The Adviser monitors the value of the securities underlying the repurchase agreement at the time the transaction is entered into and at all times during the term of the repurchase agreement to ensure that the value of the securities always equals or exceeds the repurchase price. The Fund requires that additional securities be deposited if the value of the securities purchased decreases below their resale price so that the Fund does not bear the risk of a decline in the value of the underlying security unless the seller defaults under the repurchase obligation.

While the underlying security may be a bill, certificate of indebtedness, note or bond issued by an agency, authority or instrumentality of the U.S. government, the obligation of the seller is not guaranteed by the U.S. government and there is a risk that the seller may fail to repurchase the underlying security. In such event, the Fund would attempt to exercise rights with respect to the underlying security, including possible disposition in the market. However, the Fund may be subject to various delays and risks of loss, including (i) possible declines in the value of the underlying security during the period while the Fund seeks to enforce its rights thereto, (ii) possible reduced levels of income and lack of access to income during this period, and (iii) inability to enforce rights and the expenses involved in the attempted enforcement.

The Fund may be exposed to the credit risk of the repurchase agreement counterparty (or seller) in the event that the counterparty is unable or unwilling to close out the repurchase agreement in accordance with its terms or the parties disagree as to the meaning or application of those terms. In such an event, the Fund may be subject to expenses, delays, and risk of loss, including: (i) possible declines in the value of the underlying security while the client seeks to enforce its rights under the agreement; (ii) possible reduced levels of income and lack of access to income during this period; and (iii) the inability to enforce its rights and the expenses involved in attempted enforcement. If the seller defaults, the Fund could realize a loss on the sale of the underlying security to the extent that the proceeds of the sale including accrued interest are less than the resale price provided in the agreement including interest. In addition, if the seller should be involved in bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings, the Fund may incur delay and costs in selling the underlying security or may suffer a loss of principal and interest if the Fund is treated as an unsecured creditor and required to return the underlying collateral to the seller's estate.

Repurchase agreements with maturities of more than seven days will be treated as illiquid securities.

### Restricted Securities and Securities with Limited Trading Markets (Rule 144A)

The Fund may purchase securities for which there is a limited trading market or which are subject to restrictions on resale to the public. If the Fund were to acquire substantial positions in securities with limited trading markets, the activities of the Fund could have an adverse effect upon the liquidity and marketability of such securities and the Fund might not be able to dispose of its holdings in those securities at then current market prices. Circumstances could also exist (to satisfy redemptions, for example) when portfolio securities might have to be sold by the Fund at times which otherwise might be considered to be disadvantageous so that the Fund might receive lower proceeds from such sales than it had expected to realize. Investments in securities which are "restricted" may involve added expenses to the Fund should the Fund be required to bear registration costs with respect to such securities and could involve delays in disposing of such securities which might have an adverse effect upon the price and timing of sales of such securities and the liquidity of the Fund with respect to redemptions. Restricted securities and securities for which there is a limited trading market may be significantly more difficult to value due to the unavailability of reliable market quotations for such securities, and investment in such securities may have an adverse impact on net asset value. The Fund may purchase Rule 144A securities for which there may be a secondary market of qualified institutional buyers as contemplated by Rule 144A under the 1933 Act. Liquidity determinations with respect to Rule 144A securities will be made by the Board or by the Adviser pursuant to guidelines established by the Board. The Fund's holdings of Rule 144A securities that are considered liquid securities will not be subject to the Fund's applicable limitation on investments in illiquid securities.

### **Reverse Repurchase Agreements**

The Fund may enter into "reverse" repurchase agreements to avoid selling securities during unfavorable market conditions to meet redemptions. A repurchase agreement is a transaction in which the seller of a security commits itself at the time of sale to repurchase that security from the buyer at a mutually agreed upon time and price. The resale price is in excess of the purchase price and reflects an agreed-upon market interest rate unrelated to the coupon rate on the purchased security. Such transactions afford the Fund the opportunity to earn a return on temporarily available cash at relatively low market risk. The Adviser monitors the value of the securities underlying the repurchase agreement at the time the transaction is entered into and at all times during the term of the repurchase agreement to ensure that the value of the securities always equals or exceeds the repurchase price. The Fund requires that additional securities be deposited if the value of the securities purchased decreases below their resale price and does not bear the risk of a decline in the value of the underlying security unless the seller defaults under the repurchase obligation. Pursuant to a reverse repurchase agreement, the Fund will sell portfolio securities and agree to repurchase them from the buyer at a particular date and price. The Fund pays interest on amounts obtained pursuant to reverse repurchase agreements. Reverse repurchase agreements are considered to be borrowings by the Fund.

When entering into a reverse repurchase agreement, the Fund bears the risk of delay and costs involved in recovery of securities if the initial purchaser of the securities fails to return the securities upon repurchase or fails financially. These delays and costs could be greater with respect to foreign securities. Although securities repurchase transactions are generally marked to market daily, the Fund also faces the risk that securities subject to a reverse repurchase transaction will decline quickly in value, and the Fund will remain obligated to repurchase those securities at a higher price, potentially resulting in a loss. If the buyer in a reverse repurchase agreement files for bankruptcy or becomes insolvent, the Fund may be unable to recover the securities it sold and, as a result, would realize a loss equal to the difference between the value of those securities and the payment it received for them. In the event of a buyer's bankruptcy or insolvency, the Fund's use of proceeds from the sale of its securities may be restricted while the other party or its trustee or receiver determines whether to honor the Fund's right to repurchase the securities. Requirements under the Investment Company Act may restrict the ability of the Fund to enter into reverse repurchase agreements.

### Risk Related to Expenses

Fund expenses are subject to a variety of factors, including fluctuations in the Fund's net assets. Accordingly, actual expenses may be greater than those indicated.

## **Securities Related Activities**

In some countries, banks or other financial institutions may constitute a substantial number of the leading companies or companies with the most actively traded securities. The 1940 Act limits the Fund's ability to invest in any equity security of an issuer that, in its most recent fiscal year, derived more than 15% of its revenues from "securities related activities," as defined by the rules thereunder. These provisions may also restrict the Fund's investments in certain foreign banks and other financial institutions.

### **Short Sales**

The Fund may make short sales of securities consistent with its strategies. A short sale is a transaction in which the Fund sells a security it does not own in anticipation that the market price of that security will decline.

When the Fund makes a short sale, it must borrow the security sold short and deliver it to the broker-dealer through which it made the short sale as collateral for its obligation to deliver the security upon conclusion of the sale. The Fund may have to pay a fee to borrow particular securities and is often obligated to pay over any accrued interest and dividends on such borrowed securities.

If the price of the security sold short increases between the time of the short sale and the time that the Fund replaces the borrowed security, the Fund will incur a loss; conversely, if the price declines, the Fund will realize a capital gain. Any gain will be decreased, and any loss increased, by the transaction costs described above. The successful use of short selling may be adversely affected by imperfect correlation between movements in the price of the security sold short and the securities being hedged.

A short sale is "against the box" to the extent that the Fund contemporaneously owns, or has the right to obtain at no added cost, securities identical to those sold short. The Fund may engage in short selling to the extent permitted by the federal securities laws and rules and interpretations thereunder. To the extent the Fund engages in short selling in foreign (non-U.S.) jurisdictions, the Fund will do so to the extent permitted by the laws and regulations of such jurisdiction.

## **Short-term Trading Risk**

The Fund is not intended for short-term trading by investors. Investors who hold shares of a Fund for the short term, including market-timers, may harm the Fund and other shareholders by diluting the value of their shares, disrupting management of the Fund's portfolio and causing the Fund to incur additional costs, which are borne by non-redeeming shareholders. The Fund attempts to minimize the financial impact of short-term trading and market-timing transactions through policies and procedures designed to deter frequent purchases and redemptions. In addition, the Fund attempts to discourage time-zone arbitrage and similar market-timing activities, which seek to benefit from any differences between the Fund's NAV and the fair value of its holdings that may occur between the closing times of foreign markets and the closing time of U.S. markets (when the Fund's NAV is calculated).

### **Temporary Defensive Positions**

The Fund may depart from its principal investment strategies in response to adverse market, economic or political conditions by taking temporary defensive positions in short-term debt securities, cash and cash equivalents, and sovereign, government and agency debts and obligations. Under such circumstances, the Fund may not achieve its investment objective.

### **U.S. Government Securities**

The Fund may invest without limit in securities issued or guaranteed by the U.S. government or by its agencies or instrumentalities. U.S. government securities in general include a wide variety of U.S. Treasury obligations consisting of bills, notes and bonds, which principally differ only in their interest rates, maturities and times of issuance. Securities issued or guaranteed by U.S. government agencies and instrumentalities are debt securities issued by agencies or instrumentalities established or sponsored by the U.S. government and may be backed only by the credit of the issuing agency or instrumentality. The Fund will invest in such obligations only where the Adviser is satisfied that the credit risk with respect to the issuer is minimal.

Securities issued by the U.S. Treasury generally do not involve the credit risks associated with investments in other types of fixed-income securities, although, as a result, the yields available from these securities are generally lower than the yields available from corporate fixed-income securities. Like other debt securities, however, the values of U.S. government securities change as interest rates fluctuate, which could affect the Fund's net asset value. Since the magnitude of these fluctuations will generally be greater at times when the Fund's average maturity is longer, under certain market conditions the Fund may, for temporary defensive purposes, accept lower current income from short-term investments rather than investing in higher yielding long-term securities. Some U.S. Government securities (such as Fannie Maes and Freddie Macs) are guaranteed as to the payment of principal and interest by the relevant entity (e.g., FNMA or FHLMC) but are not backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. government. Therefore, the securities would generally be neither issued nor guaranteed by the U.S. Treasury.

### Variable Interest Entities

In China, ownership of companies in certain sectors by foreign individuals and entities (including U.S. persons and entities, inclusive of U.S. mutual funds) is prohibited. In order to facilitate investment of these companies by foreign individuals, many Chinese companies have created variable interest entities ("VIEs") that allow foreign investors to exert a degree of control and obtain substantially all of the economic benefits arising from a company without formal legal ownership. VIEs are a longstanding industry practice, well known to Chinese officials and regulators. However, it is uncertain whether Chinese officials or regulators will withdraw their implicit acceptance of the VIE structure, or whether any new laws, rules or regulations relating to VIE structures will be adopted or, if adopted, what impact they would have on the interests of foreign investors. Under extreme circumstances, China might prohibit the existence of VIEs, or sever their ability to transmit economic and governance rights to foreign individuals and entities; if so, the market value of any associated portfolio holdings would likely suffer substantial, detrimental, and possibly permanent effects. VIE structures do not offer the same level of investor protections as direct ownership. Investors may experience losses if VIE structures are altered or disputes emerge over control of the VIE.

### Warrants and Rights

The Fund may invest in warrants and rights. Warrants are securities that are usually issued together with a debt security or preferred stock and that give the holder the right to buy a proportionate amount of common stock at a specified price until a stated expiration date. Buying a warrant generally can provide a greater potential for profit or loss than an investment of equivalent amounts in the underlying common stock. The market value of a warrant does not necessarily move with the value of the underlying securities. If a holder does not sell the warrant, it risks the loss of its entire investment if the market price of the underlying security does not, before the expiration date, exceed the exercise price of the warrant. Investing in warrants is a speculative activity. Warrants pay no dividends and confer no rights (other than the right to purchase the underlying securities) with respect to the assets of the issuer. A right is a privilege granted, typically to existing shareholders of a corporation, to subscribe for shares of a new issue of stock before it is issued. Rights normally have a short life, usually two to four weeks, may be freely transferable and generally entitle the holder to buy the new common stock at a lower price than the public offering price.

### Zero Coupon Securities, Pay-In-Kind Bonds and Deferred Payment Securities

The Fund may invest in zero coupon securities, pay-in-kind bonds and deferred payment securities. Zero coupon securities are debt securities that pay no cash income but are sold at substantial discounts from their value at maturity. When a zero coupon security is held to maturity, its entire return, which consists of the amortization of discount, comes from the difference between its purchase price and its maturity value. This difference is known at the time of purchase, so that investors holding zero coupon securities until maturity know at the time of their investment what the expected return on their investment will be. Zero coupon securities may have conversion features. The Fund also may purchase pay-in-kind bonds. Pay-in-kind bonds pay all or a portion of their interest in the form of debt or equity securities. Deferred payment securities are securities that remain zero coupon securities until a predetermined date, at which time the stated coupon rate becomes effective and interest becomes payable at regular intervals.

Zero coupon securities, pay-in-kind bonds and deferred payment securities tend to be subject to greater price fluctuations in response to changes in interest rates than are ordinary interest-paying debt securities with similar maturities. The value of zero coupon securities appreciates more during periods of declining interest rates and depreciates more during periods of rising interest rates than ordinary interest-paying debt securities with similar maturities. Zero coupon securities, pay-in-kind bonds and deferred payment securities may be issued by a wide variety of corporate and governmental issuers. Although these instruments are generally not traded on a national securities exchange, they are widely traded by brokers and dealers and, to such extent, will not generally be considered illiquid for the purposes of the Fund's limitation on investments in illiquid securities.

To avoid liability for U.S. federal income and excise taxes, the Fund may be required to distribute income accrued with respect to zero coupon securities, certain pay-in-kind bonds, deferred payment securities and certain other securities, and may have to dispose of portfolio securities under disadvantageous circumstances in order to generate cash to satisfy these distribution requirements.

#### INVESTMENT LIMITATIONS

### **Fundamental Investment Restrictions**

The following is a description of the Funds' fundamental investment restrictions. "Fundamental" restrictions are those that may not be changed without the vote of a majority of a Fund's outstanding voting securities. Under the 1940 Act, the vote of a majority of the outstanding securities of a company means the vote, at the annual or a special meeting of the security holders of such company duly called: (A) of 67 percent or more of the voting securities present at such meeting, if the holders of more than 50 percent of the outstanding voting securities of such company are present or represented by proxy; or (B) of more than 50 percent of the outstanding voting securities of such company, whichever is less.

In contrast, non-fundamental investment restrictions (which include each Fund's investment objective and each of the other investment restrictions set forth in the Prospectus or this SAI) may be changed by the Board without shareholder approval.

The percentages set forth below and the percentage limitations set forth in the Prospectus apply at the time of the purchase of a security and shall not be considered violated unless an excess or deficiency occurs or exists immediately after and as a result of a purchase of such security.

Fundamental Investment Restriction	Seafarer Overseas Growth and Income Fund	Seafarer Overseas Value Fund
1. The Fund may not purchase securities that would cause 25% or more of the value of its total assets at the time of purchase to be invested in the securities of one or more issuers conducting their principal business activities in the same industry or group of industries (excluding the U.S. Government and its agencies and instrumentalities).	✓	✓

2. The Fund may not borrow money, except to the extent permitted under the 1940 Act. 1	✓	✓
3. The Fund may not make loans, except that the Fund may purchase or hold debt instruments in accordance with their investment objectives and policies; provided however, this restriction does not apply to repurchase agreements or loans of portfolio securities.	✓	✓
4. The Fund may not act as an underwriter of securities of other issuers except that, in the disposition of portfolio securities, it may be deemed to be an underwriter under the federal securities laws.	√	✓
5. The Fund may not purchase or sell real estate, although the Fund may purchase securities of issuers which deal in real estate, securities which are secured by interests in real estate, and securities which represent interests in real estate, and they may acquire and dispose of real estate or interests in real estate acquired through the exercise of their rights as a holder of debt obligations secured by real estate or interests therein.	√	<b>√</b>
6. The Fund may not purchase or sell physical commodities, except that the Fund may purchase and sell futures contracts and options, may enter into foreign exchange contracts and may enter into swap agreements and other financial transactions not requiring the delivery of physical commodities, including but not limited to, purchasing or selling commodity exchange-traded funds or exchange-traded notes.	√	✓
7. The Fund may not issue senior securities, except for permitted borrowings or as otherwise permitted under the 1940 Act	✓	√

See "Borrowing" above. Under current pronouncements, certain Fund positions may be excluded from the definition of "senior security" so long as the Fund complies with applicable regulatory requirements.

Restrictions (2) and (7) above shall be interpreted based upon federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder.

For the purposes of Restriction (1), each Fund currently intends to use the Global Industry Classification System ("GICS"). The use of any particular classification system is not a fundamental policy of the Fund. The Fund may use other classification titles, standards, and systems from time to time, as it determines to be in the best interests of shareholders.

### **Non-Fundamental Investment Restrictions**

In addition to the foregoing fundamental investment policies, each Fund is also subject to the following non-fundamental restrictions and policies. These and other non-fundamental investment restrictions disclosed elsewhere in the Prospectus or in this SAI may be changed at any time by the Board of Trustees without shareholder approval. For purposes of the non-fundamental restrictions set forth below, "total assets" means net assets, plus the amount of any borrowings for investment purposes.

Non-Fundamental Investment Restriction	Seafarer Overseas Growth and Income Fund	Seafarer Overseas Value Fund
1. The Fund may not purchase any illiquid investments, including any securities whose sale or disposition is restricted under federal securities laws and securities that are not readily marketable, if, as a result, more than 15% of the Fund's total net assets (based on then-current value) would then be invested in such securities.	✓	✓
2. The Fund may not make short sales of securities or maintain a short position or purchase securities on margin, in excess of 10% of the Fund's total assets (based on then-current value), except that the Fund may obtain short-term credits as necessary for the clearance of security transactions, and the Fund may make any short sales or maintain any short positions where the short sales or short positions would not constitute "senior securities" under the 1940 Act.	√ ·	<b>✓</b>

For purposes of Non-Fundamental Restriction (1) above, the staff of the SEC is presently of the view that repurchase agreements maturing in more than seven days are subject to this restriction. Until that position is revised, modified or rescinded, each Fund will conduct their operations in a manner consistent with this view. This limitation on investment in illiquid securities does not apply to certain restricted securities, including securities pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act and certain commercial paper that the Adviser has determined to be liquid under procedures approved by the Board.

## PORTFOLIO TURNOVER

Purchases and sales of portfolio securities may be made as considered advisable by the Adviser in the best interests of the shareholders. Each Fund's portfolio turnover rate may vary from year to year, as well as within a year. Each Fund's distributions of any net short-term capital gains realized from portfolio transactions are taxable to shareholders as ordinary income. In addition, higher portfolio turnover rates can result in corresponding increases in portfolio transaction costs for the Fund. See "Portfolio Transactions and Brokerage" in this SAI.

For reporting purposes, each Fund's portfolio turnover rate is calculated by dividing the lesser of purchases or sales of portfolio securities for the fiscal year by the monthly average of the value of the portfolio securities owned by the Fund during the fiscal year. In determining such portfolio turnover, all securities whose maturities at the time of acquisition were one year or less are excluded. A 100% portfolio turnover rate would occur, for example, if all of the securities in the Fund's investment portfolio (other than short-term money market securities) were replaced once during the fiscal year. Portfolio turnover will not be a limiting factor should the Adviser deem it advisable to purchase or sell securities.

### DISCLOSURE OF PORTFOLIO HOLDINGS

This Policy sets forth the conditions under which Portfolio Holdings data for the Trust on behalf of the Funds may be disclosed to Third Parties (which may include the public) and Service Providers. No data about the Funds may be disclosed except in accordance with this Policy.

Portfolio Holdings data includes, but is not limited to, the following information about the Funds: (i) specific securities held; (ii) industry sector breakdowns as a percentage of portfolio net assets; (iii) asset composition (e.g., equities versus bonds); (iv) U.S. versus foreign holdings percentage breakdowns and regional breakdowns (e.g., Asia, North America); and (v) top 10 portfolio holdings in order of position size, including percentage of portfolio.

"Third Parties" or a "Third Party" means a person other than a Service Provider, an employee of a Service Provider, a Trustee of the Board, or an officer of the Funds.

"Service Providers" or a "Service Provider" includes, but is not limited to, the investment adviser, sub-adviser, administrator, custodian, transfer agent, fund accountant, principal underwriter, software or technology service providers, pricing and proxy voting service providers, research and trading service providers, auditors, accountants, and legal counsel, or any other entity that has a need to know such information in order to fulfill their contractual obligations to provide services to the Funds.

## **Policy Overview**

The Board has adopted, on behalf of the Funds, policies and procedures relating to disclosure of the Portfolio Holdings. These policies and procedures are designed to protect the confidentiality of the Portfolio Holdings information and to prevent the selective disclosure of such information. These policies and procedures may be modified at any time with the approval of the Board.

In order to protect the Funds from any trading practices or other use by a Third Party that could harm the Funds, Portfolio Holdings and other Fund-specific information must not be selectively released or disclosed except under the circumstances described below.

The Board will periodically review the list of entities that have received Portfolio Holdings data before it is available through public channels, to ensure that the disclosure of the information was in the best interest of shareholders, identify any potential for conflicts of interest, and evaluate the effectiveness of its current portfolio holding policy.

The identity of such entities is provided below:

Name of Recipient	Frequency of Holdings Disclosure	Information Lag	Date of Information	Date Provided to Recipients
Seafarer Capital Partners, LLC (Adviser)	Daily	None	Daily	Daily
ALPS Fund Services, Inc. (Administrator)	Daily	None	Daily	Daily
Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. (Custodian)	Daily	None	Daily	Daily
Institutional Shareholder Services, Inc. (Proxy voting service)	Daily	None	Daily	Daily
Cohen & Company, Ltd. (Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm)	As needed	None	As needed	As needed
Davis Graham & Stubbs LLP (Fund Counsel)	As needed	None	As needed	As needed
Greenberg Traurig, LLP (Adviser Counsel)	As needed	None	As needed	As needed

Name of Recipient	Frequency of Holdings Disclosure	Information Lag	Date of Information	Date Provided to Recipients
Bloomberg, L.P.	Daily	None	Daily	Daily
FactSet Research Systems Inc.	Daily	None	Daily	Daily
ICE Data Services, LLC (Data Provider)	Daily	None	Daily	Daily
Gresham Technologies PLC (Trade Reconciliation Service Provider)	Daily	None	Daily	Daily
DTCC (Trade Processing Service Provider)	Daily	None	Daily	Daily
Vezea LLC (Website Developer)	Monthly	None	Monthly	Monthly
ALPS Distributors, Inc. (Distributor)	As needed	None	Monthly	Monthly
Sustainalytics US Inc. (Data Provider)	As needed	None	As needed	As needed

Additionally, a Fund may disclose its securities to broker-dealers when purchasing and selling securities, requesting bids on securities, and obtaining price quotations on securities.

Only officers of the Funds and their authorized agents, including, but not limited to, the Chief Compliance Officer of the investment adviser, may approve the disclosure of a Fund's Portfolio Holdings. Except as set forth under "Policy Exceptions" below, exceptions to this Policy may only be made if an officer of a Fund and its authorized agents, including, but not limited to, the Chief Compliance Officer of the investment adviser, determines that the disclosure is being made for a legitimate business purpose and such disclosures must be documented and reported to the Board on a quarterly basis. In all cases, Third Parties and Service Providers are required to keep confidential any Portfolio Holdings data received and not to trade on the Confidential Portfolio Information (defined below) received. Neither the Trust nor its Service Providers (nor any persons affiliated with either) can receive any compensation or other consideration in connection with the sharing of a Fund's Portfolio Holdings.

Disclosure of the Portfolio Holdings information that is not publicly available ("Confidential Portfolio Information") may be made to Service Providers. To the extent permitted under applicable law, the investment adviser may distribute (or authorize the custodian or principal underwriter to distribute) Confidential Portfolio Information to the Fund's relevant Service Providers and to facilitate the review of the Fund by certain mutual fund analysts and ratings agencies (such as Morningstar and Lipper Analytical Services) ("Rating Agencies"), provided that such disclosure is limited to the information that the investment adviser believes is reasonably necessary in connection with the services to be provided. The Funds may periodically provide Confidential Portfolio Information to Service Providers that provide portfolio analysis services or other investment research or trading analytics. Any such Service Providers and rating, ranking, consulting, or other firms would be required to keep a Fund's portfolio holdings confidential and would be prohibited from trading based on the information or otherwise using the information except as necessary in providing services to the Funds. As noted above, except to the extent permitted under this Policy, Confidential Portfolio Information may not be disseminated for compensation or other consideration.

Before any disclosure of Confidential Portfolio Information to Service Providers or Third Parties is permitted, the applicable Fund's investment adviser's Chief Compliance Officer (or persons designated by the investment adviser's Chief Compliance Officer) must determine in writing that, under the circumstances, the disclosure is being made for a legitimate business purpose. Furthermore, the recipient of Confidential Portfolio Information by a Service Provider or Rating Agency must be subject to a written confidentiality agreement that prohibits any trading upon the Confidential Portfolio Information or the recipient must be subject to professional or ethical obligations not to disclose or otherwise improperly use the information.

The Funds' investment adviser shall have primary responsibility for ensuring that the Portfolio Holdings information is disclosed only in accordance with this Policy. As part of this responsibility, the Funds' investment adviser will maintain such internal policies and procedures as it believes are reasonably necessary for preventing the unauthorized disclosure of Confidential Portfolio Information.

# **Full Portfolio Holdings**

The disclosure policy currently authorizes the quarterly dissemination of full portfolio holdings of each Fund with a thirty (30) calendar day lag. Information on particular holdings may be withheld if it is in a Fund's interest to do so. Information on a holding may be withheld if a Fund is actively transacting in the security (e.g., establishing or exiting the position), and the Fund's Portfolio Manager believes in good faith that public disclosure could impede that effort.

Separately, each Fund will also disclose its full portfolio holdings at the close of its fiscal year (April 30) and its semi-annual period (October 31) in accordance with regulation. Except as set forth in this Policy, the full holdings of each Fund will also be disclosed on a quarterly basis on forms required to be filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") as follows: (i) Portfolio Holdings as of the end of each fiscal year will be filed as part of the annual report filed on Form N-CSR; (ii) Portfolio Holdings as of the end of the first and third fiscal quarters will be filed in Form N-PORT (as described below); and (iii) Portfolio Holdings as of the end of the semi-annual report filed on Form N-CSR. Each fiscal quarter, the Trust will file with the SEC a complete schedule of its monthly portfolio holdings on Form N-PORT. Each Fund's holdings as of the end of the third month of every fiscal quarter, as reported on Form N-PORT, will be publicly available on the SEC's website at www.sec.gov within 60 days of the end of the fiscal quarter upon filing. The Trust's Form N-CSRs (and historical Form N-Qs) are also available on the SEC's website at www.sec.gov.

## **Partial Portfolio Holdings**

Except as set forth in this Policy, partial Portfolio Holdings information will only be provided to Third Parties for the most recent month-end period (or, optionally, for the most recent quarter-end period) and only after a five (5) calendar day delay from the end of the month (or quarter) being provided. These holdings may include any combination of the Portfolio Holdings information, except for full Portfolio Holdings. Disclosure of partial Portfolio Holdings is optional and is not required.

### **Policy Exceptions**

The following disclosures of Portfolio Holdings are not prohibited by this Policy:

- Disclosures that are required by law;
- Disclosures necessary for Service Providers (defined above);
- Disclosure necessary for Rating Agencies to assess applicable fund ratings;
- Disclosures necessary to broker-dealers or banks as part of the normal buying, selling, shorting, or other transactions in portfolio securities;
- Disclosures to the applicable Fund's or Service Providers' regulatory authorities, accountants, or counsel;
- Disclosures to the adviser of the Fund of compiled data concerning accounts managed by the adviser; or
- Any portfolio holdings that precede a full public disclosure (e.g., portfolio holdings that are dated prior to the most recent quarterly disclosure) are not considered to be sensitive, proprietary information of the Fund, and therefore are not subject to the aforementioned disclosure policies.

### PORTFOLIO TRANSACTIONS AND BROKERAGE

### **Investment Decisions and Portfolio Transactions**

Investment decisions for a Fund are made with a view to achieving its investment objectives. Investment decisions are the product of many factors in addition to basic suitability for the particular client involved (including the Fund). Some securities considered for investment by a Fund may also be appropriate for other clients served by the Adviser. Thus, a particular security may be bought or sold for certain clients even though it could have been bought or sold for other clients at the same time. If a purchase or sale of securities consistent with the investment policies of the Fund and one or more of these clients is considered at or about the same time, transactions in such securities will be allocated among the Fund and clients in a manner deemed fair and reasonable by the Adviser. Particularly when investing in less liquid or illiquid securities of smaller capitalization companies, such allocation may take into account the asset size of the Fund in determining whether the allocation of an investment is suitable. The Adviser may aggregate orders for the Fund with simultaneous transactions entered into on behalf of its other clients so long as price and transaction expenses are averaged either for the portfolio transaction or for that day. Likewise, a particular security may be bought for one or more clients when one or more clients are selling the security. In some instances, one client may sell a particular security to another client. It also sometimes happens that two or more clients simultaneously purchase or sell the same security, in which event each day's transactions in such security are, insofar as possible, averaged as to price and allocated between such clients in a manner which in the Adviser's opinion is equitable to each and in accordance with the amount being purchased or sold by each. There may be circumstances when purchases or sales of portfolio securities for one or more clients will have an adverse effect on other clients, including the Fund.

### **Brokerage Allocation and Other Practices**

The Adviser places orders for the purchase and sale of portfolio securities, options and futures contracts and buys and sells such securities, options and futures for each Fund through a substantial number of brokers and dealers. In so doing, the Adviser uses its best efforts to obtain for the Fund the most favorable price and execution available, except to the extent it may be permitted to pay higher brokerage commissions as described below. In seeking the most favorable price and execution, the Adviser, having in mind the Fund's best interests, considers all factors it deems relevant, including, by way of illustration, price, the size of the transaction, the nature of the market for the security, the amount of the commission, the timing of the transaction taking into account market prices and trends, the reputation, experience and financial stability of the broker-dealer involved and the quality of service rendered by the broker-dealer in that or other transactions.

The Adviser places orders for the purchase and sale of portfolio investments for each Fund's accounts with brokers or dealers selected by it in its discretion. The Adviser is responsible for negotiating and determining any commission rates to be paid for such transactions. The Adviser has no affiliated broker-dealer. The Adviser is responsible for negotiating and determining any commission rates to be paid for such transactions. In effecting purchases and sales of portfolio securities for the accounts of the Fund, the Adviser will seek the best price and execution of the Fund's orders. In doing so, the Fund may pay higher commission rates than the lowest available when the Adviser believes it is reasonable to do so in light of the value of the brokerage and research services provided by the broker effecting the transaction, as discussed below. Although the Fund may use a broker-dealer that sells Fund shares to effect transactions for the Fund's portfolios, the Fund will not consider the sale of Fund shares as a factor when selecting broker-dealers to execute those transactions.

There is generally no stated commission in the case of fixed-income securities and other securities traded on a principal basis in the over-the-counter markets, but the price paid by the Fund usually includes an undisclosed dealer commission or markup. In underwritten offerings, the price paid by the Fund includes a disclosed, fixed commission or discount retained by the underwriter or dealer. Transactions on U.S. stock exchanges and other agency transactions involve the payment by the Fund of negotiated brokerage commissions. Such commissions vary among different brokers. Also, a particular broker may charge different commissions according to such factors as the difficulty and size of the transaction. Transactions in non-U.S. securities generally involve the payment of fixed brokerage commissions, which are generally higher than those in the United States. The purchase by the Fund of participations or assignments may be pursuant to privately negotiated transactions pursuant to which the Fund may be required to pay fees to the seller or forego a portion of payments in respect of the participation agreement.

Advisers or sub-advisers of investment companies and other institutional investors receive research and brokerage products and services (together, "services") from broker-dealers which execute portfolio transactions for the clients of such advisers. Consistent with this practice, the Adviser receives brokerage and research products and services from many broker-dealers with which the Adviser places the Fund's portfolio transactions. These services, which in some cases may also be purchased for cash, may include, among other things, such items as general economic and security market reviews, industry and company reviews, evaluations of securities, recommendations as to the purchase and sale of securities, access to substantive meetings with company management teams, and services related to the execution of securities transactions. The advisory fees paid by the Fund are not reduced because the Adviser receives such services even though the receipt of such services relieves the Adviser from expenses it might otherwise bear. Research and brokerage services provided by broker-dealers chosen by the Adviser to place the Fund's portfolio transactions may be useful to the Adviser in providing services to the Adviser in managing the Fund. Conversely, brokerage and research products and services provided to the Adviser by broker-dealers in connection with trades executed on behalf of other clients of the Adviser in managing such other clients.

The Trust's Board of Trustees has authorized the Adviser to pay a broker who provides research services commissions that are competitive but that are higher than the lowest available rate that another broker might have charged if the Adviser determines in good faith that the commissions are reasonable in relation to the value of the brokerage and research services provided. The provision of such services in exchange for brokerage business is commonly referred to as "soft-dollar arrangements." Payment of higher commissions in exchange for research services will be made in compliance with the provisions of Section 28(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "1934 Act") and other applicable state and federal laws. Section 28(e) of the 1934 Act defines "research" as, among other things, advice, directly or through publications or writings, as to the value of securities, the advisability of investing in, purchasing, or selling securities, and the availability of securities or purchasers or sellers of securities; and analyses and reports concerning issuers, industries, securities, economic factors and trends, portfolio strategy and the performance of accounts. Research products and services provided to the Adviser by broker-dealers may include, among other things, databases, data services, certain software and publications that provide access to and/or analysis of company, market and statistical data and proprietary research and analysis. In addition, the Adviser may receive certain products and services which provide both research an non-research or administrative assistance ("mixed-use") benefits, for example, software which is used for both portfolio analysis and account administration. In these instances, the Adviser makes a reasonable allocation as follows: the portion of such service of specific component which provides assistance to Adviser in its investment decision-making responsibilities is obtained from the broker-dealer with commissions paid on client portfolio transactions (including the Funds), wh

The Adviser places portfolio transactions for other advisory accounts. Research services furnished by firms through which the Trust effects its securities transactions may be used by the Adviser in servicing all of its accounts; not all of such services may be used by the Adviser in connection with the Trust. In the opinion of the Adviser, the benefits from research services to each of the accounts (including the Funds) managed by the Adviser cannot be measured separately. Because the volume and nature of the trading activities of the accounts are not uniform, the amount of commissions in excess of the lowest available rate paid by each account for brokerage and research services will vary. However, in the opinion of the Adviser, such costs to the Trust will not be disproportionate to the benefits received by the Trust on a continuing basis.

The Adviser may place orders for the purchase and sale of exchange-listed portfolio securities with a broker-dealer that is an affiliate of the Adviser where, in the judgment of the Adviser, such firm will be able to obtain a price and execution at least as favorable as other qualified broker-dealers. Pursuant to rules of the SEC, a broker-dealer that is an affiliate of the Adviser may receive and retain compensation for effecting portfolio transactions for the Fund on a securities exchange if the commissions paid to such an affiliated broker-dealer by the Fund on exchange transactions do not exceed "usual and customary brokerage commissions." The rules define "usual and customary" commissions to include amounts which are "reasonable and fair compared to the commission, fee or other remuneration received or to be received by other brokers in connection with comparable transactions involving similar securities being purchased or sold on a securities exchange during a comparable period of time." As required by applicable SEC rules, the Board has adopted procedures which are reasonably designed to provide that any commissions, fees or other remuneration paid to an affiliated broker are consistent with the foregoing standards.

The brokerage practices are monitored quarterly by the Board of Trustees including the Trustees that are disinterested persons (as defined in the 1940 Act) of the Funds.

During 2002 there was a shift in the brokerage industry toward trading securities in the over-the-counter market on agency or commission-equivalent basis rather than on a principal or net price basis. Over-the-counter ("OTC") purchases and sales may be transacted directly with principal market makers or, under circumstances, on an agency basis if the Adviser believes that the interests of clients are best served by using a broker to execute OTC transactions where one or more market makers may not have the necessary liquidity and/or anonymity to fill the order. When the Adviser elects to transact in OTC securities on an agency basis, two transaction costs for a single trade may be incurred: a commission paid to the executing broker-dealer plus any mark-up or mark-down charged by the market making broker-dealer. The Funds also expect that securities will be purchased at times in underwritten offerings where the price includes a fixed amount of compensation, usually referred to as the underwriter's concessions or discount. On occasion, purchases may also be made from the issuers. Purchases of new issues from underwriters of securities typically include a commission or concession paid by the issuer to the underwriter.

### Commissions

The following table lists the total amount of brokerage commissions paid by each Fund for the fiscal periods noted:

Fund Name	For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2024	For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2023	For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2022
Seafarer Overseas Growth and Income Fund	\$1,697,061	\$1,800,214	\$1,047,779
Seafarer Overseas Value Fund	\$33,781	\$54,283	\$20,705

For the fiscal periods noted, the total brokerage commissions paid by the Fund to brokers and dealers in transactions identified for execution primarily on the basis of research and other services provided to the Fund are summarized below:

	For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2024		For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2023		For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2022	
Fund Name	Commissions	Transactions	Commissions	Transactions	Commissions	Transactions
Seafarer Overseas Growth and Income	\$1,471,409 of which: \$866,336,424 \$1,678,802 of which: \$864,567,555		\$864,567,553	\$946,345 of which:	\$569,492,834	
Fund	\$482,627 estimated for execution services		\$502,328 estimated for execution services		\$207,062 estimated for execution services	
	\$988,782 estimated for research and other services		\$1,176,474 estimated for research and other services		\$739,283 estimated for research and other services	
Seafarer Overseas Value Fund	\$31,068 of which:	\$16,972,030	\$51,062 of which:	\$27,640,558	\$13,874 of which:	\$8,625,262
value Fund	\$13,542 estimated for execution services		\$20,527 estimated for execution services		\$2,554 estimated for execution services	
	\$17,526 estimated for research and other services		\$30,535 estimated for research and other services		\$11,320 estimated for research and other services	

The following tables list the total amount of brokerage commissions to brokers who were affiliated with the Fund or the Adviser during the fiscal periods noted below:

Fund Name	For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2024	For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2023	For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2022
Seafarer Overseas Growth and Income Fund	\$0	\$0	\$0
Seafarer Overseas Value Fund	\$0	\$0	\$0

The Fund may acquire securities of brokers who execute the Fund's portfolio transactions. As of April 30, 2024, the Fund owned securities of its regular broker-dealers (or parents) as shown below:

Fund Name	Name of Broker-Dealer	Market Value of Securities Owned	
Seafarer Overseas Growth and Income Fund	DBS Vickers Securities (USA) Inc.	\$66,507,479	
Seafarer Overseas Value Fund	N/A	N/A	

### PURCHASE, EXCHANGE & REDEMPTION OF SHARES

ALPS Fund Services, Inc. (the "Transfer Agent"), will maintain an account for each shareholder upon which the registration and transfer of shares are recorded, and any transfers shall be reflected by bookkeeping entry, without physical delivery. Confirmations of each purchase, exchange or redemption are sent to each shareholder. Quarterly statements of account are sent which include shares purchased as a result of a reinvestment of Fund distributions. The Transfer Agent will require that a shareholder provide requests in writing, accompanied by a valid signature guarantee form, when changing certain information in an account (*i.e.*, wiring instructions, telephone privileges, etc.).

### **Share Classes**

Shares of each Fund are currently divided into three share classes - Retail Class, Investor Class, and Institutional Class.

The assets received by each class of the Fund for the issue or sale of its shares and all income, earnings, profits, losses and proceeds therefrom, subject only to the rights of creditors, are allocated to, and constitute the underlying assets of, that class of the Fund. The underlying assets of each class of the Fund are segregated and are charged with the expenses with respect to that class of the Fund along with a share of the general expenses of the Fund and Trust. Any general expenses of the Fund that are not readily identifiable as belonging to a particular class of the Fund are allocated by or under the direction of the Trustees in such manner as they determine to be fair and equitable.

### **Purchase of Shares**

The minimum thresholds for initial and subsequent investments in each Fund are set forth in the Prospectus.

Subsequent investments may be made at any time by mailing a check to a Fund's Transfer Agent, along with a detachable stub from the Statement of Account (or a letter providing the account number). Shareholders should be sure to write the Fund's account number on the check. Purchases of Fund shares (initial or subsequent) may not be made by third party check.

Shares of a Fund may be purchased on any business day at the net asset value per share next determined after receipt of a purchase order. Share certificates will not be issued. Share purchase orders are effective on the date a Fund receives a completed Account Application Form (and other required documents) and federal funds become available.

Initial and subsequent investments may also be made by electronic funds transfer or wire transfer. Shareholders should note that their bank may charge a fee in connection with transferring money by bank wire.

For a share purchase order for a Fund to become effective on a particular business day, prior to 4:00 p.m. (Eastern time): (i) in the case of a wire transfer payment, a purchaser must call 1-855-732-9220 to inform the Transfer Agent of an incoming wire transfer; or (ii) in the case of payment by check or money order, a complete share purchase order must be received by the Transfer Agent, and, in either case, federal funds must be received by the Transfer Agent, on behalf of the Fund. If federal funds are received by the Transfer Agent that same day, the order will be effective on that day. If the Fund receives notification of a wire transfer or a complete share purchase order after 4:00 p.m. (Eastern Time), or if funds are not received by the Transfer Agent, such purchase order shall be executed as of the date that federal funds are actually received.

The price of a Fund's shares and the valuation of Fund assets are discussed in "Net Asset Value."

### **Restrictions on Fund Purchases**

The Seafarer Overseas Growth and Income Fund's Investor Class (which closed to most new investors on September 30, 2016) is available for purchase only by the following investors:

- Existing shareholders of the Fund's Investor Class;
- Financial advisers with existing clients invested in the Fund's Investor Class (i.e., these advisers can continue to add new clients in the Fund's Investor Class); and
- Employees of Seafarer and their family members.

Please note the following about the Fund's Investor Class:

- Some broker-dealers and financial intermediaries may not be able to accommodate purchases of the Fund's Investor Class based on the criteria listed above.
- If a shareholder closes an account in the Fund's Investor Class due to redemption or exchange, the shareholder will no longer be able to make additional
  investments in the Fund's Investor Class.

- Exchanges between the Seafarer Funds (i.e., the Seafarer Overseas Growth and Income Fund and the Seafarer Overseas Value Fund) and share class transfers are subject to any existing restrictions on, or conditions of, the Fund and/or share class that is to be acquired.
- The Fund reserves the right to make exceptions to any action taken to close the Fund, or limit inflows into the Fund, and delegates such authority to Seafarer.

### **Share Class Transfers**

Fund shareholders may transfer shares between the Investor and Institutional classes of the same Fund. Share class transfers must generally meet the minimum investment requirements described in "Investment Minimums" in the Prospectus, though the Fund reserves the right to waive or change investment minimums, and delegates such authority to Seafarer. A single Fund share class transfer is generally not considered a taxable transaction but may result in reporting obligations (see "FEDERAL INCOME TAXES – Transfers between Classes of Funds"). The Funds do not impose fees for share class transfers. You may request a share class transfer by telephone or by mail. Please call Shareholder Services at 1-855-732-9220 for more information. Please note: broker-dealers or financial intermediaries might restrict share class transfers, or they might impose fees on such transfers.

### **Exchanging Shares**

If you have held all or part of your shares in a Fund for at least seven (7) days, you may exchange those shares for shares of the same class of the other Fund, if such Fund is available for sale in your state and meets your investment criteria.

Any new account established through an exchange will be subject to all minimum requirements applicable to the shares acquired. Any new account or new subscription established through an exchange is subject to any existing restrictions or conditions on the Fund that is to be acquired. The exchange privilege may only be exercised in those states where the class of shares being acquired legally may be sold. If you are an existing shareholder of a Fund, you may exchange into a new account copying your existing account registration and options. Exchanges between accounts will be accepted only if registrations are identical.

If a shareholder exchanges the shares of one Fund for another, the shareholder is not entitled to later reverse the exchange unless all the foregoing conditions are satisfied.

Before effecting an exchange, you should read the prospectus of the Fund into which you are exchanging.

An exchange of shares of one Fund for shares of another Fund represents the sale of shares of one fund and the purchase of shares of another fund. Under U.S. federal income tax law, this may produce a taxable gain or loss in your non-tax-qualified account. Transfers between classes of a single Fund are generally not considered a taxable transaction, although certain Fund shareholders may have related reporting requirements (see "FEDERAL INCOME TAXES - Transfers between Classes of Funds").

The exchange privilege may be modified or terminated upon sixty (60) days written notice to shareholders. Although initially there will be no limit on the number of times you may exercise the exchange privilege, each Fund reserves the right to impose such a limitation. Call or write each Fund for further details.

### Redemption of Shares

If a Fund determines that it is in the best interests of the remaining shareholders of a Fund, the Fund may pay the redemption price in whole, or in part, by a distribution in kind from the Fund, in lieu of cash, taking such securities at their value employed for determining such redemption price, and selecting the securities in such manner as such Board may deem fair and equitable. A shareholder who receives a distribution in kind may incur a brokerage commission upon a later disposition of such securities and may receive less than the redemption value of such securities or property upon sale, particularly where such securities are sold prior to maturity. Redemption in kind is not as liquid as a cash redemption.

Under the 1940 Act, each Fund may suspend the right of redemption or postpone the date of payment upon redemption for any period: (i) during which the NYSE is closed, other than customary weekend and holiday closings; (ii) during which trading on the NYSE is restricted; or (iii) during which (as determined by the SEC by rule or regulation) an emergency exists as a result of which disposal or valuation of portfolio securities is not reasonably practicable, or for such other periods as the SEC may permit. Each Fund may also suspend or postpone the recordation of the transfer of its shares upon the occurrence of any of the foregoing conditions.

Small Account Balance/Mandatory Redemption. If at any time your account balance falls below the applicable minimum initial investment amount for the share class and type of account described under "Investment Minimums" in the Prospectus due to redemptions, a letter may be sent advising you to add to your account to meet the applicable minimum account balance, to transfer your shares to another share class of the Fund for which you are eligible, or to redeem the remaining shares in your account. If action is not taken within 30 days of the notice, the Fund may require mandatory redemption of shares, or the Fund may elect to transfer the shares to another share class of the Fund for which you are eligible. The Fund may adopt other policies from time to time requiring mandatory redemption of shares in certain circumstances, such as to comply with new regulatory requirements.

The Fund reserves the right to waive or change investment minimums and delegates such authority to Seafarer. Employees of the Adviser and their family members are not subject to any initial or subsequent investment minimums.

Redemption Procedures. Each Fund will redeem all full and fractional shares of the Fund upon request on any business day at the applicable net asset value determined after a redemption request has been received in good order. A purchase, exchange or redemption order is in "good order" when the Fund or its agent (financial intermediary or plan sponsor, if applicable), receives all required information, including properly completed and signed documents. Shareholders liquidating their holdings will receive upon redemption all dividends reinvested through the date of redemption. If notice of redemption is received on any business day, the redemption will be effective on the date of receipt. Payment will ordinarily be made on the next business day, and otherwise within no more than seven calendar days from the date of redemption. If the notice is received on a day that is not a business day or after the close of regularly scheduled trading on the NYSE (normally, 4 p.m. Eastern time), the redemption notice will be deemed received as of the next business day. The value of shares at the time of redemption may be more or less than the shareholder's cost.

No redemption requests will be processed until a Fund has received a completed Purchase Application, and no redemption of shares purchased by check will be made until all checks received for such shares have been collected, which may take up to 15 days or more.

Redemption by Mail. Shares may be redeemed by mail by submitting a written request from the registered owner(s) signed exactly as shares are registered. Signature guarantees by an acceptable guarantor are required to redeem amounts greater than \$100,000 or to have proceeds sent to an address other than the address of record. The Transfer Agent has adopted standards and procedures pursuant to which signature-guarantees in proper form generally will be accepted from domestic banks, brokers, dealers, credit unions, national securities exchanges, registered securities associations, clearing agencies and savings associations, as well as from participants in the New York Stock Exchange Medallion Signature Program, the Securities Transfer Agents Medallion Program ("STAMP") and the Stock Exchanges Medallion Program. Shareholders with any questions regarding signature guarantees should contact the Transfer Agent.

In certain instances, the Transfer Agent may require additional documents such as, but not limited to, trust instruments, death certificates, appointments as executor or administrator or certificates of corporate authority.

Checks for redemption proceeds will be mailed to the address of record within seven days of redemption.

Redemption by Electronic Funds Transfer. Redemption proceeds can be electronically transferred to a predesignated bank account on or about the second business day after receipt of a redemption request. There is no fee associated with this type of transfer.

Redemption by Wire. If redemption by wire has been elected in the Purchase Application, shares may be redeemed on any business day upon request made by telephone or letter. A shareholder or any authorized agent (so designated on the Account Application Form) must provide the Transfer Agent with the dollar or share amount to be redeemed, the account to which the redemption proceeds should be wired, the name of the shareholder and the shareholder's account number. Shareholders should note that a Fund or their bank may charge a fee in connection with transferring money by wire.

A shareholder may change its authorized agent, the address of record or the account designated to receive redemption proceeds at any time by providing the Transfer Agent with written instructions signature guaranteed as described above.

Telephone Redemption. A shareholder may request redemption by calling a shareholder services representative at 1-855-732-9220. Proceeds from telephone redemptions will be forwarded to the shareholder by check unless the shareholder has requested redemption by electronic funds transfer or wire in the manner described above under "Redemption by Wire." The check will be made payable only to the registered shareholder and sent to the address of record on file with the Transfer Agent. Each Fund reserves the right to refuse a telephone request for redemption if it is believed advisable to do so. Procedures for redeming shares by telephone may be modified or terminated at any time by the Fund. Neither any Fund nor the Transfer Agent will be liable for following redemption instructions received by telephone which are reasonably believed to be genuine, and the shareholder will bear the risk of loss in the event of unauthorized or fraudulent telephone instructions. Each Fund will employ reasonable procedures to confirm that instructions communicated by telephone are genuine. The Fund and/or the Transfer Agent may be liable for any losses due to unauthorized or fraudulent instructions if they do not follow such procedures. Each Fund may require personal identification codes.

## **Medallion Signature Guarantee**

A Medallion signature guarantee assures that a signature is genuine. It is intended to protect shareholders and the Funds against fraudulent transactions by unauthorized persons. Medallion signature guarantees are generally required by the Funds in the following cases:

- To change your designated bank account or bank address;
- To add bank information to an existing account;
- To request a redemption (must be made in writing) in excess of \$100,000;
- To request a wire transfer or electronic funds transfer of redemption proceeds to a bank account other than the bank account of record;

- Requests for redemption proceeds to be mailed to an address other than the address of record;
- Redemptions made within 30 days of an address change;
- Certain transactions on accounts involving executors, administrators, trustees or guardians;
- On the IRA Transfer Form if transferring your Fund IRA to another mutual fund;
- To change registered account holders;
- To change the name on an account due to divorce or marriage (or you can provide a certified copy of the legal documents) showing the name change; and
- To add telephone privileges.

The Funds reserve the right to require a Medallion signature guarantee under these and other circumstances.

### How to Obtain a Medallion Signature Guarantee

Medallion signature guarantees must be obtained from a participant in a Medallion program endorsed by the Securities Transfer Association. Participants are typically commercial banks or trust companies in the United States, brokerage firms that are members of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. or members of the New York Stock Exchange. Call your financial institution to see if it participates in a medallion program.

A Medallion signature guarantee may not be provided by a notary public.

#### Rule 12b-1 Plans

As described in the Prospectus, each Fund has adopted a separate plan of distribution for Retail Class shares, pursuant to Rule 12b-1 under the 1940 Act (the "Plan").

The Plan allows each Fund, as applicable, to use Retail Class assets to pay fees in connection with the distribution and marketing of Retail Class shares and/or the provision of ongoing shareholder services to Retail Class shareholders.

The Plan permits each Fund to make total payments at an annual rate of up to 0.20% of a Fund's average daily net assets attributable to its Retail Class shares. Because these fees are paid out of a Fund's Retail Class assets on an ongoing basis, over time they will increase the cost of an investment in Retail Class shares, and Plan fees may cost an investor more than other types of sales charges.

Under the terms of the Plan, each Fund is authorized to make payments to its distributor (the "Distributor") for remittance to financial intermediaries, as compensation for distribution and/or shareholder services performed by such entities for their customers who are shareholders of the Fund's Retail Class. The Plan permits payment for services and related expenses in connection with a financial intermediary's administration of mutual fund distribution platforms that offer Retail Class shares of each Fund. The Adviser will not receive any payment, reimbursement, or any other form of disbursement from this Plan under any circumstances. Any amounts paid by a Fund to the Distributor in excess of the payments made by the Distributor to the parties providing services shall be periodically remitted to the Fund for the benefit of the shareholders of the Retail Class.

The Plan may be terminated by vote of a majority of the Independent Trustees, or by vote of a majority of the outstanding voting securities of the Retail Class shares of a Fund. The Plan may be amended by vote of the Trustees, including a majority of the Independent Trustees, cast in person at a meeting called for that purpose. Any change in a Plan that would materially increase the fees payable thereunder by the Retail Class shares of a Fund requires approval by a vote of the holders of a majority of such shares outstanding. The Trustees review quarterly written reports of payments made under the Plan and the purposes for which such payments have been made.

The Plan will continue in effect for successive one-year periods, provided that each such continuance is specifically approved (i) by the vote of a majority of the Independent Trustees of the Trust who have no financial interest in the operation of the Plan and (ii) by the vote of a majority of the entire Board cast in person at a meeting called for that purpose.

### Amounts Expensed Under the 12b-1 Plan

For the fiscal year ended April 30, 2024, the Retail Class had not commenced operations.

### **Shareholder Services Plan**

The Retail Class, Investor Class, and Institutional Class shares of the Funds have adopted a shareholder services plan ("Services Plan"). Under the Services Plan, the Funds are authorized to pay select financial intermediaries and/or Fund affiliates who have entered into a written agreement with the Funds to perform certain ongoing non-distribution related services provided to shareholders in each of the Retail Class, Investor Class, and Institutional Class shares of the Funds ("Participating Organizations").

The aggregate fees on an annual basis for each of the Retail Class shares and Investor Class shares of the Funds are not to exceed 0.15% of the average daily net asset value of the Retail Class shares or Investor Class shares, as applicable, held in the name of a Participating Organization. The aggregate fees on an annual basis for the Institutional Class shares of the Funds are not to exceed 0.05% of the average daily net asset value of the Institutional Class shares held in the name of a Participating Organization. The Services Plan fees are compensation for providing some or all of the following ongoing shareholder related services: (i) establishing and maintaining separate records for each beneficial shareholder; (ii) aggregating and processing of beneficial shareholders' orders; (iii) processing dividend and other distribution payments from the Funds on behalf of beneficial shareholders; (iv) preparing tax reports or forms on behalf of beneficial shareholders; (v) forwarding communications from the Funds to beneficial shareholders; and (vi) providing other similar services as applicable statutes, rules or regulations permit. Any amount of such Services Plan fees not paid for such services shall be periodically remitted to such Fund's applicable share class.

Because these Services Plan fees are paid out of a Fund's assets on an ongoing basis, over time, it will increase the cost of an investment in a Fund. Services Plan Fees incurred are included under "Other Expenses" in a Fund's Fees and Expenses tables in the Prospectus.

Apart from the Services Plan, the Adviser may use revenues from its advisory fees, as well as past profits or its resources from any other source, to make payments to the Distributor of the Funds or other parties with respect to any expenses incurred in connection with the distribution of a Fund's shares. The Funds' Distributor or other service providers may also use past profits or resources from any other source, to make payments with respect to the distribution of the shares of a Fund. However, any such distribution payments made by the Adviser, Distributor, or service providers are not expenses that will be borne by the Services Plan.

# TRUSTEES AND OFFICERS

The business and affairs of each Fund are managed under the direction of its Board. The Board approves all significant agreements between the Trust on behalf of a Fund and the persons or companies that furnish services to the Fund, including agreements with its distributor, Adviser, administrator, custodian and transfer agent. The day-to-day operations of each Fund are delegated to the Fund's Adviser and administrator.

The name, address, year of birth and principal occupations for the past five years of the Trustees and officers of the Trust are listed below, along with the number of portfolios in the Fund complex overseen by and the other directorships held by each Trustee.

## INDEPENDENT TRUSTEES

Name, Address* & Year of Birth	Position(s) Held with Fund	Term of Office** and Length of Time Served	Principal Occupation(s) During Past 5 Years***	Number of Funds in Fund Complex Overseen by Trustee****	Other Directorships Held by Trustee During Past 5 Years***
Mary K. Anstine, 1940	Trustee	Since 1997	Ms. Anstine is Trustee/Director of AV Hunter Trust and Colorado Uplift Board.	17	Ms. Anstine is a Trustee of ALPS ETF Trust (24 funds); ALPS Variable Investment Trust (7 funds); Reaves Utility Income Fund (1 fund); and Segall Bryant & Hamill Trust through December 2020 (14 funds).
Edmund J. Burke, 1961	Trustee	Since 2009	Mr. Burke joined ALPS in 1991 and served as the President and Director of ALPS Holdings, Inc., and ALPS Advisors, Inc., and Director of ALPS Distributors, Inc., ALPS Fund Services, Inc. ("ALPS"), and ALPS Portfolio Solutions Distributor, Inc. (collectively, the "ALPS Companies"). Mr. Burke retired from the ALPS Companies in June 2019. Mr. Burke is currently a partner at ETF Action, a web-based system that provides data and analytics to registered investment advisers, (since 2020) and a Director of Blue Biofuels (since 2020) and Alliance Bioenergy Plus, Inc., a technology company focused on emerging technologies in the renewable energy, biofuels, and bioplastics technology sectors (since 2020).	17	Mr. Burke is a Trustee of ALPS ETF Trust (24 funds); Clough Global Dividend and Income Fund (1 fund); Clough Global Equity Fund (1 fund); Clough Global Opportunities Fund (1 fund); Liberty All-Star Equity Fund (1 fund); and Director of the Liberty All-Star Growth Fund, Inc. (1 fund).

Jeremy W. Deems, 1976	Trustee	Since 2009	Mr. Deems is the Co-Founder and Chief Financial Officer of Green Alpha Advisors, LLC, a registered investment advisor, and Co-Portfolio Manager of the AXS Green Alpha ETF.	17	Mr. Deems is a Trustee of ALPS ETF Trust (24 funds); ALPS Variable Investment Trust (7 funds); and Reaves Utility Income Fund (1 fund).
Jerry G. Rutledge, 1944	Trustee	Since 2009	Mr. Rutledge is the President and owner of Rutledge's Inc., a retail clothing business.	17	Mr. Rutledge is a Trustee of Clough Global Dividend and Income Fund (1 fund); Clough Global Equity Fund (1 fund); Clough Global Opportunities Fund (1 fund); and Principal Real Estate Income Fund (1 fund).
Michael "Ross" Shell, 1970	Trustee and Chairman	Since 2009; Chairman Since 2024	Mr. Shell is Founder and CEO of Red Idea, LLC, a strategic consulting/early stage venture firm (since June 2008). Mr. Shell is currently the CEO of TalkBox, a phone/privacy booth company and key venture of Red Idea, LLC (since 2023) and a board member of DLVR, a package security company (since 2018). Mr. Shell serves on the Finance Committee serving the Board of Directors of Children's Hospital of Colorado (since 2023) and served on the Advisory Board, St. Vrain School District Innovation Center (from 2015-2018). Mr. Shell graduated with honors from Stanford University with a degree in Political Science.	17	None.

# **OFFICERS**

Name, Address* & Year of Birth	Position(s) Held with Fund	Term of Office** and Length of Time Served	Principal Occupation(s) During Past 5 Years***
Lucas Foss, 1977	President	Since 2022	Mr. Foss rejoined ALPS in November 2017 and is currently Director, Fund Compliance and Governance. Prior to his current role, Mr. Foss served as the Director of Compliance at Transamerica Asset Management (2015-2017) and Deputy Chief Compliance Officer at ALPS (2012-2015). Mr. Foss is President of ALPS Series Trust and Chief Compliance Officer of Bluerock Total Income + Real Estate Fund; Bluerock High Income Institutional Credit Fund; SPDR® S&P 500® ETF Trust, SPDR® Dow Jones® Industrial Average ETF Trust, and SPDR® S&P MIDCAP 400® ETF Trust.
Jennell Panella, 1974	Treasurer	Since 2020	Ms. Panella joined ALPS in June 2012 and is currently Fund Controller of ALPS Fund Services, Inc. Prior to joining ALPS, Ms. Panella served as Financial Reporting Manager for Parker Global Strategies, LLC (2009-2012).
Paul Holland, 1966	Assistant Treasurer	Since 2024	Mr. Holland joined ALPS in July 2022 and is currently a Fund Controller of ALPS Fund Services, Inc. Prior to joining ALPS, Mr. Holland held the position of analyst/manager at JP Morgan Chase & Co., consultant/manager at Brown Brothers Harriman & Co., analyst/AVP at Wellington Management Company, LLP and controller at real estate firms John J. Flatley Company and The Revival Companies.
<b>Ted Uhl</b> , 1974	Chief Compliance Officer ("CCO")	Since 2010	Mr. Uhl joined ALPS in October 2006, and is currently Deputy Compliance Officer of ALPS. Prior to his current role, Mr. Uhl served as Senior Risk Manager for ALPS from October 2006 until June 2010. Before joining ALPS, Mr. Uhl served a Sr. Analyst with Enenbach and Associates (RIA), and a Sr. Financial Analyst at Sprint. Because of his position with ALPS, Mr. Uhl is deemed an affiliate of the Trust as defined under the 1940 Act. Mr. Uhl is also CCO of ALPS Interval Fund Platform, Centre Funds, GraniteShares ETF Trust, Axonic Funds, Accordant ODCE Index Fund and FS MVP Private Markets Fund. Mr. Uhl formerly served as CCO of the Boulder Growth & Income Fund, Inc., Index Funds and Reality Shares ETF Trust.

Brendan Hamill, 1986	Secretary	Since 2024	Mr. Hamill rejoined ALPS in April 2024, and is currently Vice President and Principal Legal Counsel. Prior to his current role, Mr. Hamill was an Attorney-Adviser at the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (October 2022-March 2024), Vice President and Principal Legal Counsel ALPS (August 2021-October 2022), and an attorney at Lewis Brisbois Bisgaard & Smith, LLP (law firm) (December 2018-August 2021). Mr. Hamill also serves as Secretary of each of the ALPS ETF Trust, ALPS Variable Investment Trust, and the Principal Real Estate Income Fund.
Sheri Zetterower, 1963	Assistant Secretary	Since 2023	Ms. Zetterower rejoined ALPS in August 2022 and is currently a Senior Paralegal of ALPS Fund Services, Inc. Prior to her current role, Ms. Zetterower worked at Ultimus Fund Solutions, Inc. (November 2020 – August 2022) and ALPS Fund Services, Inc. (April 2013 – October 2020).
Benjamin Winograd, 1993	Assistant Secretary	Since 2023	Mr. Winograd joined ALPS in June 2023 and is currently Principal Legal Counsel. Prior to joining ALPS, Mr. Winograd was the Director of Enforcement at AdvisorLaw (law firm) from February 2020-August 2022. He also serves as Assistant Secretary of AVIT.

- \* All communications to Trustees and Officers may be directed to Financial Investors Trust c/o 430 W 7th Street, Suite 219623, Kansas City, MO 64105-1407.
- \*\* This is the period for which the Trustee or Officer began serving the Trust. Each Trustee serves an indefinite term, until such Trustees successor is elected and appointed, or such Trustee resigns or is deceased. Officers are elected on an annual basis.
- \*\*\* Except as otherwise indicated, each individual has held the office shown or other offices in the same company for the last five years. Because of their respective positions with ALPS, each officer is considered an affiliated person of the Trust as defined under the 1940 Act.
- \*\*\*\* The Fund Complex includes all series of the Trust (currently 17) and any other investment companies for which Seafarer Capital Partners, LLC provides investment advisory services, currently none).

# Additional Information About the Trustees' Qualifications and Experience

The following is a brief discussion of the specific education, experience, qualifications, or skills that led to the conclusion, as of the date of this SAI, that each person identified below should serve as a Trustee for the Trust.

### Mary K. Anstine

Ms. Anstine has been an Independent Trustee of the Trust since March 21, 1997. Currently retired, Ms. Anstine has over 30 years of financial services experience. Most recently, she was President and CEO of HealthONE Alliance, Denver, Colorado from 1994 through 2004. From 1964 to 1994, Ms. Anstine held positions leading up to Executive Vice President of First Interstate Bank. She was selected to serve as a Trustee of the Trust based on her business and financial services experience.

### Jeremy W. Deems

Mr. Deems has been an Independent Trustee of the Trust since March 11, 2008. In 2007, Mr. Deems co-founded Green Alpha Advisors, LLC, a registered investment adviser, for which he currently serves as Financial Officer and Chief Compliance Officer. He is also a co-portfolio manager of the AXS Green Alpha ETF. Prior to co-founding Green Alpha Advisors, Mr. Deems was CFO of Forward Management, LLC, investment advisor to the Forward Funds and Sierra Club Mutual Funds, where he was also co-portfolio manager to the Sierra Club Stock Fund. In addition, he was the CFO of ReFlow Management Co., LLC. Prior to joining Forward and ReFlow, he served as Regional Marketing Assistant within the Investment Consulting Services Group at Morgan Stanley Dean Witter. Mr. Deems received a B.S. and a MBA in finance from Saint Mary's College of California and was a licensed Certified Public Accountant from 2001 to 2016. He was selected to serve as a Trustee of the Trust based on his business, financial services, accounting and investment management experience.

### Jerry G. Rutledge

Mr. Rutledge has been an Independent Trustee of the Trust since August 7, 2009. Mr. Rutledge is the President and owner of Rutledge's Inc., an upscale men's clothing store, which he opened in 1967. Mr. Rutledge has over 50 years of business experience. He served on the CU Board of Regents from 1995 to 2007 and currently serves as a Director of the University of Colorado Hospital. Mr. Rutledge is a graduate of the University of Colorado. He was selected to serve as a Trustee of the Trust based on his business experience.

## Michael "Ross" Shell

Mr. Shell has been an Independent Trustee of the Trust since August 7, 2009. In 2008, Mr. Shell founded Red Idea, LLC, a strategic consulting/early stage venture firm, for which he currently serves as CEO. From 1999 to 2009, he was a part-owner and Director of Tesser, Inc., a brand agency, during which time he also served as Director, Marketing and Investor Relations, of Woodbourne, a REIT/real estate hedge fund and private equity firm. Prior to this, he worked as a business strategy consultant, he was on the Global Client Services team of IDEO, and he was President of Tesser, Inc. Mr. Shell graduated with honors from Stanford University with a degree in Political Science. He was selected to serve as a Trustee of the Trust based on his business, financial services and investment management experience.

#### Edmund J. Burke

Mr. Burke has been an Independent Trustee of the Trust since June 14, 2022. Prior to that he served as an Interested Trustee of the Trust beginning August 7, 2009. Mr. Burke joined ALPS Fund Services, Inc., the Funds' administrator, in 1991 and retired in 2019. He previously served as Director of ALPS Holdings, Inc., ALPS Fund Services, Inc., ALPS Advisors, Inc., ALPS Distributors, Inc., the Funds' principal underwriter, and ALPS Portfolio Solutions Distributor, Inc. Mr. Burke has over 20 years of financial services and investment management experience. Before joining ALPS, Mr. Burke was a Regional Vice President for the Pioneer Funds in Boston and has also worked with Fidelity. Mr. Burke has a B.A. in Economics from the University of New Hampshire. He was selected to serve as a Trustee of the Trust based on his business, financial services and investment management experience.

None of the Independent Trustees own securities in the Adviser or Distributor, nor do they own securities in any entity directly controlling, controlled by, or under common control with the Adviser or Distributor.

## Leadership Structure and Oversight Responsibilities

Overall responsibility for oversight of each Fund rests with the Trustees. The Trust has engaged the Adviser to manage each Fund on a day-to-day basis. The Board is responsible for overseeing the Adviser and other service providers in the operations of each Fund in accordance with the provisions of the 1940 Act, applicable provisions of state and other laws, and the Trust's charter. The Board is currently composed of five members, four of whom are Independent Trustees. The Board meets at regularly scheduled quarterly meetings each year. In addition, the Board may hold special in-person or telephonic meetings or informal conference calls to discuss specific matters that may arise or require action between regular meetings. As described below, the Board has established a Nominating and Governance Committee and an Audit Committee, and may establish ad hoc committees or working groups from time to time, to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities. The Independent Trustees have also engaged independent legal counsel to assist them in performing their oversight responsibilities.

The Board has appointed Michael "Ross" Shell, an Independent Trustee, to serve in the role of Chairman. The Chairman's role is to preside at all meetings of the Board and to act as a liaison with the Adviser, other service providers, counsel and other Trustees generally between meetings. The Chairman may also perform such other functions as may be delegated by the Board from time to time. The Board reviews matters related to its leadership structure annually. The Board has determined that the Board's leadership structure is appropriate given the Trust's characteristics and circumstances. These characteristics include, but are not limited to, the Trust's multiple series of fund shares, each fund's single portfolio of assets, each fund's net assets, the services provided by the funds' service providers, the formal and informal functions of the various Independent Trustees both during and between Board meetings, the existence of the Trust for over 25 years, and the long board service of some of the Independent Trustees, which in some cases dates back to the inception of the Trust.

Risk oversight forms part of the Board's general oversight of the Funds and is addressed as part of various Board and Committee activities. As part of its regular oversight of the Funds, the Board, directly or through a Committee, interacts with and reviews reports from, among others, Fund management, the Adviser, the Funds' Chief Compliance Officer, the Funds' legal counsel and the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm for the Funds regarding risks faced by the Funds. The Board, with the assistance of Fund management and the Adviser, reviews investment policies and risks in connection with its review of each Fund's performance. The Board has appointed a Chief Compliance Officer who oversees the implementation and testing of the Funds' compliance program and reports to the Board regarding compliance matters for the Funds and their principal service providers. In addition, as part of the Board's periodic review of each Fund's advisory and other service provider agreements, the Board may consider risk management aspects of these service providers' operations and the functions for which they are responsible.

None of the Independent Trustees own securities in the Adviser or the Distributor, nor do they own securities in any entity directly controlling, controlled by, or under common control with the Adviser or the Distributor.

Audit Committee. The Board has an Audit Committee which considers such matters pertaining to the Trust's books of account, financial records, internal accounting controls and changes in accounting principles or practices as the Trustees may from time to time determine. The Audit Committee also considers the engagement and compensation of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm ("Firm") and ensures receipt from the Firm of a formal written statement delineating relationships between the Firm and the Trust, consistent with Public Company Accounting Oversight Board Rule 3526. The Audit Committee also meets privately with the representatives of the Firm to review the scope and results of audits and other duties as set forth in the Audit Committee's Charter. The Audit Committee members, each of whom are Independent Trustees are: Ms. Anstine and Messrs. Deems (Chairman), Rutledge, Shell and Burke. The Audit Committee met four times during the fiscal year ended April 30, 2024.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee meets periodically to advise and assist the Board in selecting nominees to serve as trustees of the Trust. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee believes the Board generally benefits from diversity of background, experience and views among its members, and considers this a factor in evaluating the composition of the Board, but has not adopted any specific policy in this regard. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee also advises and assists the Board in establishing, implementing and executing policies, procedures and practices that assure orderly and effective governance of the Trust and effective and efficient management of all business and financial affairs of the Trust. Members of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee are currently: Ms. Anstine and Messrs. Deems, Rutledge, and Shell (Chairman). The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of the Board met three times during the fiscal year ended April 30, 2024.

Shareholder Nominations. The Board will consider shareholder nominees for Trustees. All nominees must possess the appropriate characteristics, skills and experience for serving on the Board. In particular, the Board and its Independent Trustees will consider each nominee's integrity, educational and professional background, understanding of the Trust's business on a technical level and commitment to devote the time and attention necessary to fulfill a Trustee's duties. All shareholders who wish to recommend nominees for consideration as Trustees shall submit the names and qualifications of the candidates to the Secretary of the Trust by writing to: Financial Investors Trust, PO Box, Kansas City, MO 64121-9623.

As of December 31, 2023, the dollar range of equity securities in the Funds beneficially owned by Independent Trustees were as follows:

Independent Trustees	Dollar Range of Equity Securities in the Funds	Aggregate Dollar Range of Equity Securities in All Registered Investment Companies Overseen by Trustee in Family of Investment Companies
Mary K. Anstine	None	\$10,001-\$50,000
Jeremy W. Deems	None	None
Jerry G. Rutledge	None	\$10,001-\$50,000
Michael "Ross" Shell	None	\$10,001-\$50,000
Edmund J. Burke	None	None

## **Remuneration of Trustees**

All Trustees receive a quarterly retainer of \$31,000, plus \$12,500 for each regular quarterly Board meeting attended. Trustees receive \$5,000 for each non-quarterly special Board meeting attended for which a corresponding non-quarterly special Board meeting is not held. The Chairman of the Board and the Chairman of the Audit Committee also receive an additional quarterly retainer of \$7,500 and \$6,000, respectively. The Chairperson of the Nominating and Governance Committee receives a quarterly retainer of \$2,000. The Trustees are also reimbursed for all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses relating to attendance at meetings. For the fiscal year ended April 30, 2024, the Trustees received the following compensation:

	Aggregate Compensation From the Trust	Pension Or Retirement Benefits Accrued As Part of Fund Expenses	Estimated Annual Benefits Upon Retirement	Aggregate Compensation From The Trust And Fund Complex Paid To Trustees*
Mary K. Anstine	\$229,000	_	_	\$428,000
Jeremy W. Deems	\$223,000	_	_	\$453,500
Jerry G. Rutledge	\$199,000	_	_	\$244,500
Michael "Ross" Shell	\$199,000	_	_	\$199,000
Edmund J. Burke	\$199,000	_	_	\$352,000

<sup>\*</sup> The Fund Complex includes all series of the Trust (currently 17) and any other investment companies for which any Trustee serves as trustee for and which Seafarer Capital Partners, LLC provides investment advisory services (currently none).

No officer, trustee or employee of the Adviser or any of its affiliates receives any compensation from the Funds for serving as an officer or trustee of the Funds.

### INVESTMENT ADVISER

Seafarer Capital Partners, LLC, subject to the authority of the Board of Trustees, is responsible for the overall management and administration of each Fund's business affairs. The Adviser commenced business operations in 2011, and is registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission as an investment adviser. The Adviser's principal address is 60 E. Sir Francis Drake Blvd., Suite 200, Larkspur, CA 94939.

Pursuant to the Investment Advisory Agreement (the "Advisory Agreement"), the Funds, in the aggregate, pay the Adviser an annual management fee of 0.75% of the aggregate average daily net assets of the Funds over \$1.5 billion. Each Fund shall pay to the Adviser a monthly fee at the annual rate using the applicable management fee calculated based on the Fund's pro rata share of the Funds' combined average daily net assets.

The Adviser has agreed to contractually limit the total amount of the "Management Fees" that it is entitled to receive from the Funds. To the extent the Total Annual Fund Operating Expenses of a Fund (inclusive of acquired fund fees and expenses, and exclusive of brokerage expenses, interest expense, taxes and extraordinary expenses) exceed 1.35% for Retail Class shares, 1.15% for Investor Class shares, and 1.05% for Institutional Class shares, respectively, of the average daily net assets, the Adviser shall reimburse such Fund (or class as applicable) by the amount of such excess, subject to recapture as described below. Such reimbursement may include waiving all or a portion of the Adviser's Management Fee. The reimbursement shall be allocated to each class of the Fund in the same manner as the underlying expenses or fees were allocated. This agreement (the "Expense Agreement") shall continue at least through August 31, 2025. The Adviser will be permitted to recapture, on a class-by-class basis, expenses it has reimbursed through the Expense Agreement to the extent that a Fund's expenses in later periods fall below the annual rates set forth in the Expense Agreement; provided, however, that such recapture payments do not cause the Fund's expense ratio (after recapture) to exceed the lesser of (i) the expense cap in effect at the time of the waiver and (ii) the expense cap then in effect at the time of the recapture. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Fund will not be obligated to pay any such fees and expenses more than three years after the date on which the fees or expenses were deferred. In addition, if the Adviser ceases to serve as investment adviser to a Fund as a consequence of (i) a fund reorganization in which the Fund is not the surviving entity or (ii) the hiring of a new investment adviser who is not an affiliate of the Adviser, the Fund will cease to pay to Adviser any such outstanding reimbursable fees and expenses, effective upon the effective date of such event. This agreement may not be termi

The current term of the Advisory Agreement is, separately with respect to each Fund, one year. The Board may extend the Advisory Agreement for additional one-year terms. The Board, shareholders of the Fund, or the Adviser may terminate the Advisory Agreement upon sixty (60) days' notice. A discussion regarding the basis for the Board's approval of the renewal of the Funds' Advisory Agreement is provided in the Funds' Annual Report to shareholders for the period ended April 30, 2024.

The table below shows the management fees paid by the Fund to the Adviser for the periods indicated:	For the Fis Ended April		For the Fis Ended Apri		For the Fise Ended Apri	
	Seafarer Overseas Growth and Income Fund	Seafarer Overseas Value Fund	Seafarer Overseas Growth and Income Fund	Seafarer Overseas Value Fund	Seafarer Overseas Growth and Income Fund	Seafarer Overseas Value Fund
Gross Advisory Fees	\$20,582,156	\$657,680	\$14,302,185	\$422,837	\$14,939,572	\$273,594
Waiver of Advisory Fees	\$0	(\$23,698)	\$0	(\$80,842)	\$0	(\$119,550)
Recoupment of Waived Fees	\$0	\$17,863	\$0	\$8,126	\$0	\$0
Reimbursement of Other Expenses	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0
Net Advisory Fees	\$20,582,156	\$651,845	\$14,302,185	\$350,121	\$14,939,572	\$154,044

# Adviser's Philosophy

Seafarer believes that disciplined active management, applied over a long-term horizon, can enhance investment performance and mitigate portfolio volatility.

Seafarer believes that structural inefficiencies exist within the financial markets of most developing countries. These inefficiencies give rise to persistent mispricing of individual securities. Such inefficiencies may beget pronounced fluctuations in liquidity conditions, which can distort valuations over the short term; alternatively, they may manifest in information asymmetries, where market participants misjudge the quality and growth prospects of a given business over the long term.

Seafarer further believes that most benchmark indices used to measure the performance of developing markets may incorporate certain shortcomings or biases. These biases mean that popular benchmarks may not fully represent the underlying economic and financial activity that they are supposed to track.

Seafarer thinks the presence of these two anomalies – mispriced individual securities, and benchmarks that incorporate biases – may provide an opportunity to enhance long-term investment performance for the benefit of shareholders.

Seafarer believes that fundamental research on individual companies is the best means by which to capitalize on persistent inefficiencies in financial markets. Seafarer constructs portfolios from the "bottom up," meaning that it selects individual securities based on their specific merits.

Seafarer believes its process is best suited to a long-term investment horizon. Seafarer avoids chasing short-term investment themes or trying to time markets.

Seafarer's objective is to provide long-term investment portfolios that participate in the opportunities afforded by growth and progress in the developing world. Seafarer's goal is to build lasting wealth for its clients over time.

### **Team Organization**

Seafarer's aim is to organize its investment team to promote accountability, responsibility, and collaboration. Seafarer places individuals, rather than large teams or committees, in charge of portfolios. Seafarer seeks to give them the authority and discretion to execute their duties accordingly. Seafarer places the responsibility for risk management with individual portfolio managers, and believes that the manager must bear direct responsibility for his or her decisions, and cannot effectively delegate risk management to an oversight group or committee.

Seafarer believes that such a structure promotes accountability and responsibility to clients: the intent is for decisions to be made on a timely basis rather than be lost in committee.

Investment research is undertaken in a highly collaborative manner. The Adviser's team structure is organized to minimize hierarchy and to promote the sharing of information. Seafarer's research process seeks to challenge commonly held assumptions, and to overturn pre-conceived biases.

## DISTRIBUTOR

Shares of each Fund are offered on a continuous basis through ALPS Distributors, Inc. (an affiliate of ALPS) ("ADI" or the "Distributor"), located at 1290 Broadway, Suite 1000, Denver, Colorado 80203, as distributor pursuant to a distribution agreement between the Distributor and the Fund. The Distributor is not obligated to sell any specific amount of Fund shares.

### CODE OF ETHICS

The Fund's Board of Trustees, the Adviser and the Distributor each have adopted a code of ethics under Rule 17j-1 of the 1940 Act. The codes of ethics are on public file with, and are available from, the SEC.

#### ADMINISTRATOR

Each Fund currently employs ALPS Fund Services, Inc. (an affiliate of ADI) ("ALPS" or the "Administrator"), located at PO Box 219623, Kansas City, MO 64121-9623, under an administration agreement to provide certain administrative services to the Funds. Information on the services provided by the Administrator is available in the Prospectus, which is incorporated by reference in this SAI.

The table below shows the administrative fees earned by ALPS for the periods indicated:

	For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2024	For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2023	For the Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2022
Seafarer Overseas Growth and Income Fund	\$634,879	\$599,895	\$605,055
Seafarer Overseas Value Fund	\$82,237	\$70,955	\$61,528

# PROXY VOTING POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

Although individual Board members may not agree with particular policies or votes by the Adviser, the Board has approved delegating proxy voting discretion to the Adviser believing the Adviser should be responsible for voting because it is a matter relating to the investment decision-making process.

Attached as Appendix B are summaries of the guidelines and procedures that the Adviser uses to determine how to vote proxies relating to portfolio securities, including the procedures that the Adviser uses when a vote presents a conflict between the interests of Fund shareholders, on the one hand, and those of the Adviser or any affiliated person of the Funds or the Adviser, on the other. This summary of the guidelines gives a general indication as to how the Adviser will vote proxies relating to portfolio securities on each issue listed. However, the guidelines do not address all potential voting issues or the intricacies that may surround individual proxy votes. For that reason, there may be instances in which votes may vary from the guidelines presented. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Adviser always endeavors to vote proxies relating to portfolio securities in accordance with the Fund's investment objectives. When applicable, information on how a Fund voted proxies relating to portfolio securities during the most recent prior 12-month period ended June 30, will be available without charge, (i) upon request, by calling 1-855-732-9220 and (ii) on the SEC's website at <a href="https://www.sec.gov">www.sec.gov</a> and (iii) contact@seafarerfunds.com.

# CONTROL PERSONS, PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS AND MANAGEMENT OWNERSHIP

To the best knowledge of the Trust, the names and addresses of the record and beneficial holders of 5% or more of the outstanding shares of each Fund and the percentage of the outstanding shares held by such holders are set forth below. To the best knowledge of the Trust, entities shown as owning more than 25% of the outstanding Shares of a Fund are not the beneficial owners of such Shares, unless otherwise indicated. Retail Class shares of the Funds had not commenced operations as of the date of this SAI.

A shareholder who owns beneficially 25% or more of the outstanding securities of a Fund is presumed to "control" the Fund as defined in the 1940 Act. Such control may affect the voting rights of other shareholders. The following table provides the name and address of any person who owns of record or beneficially 5% or more of the outstanding shares of each class of the Funds as of July 31, 2024:

Fund	Shareholder Name and Address	Percentage of Interest	Type of Ownership
Seafarer Overseas Growth and Income - Institutional Class	Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. San Francisco, CA	41.62%	Record
Seafarer Overseas Growth and Income - Institutional Class	PNC Bank, N.A. Cleveland, OH	18.16%	Record
Seafarer Overseas Growth and Income - Institutional Class	National Financial Services, LLC Boston, MA	13.20%	Record
Seafarer Overseas Growth and Income - Institutional Class	SEI Private Trust Co. Oaks, PA	7.96%	Record
Seafarer Overseas Growth and Income - Investor Class	Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. San Francisco, CA	68.38%	Record
Seafarer Overseas Growth and Income - Investor Class	National Financial Services, LLC Boston, MA	28.70%	Record
Seafarer Overseas Value - Institutional Class	Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. San Francisco, CA	54.86%	Record
Seafarer Overseas Value - Institutional Class	National Financial Services, LLC Boston, MA	29.37%	Record
Seafarer Overseas Value - Institutional Class	Vanguard Marketing Corporation Malvern, PA	5.95%	Record
Seafarer Overseas Value - Investor Class	Seafarer Capital Partners LLC Corte Madera, CA	25.20%	Beneficial
Seafarer Overseas Value - Investor Class	RM & PN JTWROS TOD Wayne, ME	20.11%	Beneficial
Seafarer Overseas Value - Investor Class	R.R. Trust Roscoe, IL	13.47%	Beneficial
Seafarer Overseas Value - Investor Class	The Honesdale National Bank Cincinnati, OH	11.78%	Record
Seafarer Overseas Value - Investor Class	J.B.H, San Diego, CA	8.04%	Beneficial

The Trustees and Officers of the Trust as a group owned less than 1% of any Fund's shares.

# **EXPENSES**

The Funds' expenses include taxes, interest, fees and salaries of the Trust's Fund Trustees and officers who are not trustees, officers or employees of the Funds' service contractors, SEC fees, state securities qualification fees, costs of preparing and printing prospectuses for regulatory purposes and for distribution to existing shareholders, advisory and administration fees, charges of the custodian and of the transfer and dividend disbursing agent, certain insurance premiums, outside auditing and legal expenses, costs of shareholder reports and shareholder meetings, other miscellaneous expenses and any extraordinary expenses. The Funds also pays for brokerage fees and commissions (if any) in connection with the purchase and sale of portfolio securities.

## PORTFOLIO MANAGERS

The following sections set forth certain additional information with respect to the portfolio managers for the Funds. Unless noted otherwise, all information is provided as of April 30, 2024.

### Other Accounts Managed by Portfolio Managers

The table below identifies as of April 30, 2024, for the portfolio managers of each Fund, the number of accounts (other than the Funds with respect to which information is provided) for which they have day-to-day management responsibilities and the total assets in such accounts, within each of the following categories: registered investment companies, other pooled investment vehicles, and other accounts.

		d Investment npanies		ooled Investment Vehicles	Other	· Accounts
Portfolio Managers	Number	Total Assets (in millions)	Number	Total Assets (in millions)	Number	Total Assets (in millions)
Paul Espinosa	0	\$0	0	\$0	0	\$0
Andrew Foster	0	\$0	0	\$0	0	\$0
Lydia So	0	\$0	0	\$0	0	\$0
Brent Clayton	0	\$0	0	\$0	0	\$0
Kate Jaquet	0	\$0	0	\$0	0	\$0

### **Portfolio Manager Compensation**

Compensation. The Adviser seeks to maintain a compensation program that is competitively positioned to attract and retain high-caliber investment professionals. Portfolio managers receive a fixed base salary, an incentive bonus opportunity, an equity compensation opportunity, and a benefits package. Portfolio manager compensation is reviewed and may be modified each year as appropriate to reflect changes in the market, as well as to adjust the factors used to determine bonuses to promote good sustained fund performance.

The Adviser may evaluate competitive market compensation by reviewing investment industry compensation survey results conducted by an independent third party.

The portfolio manager's compensation consists of the following three elements:

- Base salary. The portfolio manager is paid a fixed base salary. In setting the base salary, the Adviser's intention is to be competitive in light of the particular portfolio manager's experience and responsibilities.
- Discretionary cash bonus. Dependent on the Adviser's profitability and financial resources, the portfolio manager is eligible to receive a discretionary, cash bonus. That bonus is determined based on quantitative and qualitative assessment of the manager's performance. Where sufficient performance history exists for the manager, a portion of his or her bonus is quantitatively determined, based typically upon an amalgamation of historical rolling averages of the pre-tax performance of all registered investment companies under the manager's advice and direction. Such performance is judged relative to applicable benchmark indices, the performance of a pre-determined peer group, and for periods in excess of five years, in absolute (i.e., against compounded rates of return for short-term treasury bonds). The longer a manager's record, the greater portion of his or her bonus that is determined quantitatively. The residual component of the bonus is determined on qualitative grounds, where the Adviser may take into account various subjective (possibly mitigating) factors. Strong qualitative and quantitative performance (against the applicable benchmark, peer group and in absolute) could deliver compensation that may be substantial in comparison to the manager's base salary. Poor qualitative and quantitative performance (against the applicable benchmark, peer group and in absolute) could result in no bonus whatsoever. The amount of fund assets under management may have an indirect impact on the potential size of the bonus, particularly as such assets will likely augment the Adviser's revenues, thus improving its financial resources and its capacity to pay cash bonuses.

• Equity incentives. The Adviser has established an equity incentive program that allows key personnel to build ownership in the Adviser's capital structure. The Adviser believes that such incentives are useful in that they help retain key personnel, they better align managers' interests with those of clients, and they provide personnel with the proper motivation to balance short-term and long-term management objectives.

Conflicts of Interest with Other Accounts. Potential conflicts of interest may arise when a Fund's portfolio manager has day-to-day management responsibilities with respect to one or more other funds or accounts.

The Adviser and each Fund have adopted compliance policies and procedures that are designed to address various conflicts of interest that may arise for the Adviser and the individuals that it employs. For example, the Adviser seeks to minimize the effects of competing interests for the time and attention of portfolio managers by assigning portfolio managers to manage funds and accounts that share a similar investment style. The Adviser has also adopted trade allocation procedures that are designed to facilitate the fair allocation of limited investment opportunities between the Fund and other client accounts. There is no guarantee, however, that the policies and procedures adopted by the Adviser will detect and/or prevent every situation in which an actual or potential conflict may appear.

## These potential conflicts include:

Allocation of Limited Time and Attention. A portfolio manager who is responsible for managing multiple funds and/or accounts may devote unequal time and attention to the management of those funds and/or accounts. As a result, the portfolio manager may not be able to formulate as complete a strategy or identify equally attractive investment opportunities for each of those accounts as might be the case if he or she were to devote substantially more attention to the management of a single fund. The effects of this potential conflict may be more pronounced where funds and/or accounts overseen by a particular portfolio manager have different investment strategies.

Allocation of Limited Investment Opportunities. If a portfolio manager identifies a limited investment opportunity that may be suitable for the Fund and/or other accounts, the opportunity may be allocated among the Fund or these other accounts, which may limit the Fund's ability to take full advantage of the investment opportunity.

Pursuit of Differing Strategies. At times, a portfolio manager may determine that an investment opportunity may be appropriate for only some of the funds and/or accounts for which he or she exercises investment responsibility, or may decide that certain of the funds and/or accounts should take differing positions with respect to a particular security. Also, the manager may face differing liquidity conditions for different accounts, which may give rise to the need for differing strategies for each. In these cases, the portfolio manager may place separate transactions for one or more funds or accounts which may affect the market price of the security or the execution of the transaction, or both, to the detriment or benefit of one or more other funds and/or accounts.

Selection of Brokers/Dealers. Portfolio managers may be able to select or influence the selection of the brokers and dealers that are used to execute securities transactions for the funds and/or accounts that they supervise. In addition to executing trades, some brokers and dealers provide portfolio managers with brokerage and research services (as those terms are defined in Section 28(e) of the 1934 Act), which may result in the payment of higher brokerage fees than might have otherwise been available. These services may be more beneficial to certain funds or accounts than to others. Although the payment of brokerage commissions is subject to the requirement that the portfolio manager determine in good faith that the commissions are reasonable in relation to the value of the brokerage and research services provided to the fund, a portfolio manager's decision as to the selection of brokers and dealers could yield disproportionate costs and benefits among the funds and/or accounts that he or she manages.

Variation in Compensation. A conflict of interest may arise where the financial or other benefits available to the portfolio manager differ among the funds and/or accounts that he or she manages. If the structure of the investment adviser's management fee and/or the portfolio manager's compensation differs among funds and/or accounts (such as where certain funds or accounts pay higher management fees or performance-based management fees), the portfolio manager might be motivated to help certain funds and/or accounts over others. The portfolio manager might be motivated to favor funds and/or accounts in which he or she has an interest or in which the investment adviser and/or its affiliates have interests. Similarly, the desire to maintain or raise assets under management or to enhance the portfolio manager's performance record or to derive other rewards, financial or otherwise, could influence the portfolio manager to lend preferential treatment to those funds and/or accounts that could most significantly benefit the portfolio manager.

Related Business Opportunities. The Adviser may provide more services (such as administration or recordkeeping) for some types of accounts than for others. In such cases, a portfolio manager may benefit, either directly or indirectly, by devoting disproportionate attention to the management of funds and/or accounts that provide greater overall returns to the Adviser.

## **Ownership of Securities**

The table below identifies ownership of Fund securities by each Portfolio Manager as of April 30, 2024.

Portfolio Manager	Dollar Range of Ownership of Securities – Seafarer Overseas Growth and Income Fund	Dollar Range of Ownership of Securities – Seafarer Overseas Value Fund
Paul Espinosa	\$50,001 - \$100,000	\$100,001 - \$500,000
Andrew Foster	Over \$1,000,000	Over \$1,000,000
Lydia So	\$100,001 - \$500,000	None
Brent Clayton	\$10,001 - \$50,000	\$10,001 - \$50,000
Kate Jaquet	\$50,001 - \$100,000	\$1 - \$10,000

## NET ASSET VALUE

The following is a description of the procedures used by the Funds in valuing their assets. Because of the differences in service and distribution fees and class-specific expenses, the per share net asset value of each class may differ. For the purpose of pricing purchase and redemption orders, the net asset value per share of each class of each Fund is calculated separately and is determined once daily as of the close of regularly scheduled trading on the NYSE (normally, 4:00 p.m. Eastern time). The Funds' net asset value is calculated on each day that the NYSE is open for trading, i.e., Monday through Friday, except for New Year's Day, Martin Luther King, Jr. Day, Presidents' Day, Good Friday, Memorial Day, Juneteenth, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day, and the preceding Friday or subsequent Monday when one of those holidays falls on a Saturday or Sunday, respectively.

In calculating net asset value, equity securities listed or traded on national securities exchanges are valued at the last sale price or, if there have been no sales on that day, at the mean of the current bid and ask price which represents the current value of the security. Over-the-counter securities are valued at the mean of the current bid and ask price.

Portfolio securities listed on the NASDAQ National Market System for which market quotations are available are valued at the official closing price. If there is no official closing price, the securities are valued at the last sale price or, if there have been no sales that day, at the mean of the current bid and ask price which represents the current value of the security.

Securities that are primarily traded on foreign exchanges generally are valued at the preceding closing values of such securities on their respective exchanges, except that when an occurrence subsequent to the time a value was so established is likely to have changed such value, then the fair value of those securities will be determined by consideration of other factors by the valuation designee. In valuing assets, prices denominated in foreign currencies are converted to U.S. dollar equivalents at the current exchange rate. Securities may be valued by independent pricing services which use prices provided by market-makers or estimates of market values obtained from yield data relating to instruments or securities with similar characteristics. Short-term obligations with maturities of 60 calendar days or less are valued at amortized cost, which constitutes fair value as determined by the valuation designee. Amortized cost involves valuing an instrument at its original cost to the Fund and thereafter assuming a constant amortization to maturity of any discount or premium, regardless of the impact of fluctuating interest rates on the market value of the instrument. All other securities and other assets of the Fund will be valued at fair value as determined in good faith pursuant to procedures adopted by the valuation designee.

## FEDERAL INCOME TAXES

This section provides additional information concerning U.S. federal income taxes. It is based on the Code, applicable U.S. Treasury Regulations, judicial authority, and administrative rulings and practice, all as of the date of this SAI, and all of which are subject to change, including changes with retroactive effect. The following does not address any state, local or foreign or estate or gift tax matters.

A shareholder's U.S. federal income tax consequences from acquiring, holding and disposing of shares in a Fund may vary depending upon the shareholder's particular situation. This discussion only applies to shareholders who are U.S. persons, except where otherwise stated. For purposes of this discussion, U.S. persons are: (i) U.S. citizens or residents, (ii) U.S. corporations (i.e., entities classified as corporations for U.S. tax purposes that are organized under the laws of the United States or any state), (iii) an estate whose income is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source, or (iv) a trust, if a court within the United States is able to exercise primary supervision over its administration and one or more U.S. persons have the authority to control all of its substantial decisions, or if the trust has a valid election in effect under applicable Treasury regulations to be treated as a U.S. person.

Except where expressly noted, this discussion does not address issues of significance to U.S. persons in special situations such as: (i) certain types of tax-exempt entities, (ii) shareholders holding shares through tax-qualified accounts (such as 401(k) plan accounts or individual retirement accounts), (iii) shareholders holding investments through foreign institutions (financial and non-financial), (iv) financial institutions, (v) broker-dealers, (vi) entities not organized under the laws of the United States or a political subdivision thereof, (vii) shareholders holding shares as part of a hedge, straddle or conversion transaction, (viii) shareholders who are subject to the U.S. federal alternative minimum tax or the U.S. federal corporate alternative minimum tax, and (ix) insurance companies.

If a pass-through entity (including for this purpose any entity treated as a partnership or S corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes) is a beneficial owner of shares, the tax treatment of an owner in the entity will generally depend upon the status of the owner and the activities of the entity. Pass-through entities that are considering the purchase of shares should consult their own tax advisers regarding the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposition of shares.

Neither Fund has requested and will not request an advance ruling from the Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS") as to the U.S. federal income tax matters described below. The IRS could adopt positions contrary to those discussed below and such positions could be sustained. In addition, the foregoing discussion only addresses some of the U.S. federal income tax considerations generally affecting investments in the Fund. Prospective shareholders are urged to consult with their own tax advisers as to the particular U.S. federal tax consequences to them of an investment in the Fund, as well as the applicability and effect of any state, local or foreign laws, and the effect of possible changes in applicable tax laws.

## **General Policies**

In general, the Seafarer Overseas Growth and Income Fund's policy is to distribute to its shareholders substantially all of its net investment income, paid out via two semi-annual distributions, in June and December. The Seafarer Overseas Value Fund's policy is to distribute to its shareholders substantially all of its net investment income via one annual distribution in December. It is also each Fund's policy to distribute annually all of its net realized short-term and long-term capital gains, if any, after offsetting any capital loss carryovers. Subject to certain limitations under the 1940 Act and the rules and regulations thereunder, a Fund may make additional distributions at other times if the Fund believes doing so will share tax obligations more ratably and more equitably across shareholders over time. Ordinary income distributions are payable in full and fractional shares of the relevant class of a Fund based upon the net asset value determined as of the close of the exchange on the record date for each distribution. Shareholders, however, may elect to receive their ordinary income distributions or capital gain distributions, or both, in cash. The election may be made at any time by submitting a written request directly to the relevant Fund. In order for a change to be in effect for any distribution, it must be received by the Fund five days before the payment date for such distribution.

Distribution checks will only be issued for payments greater than \$25.00. Distribution payments less than \$25.00 will automatically be reinvested in shares of the Fund(s) generating the distribution. Un-cashed distribution checks will be canceled, and proceeds reinvested at the then current net asset value, for any shareholder who chooses to receive distributions in cash, if distribution checks: (1) are returned and marked as "undeliverable" or (2) remain un-cashed for six months after the date of issuance. If distribution checks are canceled and reinvested, your account election may also be changed so that all future distributions are reinvested rather than paid in cash. Interest will not accrue on uncashed distribution checks.

Detailed U.S. federal tax information will be furnished to each shareholder for each calendar year as required by federal tax law.

#### Taxation of the Funds

The Funds intend to elect to be treated and qualify each year as a regulated investment company ("RIC") under Subchapter M of the Code. Each Fund also intends to be treated as a separate entity for federal income tax purposes. Thus, the provisions of the Code applicable to RICs generally will apply separately to each Fund even though it is a series of the Trust. Furthermore, each Fund will separately determine its income, gain, losses and expenses for federal income tax purposes.

In order to qualify for the special tax treatment accorded RICs and their shareholders, a Fund must, among other things: (i) derive at least 90% of its gross income in each taxable year from dividends, interest, payments with respect to certain securities loans, gains from the sale or other disposition of stock, securities or foreign currencies, or other income (including, but not limited to, gains from options, futures or forward contracts) derived with respect to its business of investing in such stock, securities or currencies and net income derived from interests in "qualified publicly traded partnerships" (as defined in the following paragraph); (ii) diversify its holdings so that at the end of each fiscal quarter, (a) at least 50% of the value of its total assets consists of cash and cash items (including receivables), U.S. government securities, securities of other RICs, and other securities limited generally, with respect to any one issuer, to no more than 5% of the value of the Fund's total assets and 10% of the outstanding voting securities of such issuer, and (b) not more than 25% of the value of the Fund's total assets are invested in (1) the securities (other than those of the U.S. government or other RICs) of any one issuer, (2) the securities (other than the securities of other RICs) of two or more issuers which the Fund controls and which are engaged in the same, similar or related trades or businesses, or (3) in the securities of one or more qualified publicly traded partnerships; and (iii) distribute with respect to each taxable year an amount equal to or exceeding the sum of (a) 90% of its "investment company taxable income," as that term is defined in the Code (which generally includes, among other things, dividends, taxable interest, and the excess of any net short-term capital gains over net long-term capital losses, as reduced by certain deductible expenses) without regard to the deduction for dividends paid, and (b) 90% of its tax-exempt interest income, net of expenses allocable thereto

With respect to (i) above, the IRS may limit qualifying income from foreign currency gains and from certain derivatives to the amount of such income that is directly related to a RIC's principal business of investing in stock or securities pursuant to regulations that may be promulgated in the future. For purposes of the 90% gross income requirement described in (i) above, income derived from a partnership will generally be treated as qualifying income only to the extent such income is attributable to items of income of the partnership which would be qualifying income if realized by the RIC. However, 100% of the net income derived from an interest in a "qualified publicly traded partnership" (defined as a partnership (x) interests in which are traded on an established securities market or readily tradable on a secondary market or the substantial equivalent thereof and (y) that derives less than 90% of its income from the qualifying income described in (i) above) will be treated as qualifying income. In addition, although in general the passive activity loss rules of the Code do not apply to RICs, such rules do apply to a RIC with respect to items attributable to an interest in a qualified publicly traded partnership. Finally, for purposes of (ii)(a) above, the term "outstanding voting securities of such issuer" will include the equity securities of a qualified publicly traded partnership.

To the extent that it qualifies for treatment as a RIC, a Fund will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on income distributed to its shareholders in a timely manner in the form of dividends (including capital gain dividends, defined below). In certain situations, a Fund can cure failures to meet the income and diversification tests described above, including, in some cases, by paying a Fund-level tax and, in the case of diversification failures, disposing of certain assets. If a Fund were to fail to qualify as a RIC accorded special tax treatment in any taxable year – for example, because it was not sufficiently diversified under the applicable Code tests – the Fund would be subject to tax on its taxable income at corporate rates, and all distributions from earnings and profits, including any distributions of net tax-exempt income and net long-term capital gains, would be taxable to shareholders as ordinary income or as qualified dividend income. To qualify again to be taxed as a RIC that is accorded special tax treatment in a subsequent year, a Fund could be required to pay substantial taxes, penalties and interest and make substantial distributions. In addition, if a Fund fails to qualify as a RIC for a period greater than two taxable years, the Fund may be required to recognize and pay tax on any net built-in gain (the excess of aggregate gain, including items of income, over aggregate loss that would have been realized if the Fund had been liquidated) or, alternatively, to be subject to taxation on such built-in gain recognized for a period of five years, in order to qualify as a RIC in a subsequent year.

As a RIC, a Fund generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on its net capital gains (that, is any net long-term capital gains in excess of the net short-term capital losses) properly reported by the Fund in a written statement to shareholders as capital gain dividends ("capital gain dividends") and its investment company taxable income if any, that the Fund distributes to shareholders on a timely basis. Each Fund intends to distribute substantially all of its investment company taxable income and all of its net capital gains in a taxable year, after offsetting any capital loss carryforwards. If a Fund does retain any investment company taxable income, it will be subject to tax at regular corporate rates on the amount retained. However, a Fund may elect to have certain dividends paid after the close of a tax year treated as having been paid during the tax year for purposes of the RIC distribution requirements and for purposes of determining its taxable income ("spill-back dividends"). Spill-back dividends are taxed to shareholders in the year in which they are received. If a Fund retains any net capital gain, it will also be subject to tax at regular corporate rates on the amount retained, but may designate the retained amount as undistributed capital gains in a notice to its shareholders who (i) will be required to include in income for U.S. federal income tax purposes, as long-term capital gain, their shares of such undistributed amount, (ii) will be entitled to credit their proportionate shares of the tax paid by the Fund on such undistributed amount over the shareholder's tax liability on such amount. For U.S. federal income tax purposes, the tax basis of shares owned by a shareholder of the Fund will be increased by an amount equal to the difference between the amount of undistributed capital gains included in the shareholder's income and the tax deemed paid by the shareholder under clause (ii) of the preceding sentence.

Generally, the excess (if any) of a Fund's net short-term capital loss over the net long-term capital gain for a taxable year will carry over as a short-term capital loss arising on the first day of the next tax year. In addition, the excess (if any) of a Fund's net long-term capital loss over the net short-term capital gain for the year will carry over as a long-term capital loss arising on the first day of the next tax year. Unused capital losses realized by the Fund during taxable years may be carried forward indefinitely until they can be used to offset capital gains.

If future capital gains are offset by carried-forward capital losses, such future capital gains are not subject to Fund-level federal income tax, regardless of whether they are distributed to shareholders. However, distributions of gains offset by carried-forward capital losses are treated as return of capital distributions. A Fund cannot carry back or carry forward any net operating losses.

Capital loss carryovers during the fiscal year ended April 30, 2024 were as follows:

Fund	Amount
Seafarer Overseas Growth and Income Fund	\$75,248,710
Seafarer Overseas Value Fund	\$815,432

Capital losses deferred during the fiscal year ended April 30, 2024 were as follows:

Fund	Amount
Seafarer Overseas Value Fund	\$117,362

Each Fund may be limited under Code Section 382 in its ability to offset its taxable income by capital loss carryforwards and net unrealized built-in losses after an "ownership change" of the Fund. The term "net unrealized built-in loss" refers to the excess, if any, of a Fund's aggregate adjusted basis in its assets immediately before an ownership change, over the fair market value of such assets at such time, subject to a *de minimis* rule. A Fund would experience an ownership change under Code Section 382 if and when 5-percent shareholders of the Fund increase their ownership by more than 50 percentage points in the aggregate over their respective lowest percentage ownership of Fund shares in a 3-year period. Under Code Section 382, if a Fund experiences an ownership change, the Fund may use its pre-change tax capital loss carryforwards and net unrealized built-in losses in a year after the ownership change generally only up to the product of the fair market value of the Fund's equity immediately before the ownership change and a certain interest rate published monthly by the U.S. Treasury known as the applicable long-term tax-exempt rate. The foregoing limitation on the use of pre-ownership change capital loss carryforwards lasts indefinitely.

A Fund may elect to treat any post-October capital loss (defined as the company's net capital loss, net long-term capital loss, or net short-term capital loss, as applicable, in each case attributable to the portion of the taxable year after October 31) and late-year ordinary loss (generally, (i) net ordinary losses from the sale, exchange or other taxable disposition of property, attributable to the portion of the taxable year after October 31, plus (ii) other net ordinary losses attributable to the portion of the taxable year after December 31) as if incurred in the succeeding taxable year.

If a Fund fails to distribute in a calendar year at least an amount equal to the sum of 98% of its ordinary income for such year and 98.2% of its net capital gain income for the one-year period ending on October 31 of such year, plus any retained amount for the prior year, the Fund will be subject to a non-deductible excise tax on the undistributed amounts. For these purposes, ordinary gains and losses from the sale, exchange or other taxable disposition of property that would be properly taken into account after October 31 are treated as arising on January 1 of the following calendar year. For purposes of the excise tax, the Fund will be treated as having distributed any amount on which it has been subject to corporate income tax in the taxable year ending within the calendar year. A dividend paid to shareholders in January of a year generally is deemed to have been paid on December 31 of the preceding year, if the dividend is declared and payable to the shareholders of record on a date in October, November or December of that preceding year.

The Funds intend to make distributions sufficient to avoid imposition of the excise tax, although there can be no assurance that they will be able to do so. Moreover, each Fund reserves the right to pay an excise tax rather than make an additional distribution when circumstances warrant (for example, the amount of excise tax to be paid is deemed de minimis by the Fund).

If a Fund were a "personal holding company" for a taxable year and fails to distribute (or to be treated as distributing) all of its investment company taxable income for such year, it may also be subject to a 20% nondeductible tax on its "undistributed personal holding company income." A Fund would generally be a personal holding company for a taxable year if five or fewer individuals own more than 50% of its outstanding shares at any time in the last half of the taxable year. The term "individual" for this purpose includes private foundations and certain trusts. The Funds do not expect to be subject to the tax on undistributed personal holding company income, although there can be no assurance that this will never occur.

### **Equalization Accounting**

Under current law, a Fund is permitted to treat on its tax return as dividends paid the portion of redemption proceeds paid to redeeming shareholders that represents the redeeming shareholders' portion of the Fund's accumulated earnings and profits. This practice, called tax "equalization," would reduce the amount of income and/or gains that a Fund is required to distribute as dividends to non-redeeming shareholders. This practice is not available for a Fund for any taxable year in which the Fund is a "personal holding company" for federal income tax purposes. The total return on a shareholder's investment would generally not be reduced as a result of a Fund's use of this practice. If the IRS were to determine that a Fund's equalization method is improper and that the Fund has under-distributed its income and gain for any taxable year, the Fund may be liable for federal income and/or excise tax.

### **Taxation of Fund Distributions**

For U.S. federal income tax purposes, distributions of investment company taxable income are generally taxable as ordinary income to the extent of a Fund's current or accumulated "earnings and profits." Taxes on distributions of capital gains are determined by how long a Fund owned the investments that generated them, rather than how long a shareholder has owned the shareholder's shares. Distributions of net capital gains from the sale of investments that the Fund owned for more than one year and from other long-term capital gains recognized by the Fund and that are properly designated by the Fund as capital gain dividends (*i.e.*, "capital gain dividends") will be taxable to Fund shareholders as long-term capital gains. The maximum long-term capital gain rate applicable to individuals is generally 20% (in addition to the 3.8% Medicare surtax described below). Generally, distributions of gains from the sale of investments that a Fund owned for one year or less will be taxable as ordinary income.

Each Fund may designate certain dividends as derived from "qualified dividend income," which, when received by an individual or other non-corporate shareholder, will be taxed at the same maximum federal tax rate applicable to long-term capital gains. Dividend income distributed to individual or other non-corporate shareholders will qualify as "qualified dividend income" as that term is defined in section 1(h)(11)(B) of the Code to the extent such distributions are attributable to income from a Fund's investments in common and preferred stock of U.S. companies and stock of certain qualified foreign corporations provided that certain holding period and other requirements are met by both the Fund (with respect to the dividend paying corporation's stock) and the shareholders (with respect to the Fund's shares). The Funds do not expect a significant portion of distributions to be derived from qualified dividend income.

Under the Code, the Funds will be required to report to the IRS all distributions of taxable income and net realized capital gains. Distributions of earnings and gains are taxable to shareholders even if they are paid from income or gains earned by a Fund before a shareholder invested in the Fund (and thus were included in the price the shareholder paid), and are taxable whether shareholders receive them in cash or reinvest them in additional shares (other than distributions, if any, designated by the Fund as "exempt-interest dividends," a designation which the Fund generally does not expect to make). Any gain resulting from the sale or exchange of Fund shares generally will be taxable as capital gains. Dividends or distributions declared in October, November or December to shareholders of record on a date in any such month will be deemed to have been received by shareholders on December 31st if paid by the Fund during the following January.

Dividends received by corporate shareholders that are reported by a Fund in a written statement furnished to shareholders may qualify for the 50% dividends-received deduction to the extent of the amount of qualifying dividends received by the Fund from domestic corporations and to the extent (if any) that a portion of interest paid or accrued on certain high yield discount obligations owned by the Fund are treated as dividends subject (in either case) to certain holding period requirements and debt-financing limitations.

If a Fund makes a distribution in excess of its current and accumulated "earnings and profits" in any taxable year, the excess distribution will be treated as a return of capital to the extent of a shareholder's tax basis in the shareholder's shares, and thereafter as capital gain. A return of capital is generally not taxable, but it reduces a shareholder's basis in the shareholder's shares, thus reducing any loss or increasing any gain on a subsequent taxable disposition by the shareholder of such shares.

Section 163(j) of the Code generally limits the deductibility of business interest to the sum of the taxpayer's business interest income and 30% of its adjusted taxable income. Certain small businesses are exempt from such limitations. If a Fund, as a regulated investment company, earns business interest income, the Fund would be permitted to pay Section 163(j) interest dividends to its shareholders. A shareholder that receives a Section 163(j) interest dividend generally may treat the dividend as interest income for purposes of Code Section 163(j) if certain holding period requirements are met. Generally, the shareholder must have held fund shares for more than 180 days during the 361-day window beginning 180 days before the ex-dividend date, and the shareholder must not be obligated (under a short sale or otherwise) to make related payments with respect to substantially similar or related property.

# Sale or Redemption of Shares

The sale or redemption of Fund shares may give rise to a gain or loss equal to the difference between the amount received for shares and the shareholder's adjusted tax basis in the shares. In general, any gain or loss realized upon a taxable disposition of Fund shares will be treated as long-term capital gain or loss if the shares have been held for more than 12 months. Otherwise, such gain or loss will be treated as short-term capital gain or loss. However, any loss realized upon a taxable disposition of Fund shares held for six months or less will be treated as long-term, rather than short-term, to the extent of any long-term capital gain distributions received (or deemed received) by the shareholder with respect to the shares. The deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitation.

All or a portion of any loss realized upon a taxable disposition of Fund shares will be disallowed if other substantially identical shares of a Fund are purchased within 30 days before or after the disposition. In such a case, the basis of the newly purchased shares will be adjusted to reflect the disallowed loss.

#### Transfers between Classes of Funds

Transfers of shares between classes of a single Fund are generally not taxable transactions. Certain "significant holders" of a Fund within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.368-3(c)(1) will be required to include in their federal income tax returns for the year of the exchange of one class of shares for another of the Fund for which they are significant holders the information listed in Treasury Regulation Section 1.368-3(b). The term "significant holders" refers to shareholders of a Fund who own at least one percent (by vote or value) of the total outstanding shares of a Fund, as well as shareholders who own shares of a Fund (immediately before the share class transfer in question) having a tax basis of at least \$1 million.

# **Special Tax Considerations**

The following discussion relates to the particular U.S. federal income tax consequences of the investment policies of the Fund.

## Passive Foreign Investment Companies

The Funds do not expect to have significant investments in foreign investment entities referred to as "passive foreign investment companies" ("PFICs"). In order to avoid U.S. federal income tax and an additional interest charge on any "excess distribution" from PFICs or gain from the disposition of PFIC shares, a Fund may elect to "mark-to-market" annually its investments in such entities, which would result in the Fund being treated as if it had sold and repurchased all the PFIC stock at the end of each year. As a result of the mark-to-market election, the Fund would report any such gains as ordinary income and would deduct such losses as ordinary losses to the extent of previously recognized gains. By making the mark-to-market election, a Fund could potentially mitigate the adverse tax consequences with respect to its ownership of shares in a PFIC, but in any particular year may be required to recognize income in excess of the distributions it receives from PFICs and its proceeds from dispositions of PFIC stock. As a RIC, a Fund may have to distribute this "phantom" income and gain to satisfy the distribution requirement and to avoid imposition of the excise tax described above.

Alternatively, a Fund may elect to treat a PFIC as a "qualified electing fund" (a "QEF election"), in which case the Fund must include its share of the company's income and net capital gains annually, regardless of whether it receives distributions from the PFIC. As with the mark-to-market election, these amounts would be taken into account by the Fund for purposes of satisfying the distribution requirement and the excise tax distribution requirement. Amounts included in income under a QEF election would be qualifying dividend income for a RIC if either (i) the earnings attributable to inclusions are distributed in the taxable year of the inclusion or (ii) such earnings are derived with respect to the RIC's business of investing in stock, securities or currency. In order to make a QEF election, a Fund would be required to obtain certain annual information from the PFICs in which it invests, which may be difficult or impossible to obtain. Dividends paid by PFICs or foreign corporations that were PFICs in the year preceding the payment of the dividend will not be eligible to be treated as qualified dividend income.

If a Fund is unable to identify an investment as a PFIC and thus does not make a mark-to-market election or a QEF election, the Fund may be subject to U.S. federal income tax and an interest charge on distributions with respect to such shares, under punitive tax rules that apply to so-called "excess distributions" from PFICs, or gain from the disposition of such share, even if such income is distributed as a taxable dividend by the Fund to its shareholders.

### Controlled Foreign Corporations

The Funds also do not expect to have significant investments in entities referred to as "controlled foreign corporations" ("CFCs"). A CFC is a foreign corporation in which more than 50% of the stock, by vote or value, is owned, directly or constructively, by U.S. persons each of whom own, directly or constructively, 10% or more of the stock of a foreign corporation by vote or by value ("U.S. shareholders"). If a Fund is a U.S. shareholder with respect to a CFC, the Fund must annually include in income its allocable share of the CFC's (i) "subpart F income" and (ii) global intangible low-tax income ("GILTI"), both as defined by the Code, regardless of whether or not the CFC distributes such amounts to the Fund. Amounts included in gross income by a Fund as subpart F income of a CFC are qualifying income for the Fund under Code Section 851(b) if either (i) such amounts are distributed to the Fund in the taxable year in which they are earned by the CFC, or (ii) such income is derived with respect to the Fund's business of investing in stock, securities or currencies. Treasury Regulations provide that GILTI inclusions are treated in the same manner for purposes of Code Section 851(b) as subpart F income.

#### Non-U.S. Taxes

A Fund that invests in non-U.S. securities may be liable to non-U.S. governments for taxes relating primarily to investment income or capital gains on non-U.S. securities in the Fund's portfolio. If at the close of its taxable year more than 50% of the value of a Fund's total assets consist of securities of foreign corporations (including foreign governments), the Fund may make an election under the Code that would allow Fund shareholders who are U.S. persons or U.S. corporations to claim a foreign tax credit or deduction (but not both) on their U.S. income tax return for their pro rata portion of qualified taxes paid by that Fund to non-U.S. countries in respect of non-U.S. securities held at least a minimum period as specified in the Code. If a Fund were eligible for and were to make the election, the amount of each shareholder's taxable income reported on the information returns filed by such Fund with the IRS must be increased by the amount of the shareholder's portion of the Fund's foreign tax paid. A shareholder's ability to claim all or a part of a foreign tax credit or deduction in respect of foreign taxes paid by the Fund would also be subject to certain limitations imposed by the Code.

Alternatively, if a Fund were to qualify as a "qualified fund of funds," the Fund could be entitled to elect to pass-through its foreign tax credits without regard to the above-described 50% requirement. For this purpose, the term "qualified funds of funds" means a RIC if (at the close of each quarter of the taxable year) at least 50% of the value of its total assets is represented by interests in other RICs.

The Funds make no assurances as to either the availability of any election discussed in this section or their willingness to make any such election.

### Non-U.S. Currency Transactions

Transactions in non-U.S. currencies, non-U.S. currency denominated debt obligations and certain non-U.S. currency options, future contracts, and forward contracts (and similar instruments) may give rise to ordinary income or loss to the extent such income or loss results from fluctuations in the value of the non-U.S. currency concerned and may increase the amount and affect the timing and character of taxes payable by shareholders of a Fund. Certain of such Fund's transactions, if any, in foreign currencies and foreign currency denominated instruments are likely to result in a difference between a Fund's book income and taxable income. This difference may cause a portion of such Fund's income distributions to constitute a return of capital or capital gain for tax purposes or require the Fund to make distributions exceeding book income to avoid excise tax liability and to qualify as a RIC, which may have the effect of accelerating taxable distributions to shareholders of the Fund.

# Financial Products

Each Fund's investments in options, futures contracts, hedging transactions, forward contracts, swaps and certain other transactions may be subject to special tax rules (including mark-to-market, constructive sale, straddle, wash sale, short sale and other rules), the effect of which may be to accelerate income recognized by the Fund, defer Fund losses, cause adjustments in the holding periods of Fund securities, convert capital gain into ordinary income and convert short-term capital losses into long-term capital losses. These rules could therefore affect the amount, timing and character distributions to Fund shareholders.

Some of the Funds' investments, such as certain option transactions and futures transactions in foreign currency contracts that are traded in the interbank market, may be "section 1256 contracts." Gains and losses on section 1256 contracts are generally treated as 60% long-term capital and 40% short-term capital, although certain foreign currency gains and losses from such contracts may be treated as entirely ordinary in character. Section 1256 contracts held by the Fund at the end of a taxable year are "marked to market" for income tax purposes, meaning that unrealized gains or losses are treated as though they were realized (and treated on the 60/40 basis described above).

Certain positions undertaken by the Funds may constitute "straddles" for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The straddle rules may affect the character of gains or losses realized by a Fund. Losses realized by a Fund that are part of a straddle may be deferred beyond the point in time that they are realized. The straddle rules, if applicable, could increase the amount of short-term capital gain realized by a Fund which is taxed as ordinary income when distributed to shareholders. Certain income tax elections that a Fund may make with respect to straddles could affect the character and timing of recognition of gains and losses.

Rules governing the tax aspects of notional principal contracts in which the Funds may invest are not clear in various respects. As a result, the IRS could challenge the Funds' methods of accounting for such contracts for tax purposes, and such a challenge could affect the status of a Fund as a RIC.

The Funds may make short sales of securities. Short sales may increase the amount of short-term capital gains realized by a Fund, which is taxed as ordinary income to the shareholders when distributed. Short sales may also constitute "constructive sales," which would result in taxable income before the short-sale positions are terminated.

Certain of the Funds' hedging activities, including transactions in options, futures contracts and foreign currencies, are likely to result in a difference between a Fund's book income and taxable income. This difference may cause a portion of such Fund's income distributions to constitute a return of capital or capital gain for U.S. Federal income tax purposes or require the Fund to make distributions exceeding book income to avoid excise tax liability and to qualify as a RIC, which may have the effect of accelerating taxable distributions to shareholders.

### Securities Issued or Purchased at a Discount

A Fund may acquire debt obligations that have original issue discount. "Original issue discount" is the excess of a debt obligation's stated redemption price at maturity over the obligation's issue price. A taxpayer that acquires an obligation with original issue discount generally must include the original issue discount in income on a constant yield-to-maturity basis without regard to when, or whether, payments are made on the obligation. Obligations owned by a Fund that have original issue discount may include investment in payment-in-kind securities, and certain other obligations. Obligations with original issue discount owned by a Fund will give rise to income that a Fund must distribute to shareholders who will be taxed on it as ordinary income (unless such dividends qualify as exempt-interest dividends) even though the Fund does not receive an interest payment in cash on the obligation during the year and may never receive such payment. To generate cash to satisfy those distribution requirements, the Fund may have to sell portfolio securities that it otherwise might have continued to hold or to use cash flows from other sources such as the sale of Fund shares.

Some debt obligations that are acquired by a Fund in the secondary market may be treated as having market discount. Market discount is generally the excess of an obligation's stated redemption price at maturity over the basis in the security immediately after acquisition by the taxpayer. Generally, any gain recognized on the receipt of principal payments or on the disposition of a debt security having market discount has been treated as ordinary income to the extent the gain does not exceed the "accrued market discount" on such debt security. Market discount generally accrues in equal daily installments. Each Fund may make certain elections applicable to debt obligations having market discount, which could affect the character and timing of recognition of income for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

### **High-Risk Securities**

A Fund may invest in debt obligations that are in the lowest rating categories or are unrated. Investments in debt obligations that are at risk of or in default present special tax issues for a Fund. The application of the U.S. federal income tax rules with respect to these types of investments is complicated and will depend upon the application of the law to facts that may be unclear, which may result in uncertainty about the U.S. federal income tax treatment of these investments (e.g., such as when a Fund may cease to accrue interest, original issue discount or market discount, when and to what extent deductions may be taken for bad debts, or worthless securities and how payments received on obligations in default should be allocated between principal and income). These and other related issues will be addressed by a Fund if it invests in such securities in order to seek to ensure that the Fund distributes sufficient income to avoid becoming subject to U.S. federal income or excise tax.

### **Backup Withholding**

Each Fund generally is required to withhold and remit to the U.S. Treasury a percentage of the taxable distributions and redemption proceeds paid to any non-corporate shareholder who (i) fails to properly furnish the Fund with a correct taxpayer identification number ("TIN"), (ii) is identified by the IRS as otherwise subject to back-up withholding (iii) fails to timely certify to the Fund that it is a U.S. person not subject to such withholding. The backup withholding tax rate is 24% for tax years beginning before January 1, 2026.

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules from a payment to a shareholder generally may be refunded or credited against the shareholder's federal income tax liability, if any, provided that certain required information is timely furnished to the IRS. If a shareholder fails to furnish a valid TIN upon request, the shareholder can be subject to IRS penalties.

### **Cost Basis Reporting**

A Fund (or its administrative agent) must report to the IRS and furnish to fund shareholders the cost basis information for fund shares purchased on or after January 1, 2012, and subsequently redeemed, exchanged or otherwise sold and whether these shares had a short-term or long-term holding period. Each Fund is required to report the gross proceeds from the sale of all Fund shares (regardless of when such shares were purchased).

The Funds will allow shareholders to elect from among several IRS-accepted cost basis methods to calculate the cost basis of their covered shares. In the absence of such an election a Fund will use its default cost basis method. The cost basis method elected or applied may not be changed after the settlement date of a sale of Fund shares. Once a Fund shareholder has elected a cost basis reporting method, the election will apply to all future transactions unless the shareholder revokes or changes the standing election. Fund shareholders should consult with their tax advisers concerning the most desirable IRS-accepted cost basis method for their tax situation.

#### Medicare Surtax on Net Investment Income

A Medicare surtax of 3.8% applies to net investment income of an individual taxpayer and on the undistributed net investment income of certain estates and trusts, in each case to the extent that such taxpayer's gross income, as adjusted, exceeds a certain amount. Net investment income includes interest, dividends, royalties, rents, gross income from a trade or business involving passive activities, and net gain from disposition of property (other than certain property held in a non-passive trade or business). Net investment income also includes ordinary income and capital gain distributions received by a Fund shareholder from a Fund, as well as the shareholder's net gains from redemptions or other taxable dispositions of Fund shares. Net investment income is reduced by deductions properly allocable to such income.

### **Shares Held Through Foreign Accounts**

Under the Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (or "FATCA"), special withholding rules apply when U.S. persons hold investments in the Funds through foreign financial institutions ("FFIs") or non-financial foreign entities ("NFFEs"). Under FATCA, FFIs or NFFEs that own shares of the Funds on behalf of U.S. persons may be subject to a 30% withholding tax on certain distributions paid by the Funds. The FATCA withholding tax generally may be avoided: (a) by an FFI, if it reports certain direct and indirect ownership of foreign financial accounts held by U.S. persons with the FFI and satisfies certain withholding requirements, and (b) by an NFFE, if it: (i) certifies that is has no substantial U.S. persons as owners or (ii) if it does have such owners, reports information relating to them to the withholding agent (which may be the Fund). The U.S. Treasury has negotiated intergovernmental agreements (each, an "IGA") with certain countries and is in various stages of negotiations with other foreign countries with respect to one or more alternative approaches to implement FATCA. An entity in one of those countries may be required to comply with the terms of an IGA and applicable local law instead of U.S. Treasury regulations.

An FFI can avoid FATCA withholding by becoming a "participating FFI," which requires the FFI to enter into a tax compliance agreement with the IRS under section 1471(b) of the Code under which it agrees to verify, report and disclose certain of its U.S. accountholders and provided that such entity meets certain other specified requirements. The FFI will report to the IRS, or, depending on the FFI's country of residence, to the government of that country (pursuant to the terms and conditions of an applicable IGA and applicable law), which will, in turn, report to the IRS. An FFI that is resident in a country that has entered into an IGA with the U.S. to implement FATCA will be exempt from FATCA withholding provided that the FFI shareholder and the applicable foreign government comply with the terms of such agreement.

An NFFE that is the beneficial owner of a payment from a Fund can avoid FATCA withholding generally by certifying that it does not have any substantial U.S. owners or by providing the name, address and taxpayer identification number of each substantial U.S. owner. The NFFE will report to the Fund or other applicable withholding agent, which will, in turn, report information to the IRS.

Such FFIs or NFFEs also may fall into certain exempt, excepted or deemed compliant categories as established by U.S. Treasury regulations, IGAs, and other guidance regarding FATCA. An FFI or NFFE that invests in a Fund will need to provide the Fund with documentation properly certifying the entity's status under FATCA in order to avoid FATCA withholding. The requirements imposed by FATCA are different from, and in addition to, the U.S. certification rules to avoid backup withholding described above.

### Other Tax Matters

Special tax rules not described in this discussion apply to investments through defined contribution plans, other tax-qualified plans as well as investments by other types of tax-exempt entities and investments by tax-exempt entities. Shareholders should consult their tax adviser to determine the suitability of shares of a Fund as an investment through such plans and entities and the precise effect of an investment on their particular tax situation.

The foregoing discussion relates solely to U.S. federal income tax law. Dividends and distributions also may be subject to state and local taxes. Shareholders are urged to consult their tax advisers regarding specific questions as to U.S. federal, state, local and, where applicable, foreign taxes. Foreign investors should consult their tax advisers concerning the U.S. federal tax consequences of ownership of shares of a Fund, including the certification and filing requirements imposed on foreign investors in order to qualify for exemption from the backup withholding tax (or to qualify for a reduced rate of withholding provided by a treaty).

The foregoing is a general and abbreviated summary of the applicable provisions of the Code and related regulations currently in effect. For the complete provisions, reference should be made to the pertinent Code sections and regulations. The Code and regulations are subject to change by legislative or administrative actions.

### DESCRIPTION OF THE TRUST

The Trust was organized as a Delaware business trust on November 30, 1993 and consists of multiple separate portfolios or series. The Board may establish additional series in the future. The capitalization of the Trust consists solely of an unlimited number of shares of beneficial interest with no par value. The Trust consists of multiple separate portfolios or funds. When certain matters affect one fund but not another, the shareholders would vote as a fund regarding such matters. Subject to the foregoing, on any matter submitted to a vote of shareholders, all shares then entitled to vote will be voted separately by the fund unless otherwise required by the 1940 Act, in which case all shares will be voted in the aggregate. For example, a change in a fund's fundamental investment policies would be voted upon only by shareholders of the fund. Additionally, approval of the Investment Advisory Contract and Management Contracts are matters to be determined separately by the fund.

Approval by the shareholders of one fund is effective as to that fund whether or not sufficient votes are received from the shareholders of the other fund to approve the proposal as to that fund. The term "majority," when referring to approvals to be obtained from shareholders of a fund means the vote of the lesser of (i) 67% of the shares of the fund or class represented at a meeting if the holder of more than 50% of the outstanding shares of the fund or class are present in person or by proxy, or (ii) more than 50% of the outstanding shares of the Trust as a whole means the vote of the lesser of (i) 67% of the Trust's shares represented at a meeting if the holders of more than 50% of the Trust's outstanding shares are present in person or proxy, or (ii) more than 50% of the Trust's outstanding shares. Shareholders are entitled to one vote for each full share held and fractional votes for fractional shares held.

The Trust is not required to hold regular annual meetings of a fund's shareholders and does not intend to do so. However, the Trust undertakes to hold a special meeting of its shareholders if the purpose of voting on the question of removal of a director or trustees is requested in writing by the holders of at least 10% of the Trust's outstanding voting securities, and to assist in communicating with other shareholders as required by Section 16(c) of the 1940 Act. The Trust Instrument provides that the holders of not less than two-thirds of the outstanding shares of the Trust may remove a person serving as Trustee either by declaration in writing or at a meeting called for such purpose.

Each share of a Fund represents an equal proportional interest in the Fund with each other share and is entitled to such dividends and distributions out of the income earned on the assets belonging to the Fund as are declared in the discretion of the Trustees. In the event of the liquidation or dissolution of the Trust, shareholders of the Fund are entitled to receive the assets attributable to the Fund that are available for distribution, and a distribution of any general assets of the Trust not attributable to the Fund that are available for distribution in such manner and on such basis as the Trustees in their sole discretion may determine.

Shareholders are not entitled to any preemptive rights. All shares, when issued, will be fully paid and non-assessable by the Trust.

Under Delaware law, shareholders could, under certain circumstances, be held personally liable for the obligations of a series of the Trust but only to the extent of the shareholder's investment in such series. However, the Trust Instrument disclaims liability of the shareholders, Trustees or Officers of the Trust for acts or obligations of the Trust, which are binding only on the assets and property of each series of the Trust and requires that notice of the disclaimer be given in each contract or obligations entered into or executed by the Trust or the Trustees. The risk of a shareholder incurring financial loss on account of shareholder liability is limited to circumstances in which the Trust itself would be unable to meet its obligations and should be considered remote and is limited to the amount of the shareholder's investment in the Fund.

### OTHER INFORMATION ABOUT THE FUNDS

Custodian. Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. (the "Custodian"), located at 40 Water Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02109, serves as the custodian for the Funds. As such, the Custodian holds in safekeeping certificated securities and cash belonging to each Fund and, in such capacity, is the registered owner of securities in book-entry form belonging to a Fund. Upon instruction, the Custodian receives and delivers cash and securities of a Fund in connection with Fund transactions and collects all dividends and other distributions made with respect to Fund portfolio securities. The Custodian also maintains certain accounts and records of the Funds.

Transfer Agent. ALPS, located at 1290 Broadway, Suite 1000, Denver, CO, 80203, pursuant to a Transfer Agency and Service Agreement, serves as transfer agent for the Funds. As Transfer Agent, ALPS has, among other things, agreed to (i) issue and redeem shares of each Fund; (ii) make dividend and other distributions to shareholders of the Funds; (iii) effect transfers of shares; (iv) mail communications to shareholders of the Funds, including account statements, confirmations, and dividend and distribution notices; (v) facilitate the electronic delivery of shareholder statements and reports and (vi) maintain shareholder accounts. Under the Transfer Agency and Service Agreement, ALPS receives from the Trust an annual minimum fee and a fee based upon the number of shareholder accounts and is also reimbursed for out-of-pocket expenses. As described above, ALPS is an affiliate of ADI.

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. Cohen & Company, Ltd. ("Cohen") serves as the Trust's Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. Cohen is located at 1350 Euclid Avenue, Suite 800, Cleveland, Ohio 44115.

Counsel. Davis Graham & Stubbs LLP serves as counsel to the Funds and is located at 1550 17th Street, Suite 500, Denver, Colorado 80202.

### PERFORMANCE INFORMATION

Yield and Total Return. The Funds may from time to time include the yield and/or total return of its shares in advertisements or information in advertisements or information furnished to present or prospective shareholders.

Each Fund's yield will vary from time to time depending upon market conditions, the composition of its portfolios and operating expenses of the Trust allocated to each Fund. These factors, possible differences in the methods used in calculating yield, and the tax-exempt status of distributions, should be considered when comparing each Fund's yield to yields published for other investment companies and other investment vehicles. Yield should also be considered relative to changes in the value of each Fund's shares and to the relative risks associated with the investment objectives and policies of the Fund.

At any time in the future, yields and total return may be higher or lower than past yields and there can be no assurance that any historical results will continue.

Investors in each Fund are specifically advised that share prices, expressed as the net asset value per share, will vary just as yield will vary. An investor's focus on the yield of a Fund to the exclusion of the consideration of the share price of that Fund may result in the investor's misunderstanding the total return he or she may derive from the Fund.

## FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements and financial highlights in the April 30, 2024 Annual Report (the "Annual Report") of each Fund are incorporated in this SAI by reference. The information presented for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2024 has been audited by Cohen, the Funds' Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, whose reports, along with the Funds' financial statements, are included in the Funds' annual report, which is available by calling 1-855-732-9220. The information for the fiscal years ended April 30, 2020 through April 30, 2023 was audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

## APPENDIX A

Standard & Poor's Ratings Group—A brief description of the applicable Standard & Poor's ("S&P") rating symbols and their meanings (as published by S&P) follows:

### **Long-Term Issue Credit Ratings**

AAA An obligation rated 'AAA' has the highest rating assigned by S&P. The obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation is extremely strong.

AA An obligation rated 'AA' differs from the highest rated obligations only to a small degree. The obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation is very strong.

A An obligation rated 'A' is somewhat more susceptible to the adverse effects of changes in circumstances and economic conditions than obligations in higher rated categories. However, the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation is still strong.

BBB An obligation rated 'BBB' exhibits adequate protection parameters. However, adverse economic conditions or changing circumstances are more likely to lead to a weakened capacity of the obligor to meet its financial commitment on the obligation.

Obligations rated 'BB', 'B', 'CCC', 'CC' and 'C' are regarded as having significant speculative characteristics. 'BB' indicates the least degree of speculation and 'C' the highest. While such obligations will likely have some quality and protective characteristics, these may be outweighed by large uncertainties or major exposures to adverse conditions.

BB An obligation rated 'BB' is less vulnerable to nonpayment than other speculative issues. However, it faces major ongoing uncertainties or exposure to adverse business, financial, or economic conditions which could lead to the obligor's inadequate capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation.

B An obligation rated 'B' is more vulnerable to nonpayment than obligations rated 'BB', but the obligor currently has the capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation. Adverse business, financial, or economic conditions will likely impair the obligor's capacity or willingness to meet its financial commitment on the obligation.

CCC An obligation rated 'CCC' is currently vulnerable to nonpayment, and is dependent upon favorable business, financial, and economic conditions for the obligor to meet its financial commitment on the obligation. In the event of adverse business, financial, or economic conditions, the obligor is not likely to have the capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation.

CC An obligation rated 'CC' is currently highly vulnerable to nonpayment.

C A 'C' rating is assigned to obligations that are currently highly vulnerable to nonpayment, obligations that have payment arrearages allowed by the terms of the documents, or obligations of an issuer that is the subject of a bankruptcy petition or similar action which have not experienced a payment default. Among others, the 'C' rating may be assigned to subordinated debt, preferred stock or other obligations on which cash payments have been suspended in accordance with the instrument's terms or when preferred stock is the subject of a distressed exchange offer, whereby some or all of the issue is either repurchased for an amount of cash or replaced by other instruments having a total value that is less than par.

D An obligation rated 'D' is in payment default. The 'D' rating category is used when payments on an obligation, including a regulatory capital instrument, are not made on the date due even if the applicable grace period has not expired, unless S&P believes that such payments will be made during such grace period. The 'D' rating also will be used upon the filing of a bankruptcy petition or the taking of similar action if payments on an obligation are jeopardized. An obligation's rating is lowered to 'D' upon completion of a distressed exchange offer, whereby some or all of the issue is either repurchased for an amount of cash or replaced by other instruments having a total value that is less than par.

Plus (+) or Minus (-): The ratings from 'AA' to 'CCC' may be modified by the addition of a plus or minus sign to show relative standing within the major rating categories.

NR This indicates that no rating has been requested, that there is insufficient information on which to base a rating, or that S&P does not rate a particular obligation as a matter of policy.

### **Short-Term Issue Credit Ratings**

- A-1 A short-term obligation rated 'A-1' is rated in the highest category by S&P. The obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation is strong. Within this category, certain obligations are designated with a plus sign (+). This indicates that the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitment on these obligations is extremely strong.
- A-2 A short-term obligation rated 'A-2' is somewhat more susceptible to the adverse effects of changes in circumstances and economic conditions than obligations in higher rating categories. However, the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation is satisfactory.
- A-3 A short-term obligation rated 'A-3' exhibits adequate protection parameters. However, adverse economic conditions or changing circumstances are more likely to lead to a weakened capacity of the obligor to meet its financial commitment on the obligation.
- B A short-term obligation rated 'B' is regarded as having significant speculative characteristics. Ratings of 'B-1', 'B-2', and 'B-3' may be assigned to indicate finer distinctions within the 'B' category. The obligor currently has the capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation; however, it faces major ongoing uncertainties which could lead to the obligor's inadequate capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation.
- B-1 A short-term obligation rated 'B-1' is regarded as having significant speculative characteristics, but the obligor has a relatively stronger capacity to meet its financial commitments over the short-term compared to other speculative-grade obligors.
- B-2 A short-term obligation rated 'B-2' is regarded as having significant speculative characteristics, and the obligor has an average speculative-grade capacity to meet its financial commitments over the short-term compared to other speculative-grade obligors.
- B-3 A short-term obligation rated 'B-3' is regarded as having significant speculative characteristics, and the obligor has a relatively weaker capacity to meet its financial commitments over the short-term compared to other speculative-grade obligors.
- C A short-term obligation rated 'C' is currently vulnerable to nonpayment and is dependent upon favorable business, financial, and economic conditions for the obligor to meet its financial commitment on the obligation.
- D A short-term obligation rated 'D' is in payment default. The 'D' rating category is used when payments on an obligation including a regulatory capital instrument, are not made on the date due even if the applicable grace period has not expired, unless S&P believes that such payments will be made during such grace period. The 'D' rating also will be used upon the filing of a bankruptcy petition or the taking of a similar action if payments on an obligation are jeopardized.

Moody's Investors Service, Inc.—A brief description of the applicable Moody's Investors Service, Inc. ("Moody's") rating symbols and their meanings (as published by Moody's) follows:

# **Long-Term Obligation Ratings**

Aaa Obligations rated Aaa are judged to be of the highest quality, with minimal credit risk.

Aa Obligations rated Aa are judged to be of high quality and are subject to very low credit risk.

A Obligations rated A are considered upper-medium grade and are subject to low credit risk.

Baa Obligations rated Baa are subject to moderate credit risk. They are considered medium-grade and as such may possess certain speculative characteristics.

Ba Obligations rated Ba are judged to have speculative elements and are subject to substantial credit risk.

B Obligations rated B are considered speculative and are subject to high credit risk.

Caa Obligations rated Caa are judged to be of poor standing and are subject to very high credit risk.

Ca Obligations rated Ca are highly speculative and are likely in, or very near, default, with some prospect of recovery of principal and interest.

C Obligations rated C are the lowest rated class and are typically in default, with little prospect for recovery of principal or interest.

Note: Moody's appends numerical modifiers 1, 2, and 3 to each generic rating classification from Aa through Caa. The modifier 1 indicates that the obligation ranks in the higher end of its generic rating category; the modifier 2 indicates a mid-range ranking; and the modifier 3 indicates a ranking in the lower end of that generic rating category.

### **Short-Term Obligation Ratings**

- P-1 Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Prime-1 have a superior ability to repay short-term debt obligations.
- P-2 Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Prime-2 have a strong ability to repay short-term debt obligations.
- P-3 Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Prime-3 have an acceptable ability to repay short-term obligations.
- NP Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Not Prime do not fall within any of the Prime rating categories.

Note: Canadian issuers rated P-1 or P-2 have their short-term ratings enhanced by the senior-most long-term rating of the issuer, its guarantor or support-provider.

## APPENDIX B

### PROXY VOTING

SEAFARER CAPITAL PARTNERS, LLC Adopted November 9th, 2011 Updated December 23, 2019 Updated May 14, 2021

Under Rule 206(4)-6 of the Advisers Act (the "Rule"), it is a fraudulent, deceptive or manipulative course of business for an investment adviser to exercise voting authority with respect to client securities, unless it has adopted and implemented written policies and procedures that are reasonably designed to ensure that it votes proxies in the best interests of its clients. Under the Rule, an investment adviser must also (a) describe its proxy voting policies to clients, (b) provide its proxy voting policies to clients upon request, and (c) disclose to clients how they may obtain information on how it voted their proxies. Seafarer Capital Partners, LLC ("Seafarer" or the "Firm") has adopted the following Proxy Voting Policies and Procedures (the "Proxy Policies") and utilizes a third-party proxy voting service to assist it in analyzing and voting proxies. Capitalized terms not defined herein are defined in Chapter 1 (Overview of Compliance Program) or Chapter 2 (Code of Ethics) of this Compliance Manual.

## A. PURPOSE

Seafarer acts as a discretionary investment adviser for clients who may choose to delegate or retain the authority to vote proxies for accounts. If a client wishes to delegate such authority to Seafarer, it must specify so within the respective investment advisory agreement.

For clients who delegate the authority to vote client securities to the Firm, Seafarer has adopted written Proxy Voting Policies and Procedures (the "Proxy Policies") pursuant to Advisers Act Rule 206(4)-6 to assist in exercising clients' voting rights and evaluating proxy proposals, and to ensure that the Firm is voting client securities in a client's best interests.

The purpose of these Proxy Voting Policies and Procedures is to memorialize how Seafarer meets its fiduciary obligations in voting its clients' proxies and complies with the requirements of Rule 206(4)-6 under the Advisers Act.

### B. POLICY

Seafarer will comply with the requirements of Rule 204(4)-6 and Rule 204-2(c)(2) under the Advisers Act. The Firm will vote client securities for which it exercises voting authority in a manner consistent with the best interests of the client, on a best efforts basis and subject to the limitations and considerations described in this policy.

### C. PROCEDURES AND GUIDELINES

The Firm has established a Proxy Committee of employees with responsibility for formulating, implementing and overseeing this Proxy Voting Policy. The Proxy Committee charter sets forth the operating procedures and responsibilities of the Proxy Committee. A copy of this charter is attached hereto as Exhibit A.

In order to facilitate the proxy voting process, Seafarer may engage an independent proxy voting service provider (the "Proxy Administrator"). This service provider will receive proxies; provide vote recommendations on each resolution; and process, execute and record proxy votes on Seafarer's behalf.

The Firm's Proxy Administrator has established voting policies based upon a set of global voting principles, which underlie its approach to developing benchmark recommendations on management and shareholder proposals at publicly traded companies globally. The Proxy Committee has adopted the proxy voting guidelines of the Firm's Proxy Administrator, which are incorporated herein by reference (i.e., Seafarer has instructed its Proxy Administrator to vote proxies in accordance with the Proxy Administrator's recommendations). However, the Proxy Administrator's guidelines function as a set of standing instructions which can be overridden as per the Firm's governance philosophy set out below in Section D, always bearing in mind the Firm's fiduciary duty to always act in the client's best interest.

The Proxy Committee will review the Proxy Administrator's guidelines from time to time to assure they are consistent with Seafarer's governance philosophy and that votes continue to be cast in the best interests of Seafarer's clients.

## D. GOVERNANCE PHILOSOPHY

The following outlines general philosophical beliefs related to proxy voting. Note that there may be cause to deviate from this philosophy due to specific facts and circumstances. This is only a partial list and should not be used as a set of rigid rules. The governance philosophy below is subject to modification in certain circumstances and will be reexamined from time to time. In all circumstances, even those that are seemingly routine, Seafarer reserves the right to evaluate each proxy proposal in light of the best interests of its clients, and to vote other than as indicated by the Proxy Administrator's guidelines, if the Firm believes, in good faith, that doing so will most enhance shareholder value.

# i. Management Proposals

The majority of votes presented to shareholders are proposals made by management, which have been approved and recommended by its board of directors. For routine matters (which generally means that such matters will not measurably change the structure, management, control or operations of the company and are consistent with customary industry standards and practices, as well as the laws of the jurisdiction of incorporation applicable to the company), Seafarer will vote in accordance with the recommendation of the company's management or the Proxy Administrator's voting guidelines on such matters, unless, in the Firm's opinion, such recommendation is not in the best interests of the Firm's clients.

Generally, in the absence of any unusual or non-routine information, the following items are likely to be supported:

- Ratification of appointment of independent auditors;
- General updating/corrective amendments to charter;
- Increase in common share authorization for a stock split or share dividend;
- Stock option plans that are incentive based and not excessive; and
- Election of directors and payment of fees (unless such fees exceed market standards).

Non-routine matters may involve a variety of issues. The following items may require case-by-case review and analysis when submitted by management to a shareholder vote:

- Directors' liability and indemnity proposals;
- Executive compensation plans;

- Mergers, acquisitions, and other restructurings;
- Anti-takeover and related provisions; and
- Shareholder proposals.
- ii. Shareholder Proposals

Shareholder proposals are exceedingly infrequent within the history of emerging markets. In general, Seafarer will vote such proposals according to its Proxy Policy. However, as such proposals often constitute exceptional circumstances that are not well addressed by the Policy, Seafarer reserves the right to review each proposal and vote it in a manner according to the best interests of the client, as deemed by the client's portfolio manager(s) in good faith, on a best effort basis, and subject to limitations and considerations, as described in this policy.

Seafarer will vote on proxy matters in accordance with a client's specific request even if that vote would be inconsistent with this philosophy or the adopted guidelines, or its vote on behalf of other clients. Clients must make such requests in writing and submit them in a timely matter.

iii. Abstaining from Voting, Affirmatively Not Voting, and Failing to Vote Due to Constraints

Seafarer will take all measures necessary and appropriate to vote all proxies on a "best efforts" basis – that is, it undertakes reasonable efforts to secure proxies and vote them in the best interests of its clients and according to its guidelines. However, if proxy materials are not available on a timely basis, or if they require additional processing, the Firm may not be in a position to vote within the allotted proxy schedule. Also, the Firm may abstain from voting (which generally requires submission of the proxy voting card) or decide not to vote if the Firm determines that abstaining or not voting is in the best interests of the applicable client account.

Certain factors may be considered in determining whether the Firm is in a position to vote or if abstaining or not voting is in the best interests of clients.

In some cases, refraining from voting on a matter submitted to shareholders may be, in Seafarer's view, in the best interests of the Firm's clients. For example, the cost of voting the proxy may exceed the expected benefit to the client (e.g., due to travel or translation costs). Similarly, voting on shareholder matters in foreign countries, particularly in emerging markets, may be subject to restrictions (including registration procedures that result in a holding becoming illiquid for a period of time) and limitations that impede or make the exercise of shareholder rights impractical. Factors that may limit Seafarer's ability to vote include, but are not limited to:

- Untimely or inadequate notice of shareholder meetings;
- Restrictions on the ability of holders outside the issuer's jurisdiction of organization to exercise votes;
- In-person voting requirements;
- Restrictions on the sale of securities for periods surrounding the shareholder meeting (i.e. "share blocking");

- Inability to grant local agents powers of attorney to facilitate voting instructions;
- Proxy materials or ballots not being readily available; and
- Proxy materials or ballots not being available in English.

### iv. Securities Lending

A client account for which Seafarer has proxy voting authority may participate in a securities lending program administered by Seafarer or a third-party. Title to a loaned security, and thus the ability to cast proxy votes, passes to the borrower, unless recalled sufficiently in advance of the proxy record date. Seafarer will follow, on a best efforts basis, a written instruction from a client to recall a security to vote a given proxy. Otherwise, Seafarer generally does not recall loaned securities for the purpose of proxy voting; however, Seafarer reserves the right to do so if it is deemed in the interest of the client account, under the sole discretion of the client account's appointed portfolio manager(s).

### v. Conflicts of Interest

For the purpose of this Policy, a conflict of interest is a relationship or activity engaged in by Seafarer or a Seafarer Supervised Person (including their Household Members), that creates an incentive (or the appearance of an incentive) to favor Seafarer's interests, or the Supervised Persons' interests, rather than the clients' interest. Seafarer may have a conflict of interest if it has a significant business relationship with a company that is soliciting a proxy, or if a Seafarer Supervised Person who is involved in the proxy voting decision-making process has a significant personal or family relationship with the particular company.

A conflict of interest will be considered "material" to the extent that a reasonable person could expect the conflict to influence Seafarer's decision on a particular proxy vote.

Due to the nature of Seafarer's ownership and business (Seafarer has no affiliates and its client accounts invest primarily in securities issued by foreign companies), it is unlikely that conflicts of interest will arise in voting proxies of public companies. Nevertheless, the Proxy Committee will seek to guard the independence of the proxy voting function from conflicts of interest that might exist between the Adviser's business interests and its fiduciary obligation to vote proxies in the best interest of clients. In addition, the CCO will request disclosure of any potential conflicts of interest for its Supervised Persons (such as a personal or business relationship with an issuer held in the Firm's client portfolios) and maintain records in accordance with this policy and related regulations.

Seafarer seeks to avoid the occurrence or appearance of material conflicts of interest. However, if a potential conflict of interest does arise, the CCO will review these votes in advance to make sure that the Firm's proposed votes are consistent with the Firm's governance philosophy, as set out above in Section D, and not prompted by any conflict of interest. If a conflict is evident, the CCO will escalate the matter to the Proxy Committee as well as notify the affected clients, seek their direction, and vote accordingly. If such clients are not able to provide direction, the CCO will take other action as may be appropriate in the particular circumstances and document such actions accordingly.

### E. RECORDKEEPING

In accordance with Rule 204-2(c)(2) under the Advisers Act, the CCO will maintain for the time periods set forth in such Rule the following: (i) these proxy voting procedures and policies, and all amendments thereto; (ii) all proxy statements received regarding client securities (unless a copy thereof is maintained by the Firm's Proxy Administrator on Seafarer's behalf or is available on the SEC's EDGAR system); (iii) a record of all votes cast on behalf of clients unless such record is maintained by the Firm's Proxy Administrator on Seafarer's behalf; (iv) records of all client requests for proxy voting information; (v) any documents prepared by Seafarer that were material to making a decision how to vote or that memorialized the basis for the decision; and (vi) all records relating to requests made by clients regarding conflicts of interest in voting the proxy.

Seafarer will describe in its Part 2A of Form ADV (or other brochure fulfilling the requirement of Rule 204-3) its proxy voting policies and procedures and advise clients how they may obtain information about how their securities were voted or a copy of Seafarer's Proxy Voting Policies and Procedures free of charge by written request addressed to the CCO.

#### Exhibit A

# Proxy Committee Charter [updated May 14, 2021]

### **Purpose of Committee**

The Proxy Committee (the "Committee") of Seafarer Capital Partners (the "Adviser" or the "Firm") will oversee the Firm's compliance with the responsibilities and requirements of Rule 206(4)-6 under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 with regards to proxy voting.

#### **Committee Membership**

The Committee shall consist of no less than two members. The Committee is appointed by the CIO (Chief Investment Officer) who may consult the CCO (Chief Compliance Officer). Members can be appointed, replaced or new members can be added at any time. One member of the Committee shall be appointed by the CIO as the Committee's Chairperson. Based on availability of resources, an effort will be made to include adequate representation from the Operations team as well as the Investment team of the Adviser.

#### Authority

The Committee's Chairperson reports to the CIO as necessary and operates under the oversight of the CCO with respect to all external reporting obligations (e.g., Form N-PX).

## Meetings

The Committee meets at least four times a year or when necessary, at the call of the Committee Chairperson.

### **Committee Duties and Responsibilities**

The Committee's primary duties and responsibilities are:

- 1. <u>Formulation of proxy voting policies and procedures.</u> The Committee will be responsible for the adoption and implementation of written policies and procedures to ensure that the Adviser votes proxies in the best interests of its clients.
- 2. <u>Mitigation of conflicts of interest.</u> The Committee will guard the independence of the proxy voting function from conflicts of interest that might exist between the Adviser's business interests and its fiduciary obligation to vote proxies in the best interest of clients.
- 3. Appointment and management of proxy voting service provider(s). The Committee will identify, review and recommend to the CIO the appointment of a proxy voting service provider(s) (i.e., a Proxy Administrator), unless the Adviser's clients have directly appointed such vendors. The Committee will also conduct a periodic diligence review of the existing service provider(s) evaluating, among other items, the vendor's a) services offered, b) organizational background, c) internal controls, d) compliance and code of ethics, e) privacy policies, f) information security, and g) disaster recovery and business continuity.

- 4. <u>Maintenance of a consistent and reliable voting process.</u> The Committee will oversee the voting process and the instructions provided to the proxy service provider to ensure a consistent and reliable voting process.
- 5. Compliance with regulatory and reporting requirements. The Committee will oversee the regulatory reporting process for proxy voting.
- 6. <u>Document retention.</u> The Committee will decide on the frequency and technical procedures of document retention for the voting policy and oversee the maintenance of proxy voting records in a manner consistent with the firm's record retention policies.
- 7. Securities Lending. The Committee will periodically review the implementation of the proxy voting policies and procedures as they relate to securities lending programs.